

Elaboration d'un système de maintenance prédictive basé sur l'analyse des données de production et l'expertise humaine: application à un procédé d'extrusion soufflage.

Vincent Ciancio

▶ To cite this version:

Vincent Ciancio. Elaboration d'un système de maintenance prédictive basé sur l'analyse des données de production et l'expertise humaine : application à un procédé d'extrusion soufflage.. Génie mécanique [physics.class-ph]. HESAM Université, 2023. Français. NNT : 2023HESAE042 . tel-04441863

HAL Id: tel-04441863 https://pastel.hal.science/tel-04441863v1

Submitted on 6 Feb 2024

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



Tury



ÉCOLE DOCTORALE SCIENCES DES MÉTIERS DE L'INGÉNIEUR Laboratoire de Conception, Fabrication et Commande (LCFC) – Campus de Metz

THÈSE

présentée par : Vincent CIANCIO

soutenue le : 06 Juin 2023

pour obtenir le grade de : Docteur d'HESAM Université

préparée à : École Nationale Supérieure d'Arts et Métiers

Spécialité : Génie industriel

Elaboration d'un système de maintenance prédictive basé sur l'analyse des données et l'expertise humaine : application à un procédé d'extrusion soufflage

THÈSE dirigée par : **Pr. Ali SIADAT**

et co-encadrée par : MCf. Lazhar HOMRI et Pr. Jean-Yves DANTAN

Encadrement industriel : M. Philippe CONVAIN

July				
Mme. Hind Bril El-Haouzi	Professeure	CRAN, Université de Lorraine	Présidente	
Mme. Zohra Cherfi-Boulanger	Professeure	Laboratoire Roberval, UTC	Rapportrice	Т
M. Armand Baboli	Maître de conférences	LIRIS, INSA Lyon	Rapporteur	н
M. Michel Tollenaere	Professeur	G-SCOP, Grenoble INP	Examinateur	<u>`</u>
M. Abdelaziz Berrado	Professeur	AMIPS, Ecole Mohammadia d'Ingénieurs	Examinateur	E
M. Jean-Yves Dantan	Professeur	LCFC, Arts et Métiers	Examinateur	S
M. Lazhar Homri	Maître de conférences	LCFC, Arts et Métiers	Examinateur	Ε
M. Ali Siadat	Professeur	LCFC, Arts et Métiers	Examinateur	
M. Philippe Convain	Manufacturing	Plastic Omnium	Invité	

Remerciements

Je souhaitais débuter ce manuscrit de thèse en adressant mes remerciements aux différentes personnes qui ont pu me soutenir tout au long de ce travail de plus de trois années.

Tout d'abord, je remercie le jury d'avoir accepté d'étudier mon sujet de thèse, ainsi que pour leur travail. Merci aux rapporteurs pour leur analyse détaillée de mon manuscrit, et pour leur retour bienveillant quant à mes travaux et leurs perspectives. Enfin, je vous remercie pour le suivi de ma soutenance, ainsi que pour les questions et les échanges passionnants à la suite de ma présentation.

Je tiens à remercier chaleureusement mes encadrants de thèse, Ali Siadat, Lazhar Homri et Jean-Yves Dantan, pour leurs conseils avisés et leur soutien lors des moments de doutes. L'aboutissement de ces travaux de recherche n'aurait pu être possible sans votre implication et votre suivi, même dans ce contexte de crise sanitaire qui a beaucoup affecté le déroulement de la thèse.

Puisque cette thèse CIFRE est ancrée à la fois dans le monde académique et industriel, je souhaite remercier Plastic Omnium, en particulier la division Clean Energy Systems pour sa confiance et pour m'avoir tant donné, et pour me permettre de continuer ces activités après la thèse. En particulier, je voudrais exprimer ma gratitude envers Afshin Zolfaghari et Ali Siadat, qui m'ont permis de créer ce sujet de thèse entre Arts et Métiers et Plastic Omnium, à la suite de mon Master's thesis effectué au sein l'équipe Digital Manufacturing.

Je souhaite aussi vivement remercier Philippe Convain, directeur de l'équipe Digital Manufacturing et encadrant industriel de cette thèse, pour son engagement sans faille, ses conseils et ses idées, et pour m'avoir poussé à aller toujours plus loin. Merci de m'avoir soutenu et pour la confiance accordée malgré les moments difficiles et le retard accumulé en fin de thèse. Tu es et resteras un modèle pour moi, tant sur le plan professionnel et managérial, que pour tes qualités humaines, ta bienveillance et ton intérêt sincère pour tous les sujets (professionnels ou personnels).

Un grand merci à toutes les personnes avec qui j'ai eu la chance de travailler chez Plastic Omnium, et avec qui je vais pouvoir continuer d'évoluer. Merci à mes collègues de l'équipe Digital Manufacturing, Filippo, William, Franck, Stéphane, Christophe, Intisar pour votre support et vos contributions à mes travaux. Filippo, nous sommes venus tous les deux à bout de la thèse CIFRE, merci pour tous les moments passés ensemble, je pense qu'au-delà du travail, nous avons pu tisser des liens d'amitié qui dureront je l'espère. Merci aussi à toutes les autres personnes qui m'ont permis d'évoluer et d'apprendre énormément, Kévin, Christophe, Elise, Gérald, Adil, Pierre, Wala, Frédéric, Philippe, Stéphane, Wajdi, et bien sûr celles et ceux que j'aurais pu oublier. Je tenais aussi à remercier tous les interlocuteurs travaillant au sein des usines de production, qui m'ont permis de valider mes travaux, mais aussi de découvrir d'autres horizons.

J'ai une pensée particulière pour les doctorants du LCFC, que j'ai pu rencontrer au cours de ces années de thèse, bien que mes déplacements à Metz fussent limités. Merci pour vos conseils, vos encouragements, et félicitations aussi à tous pour votre réussite.

Je voudrais remercier mes amis, sans qui je n'aurais pu finaliser cette aventure. Merci à toi Bhimal pour ton soutien, et le partage de ton expérience de doctorant CIFRE, merci de m'avoir continuellement tiré vers le haut. Merci à Thomas pour ton amitié sans failles. Merci à mes amis de Compiègne, mes amis Gadz'Arts, ma fam's, ma boquette, mes amis de prépa, mes amis d'enfance. J'ai la chance d'avoir pu être bien entouré, et je vous dédie aussi ma réussite.

Merci à ma famille pour leur soutien, et sans qui tout cela n'aurait pas été possible. En particulier, je souhaite exprimer toute ma gratitude et mon amour envers mes parents et ma sœur, votre foi en moi et en ma réussite a été une source d'énergie inépuisable pour arriver au bout de ces travaux. Je ne pourrai jamais vous remercier suffisamment pour tout ce que vous m'avez apporté.

Enfin, Maryne, tu es entrée dans ma vie dans les moments les plus difficiles de cette thèse, et tu m'as apporté beaucoup de forces. Merci pour ton soutien indéfectible et pour avoir cru en moi de manière inconditionnelle. C'est grâce à toi si j'ai pu conclure ces travaux de la meilleure des manières et je ne t'en remercierai jamais assez.

Development of a predictive maintenance system based on data analysis and expert knowledge:

application to a blow-molding process

Abstract

Maintenance activities have evolved over the recent years, through the digitalization of the field and the application of tools and concepts from Industry 4.0. By connecting and communicating with the production system, companies are now able to create knowledge about its current and future health state, allowing more and more efficient control over the equipment. This approach is called Predictive Maintenance (PdM), and its goal is to reduce unplanned downtimes and organize efficiently maintenance actions before failures and stoppages appear. However, to reach such performance, it is still quite challenging for the industrial actor to implement an Intelligent Maintenance System (IMS) that will help with the data management. Many requirements and limitations from the industrial context add complexity to this system. It needs to be able to connect to multiple sources, collect data of different nature (physical data, process data, and more), propose different analyses and alerting channels while being user-friendly. This statement is especially true for the automotive sector, which is facing new challenges and increased competition nowadays. Customer satisfaction depends on products and parts quality, as well as possible customizations. To reach these objectives, productivity is key, meaning machines availability needs to be maxed and not impacted by unplanned breakdowns. These cost a lot of money and time and can possibly generate quality issues on parts produced during the deteriorating phase of the production system.

In this research work, initiated by Plastic Omnium (Clean Energy Systems division), in collaboration with Ecole Nationale Supérieure d'Arts et Métiers (EN-SAM) and Laboratoire Conception Fabrication Commande (LCFC) located in Metz, we propose a methodology to implement a Predictive Maintenance system in the industrial context. This methodology is tested and applied on concrete use cases, and the results are used to improve and propose a final solution. This solution is an Intelligent Maintenance System built on this methodology, Industry 4.0 tools and open-source software. We employ and put the emphasis on the term flexible for this solution, as it is one of the major features required by this system to work in different contexts and be adaptable to the needs and limitations previously discussed about.

Table of Contents

R	emer	ciemei	nts	iii
A	bstra	\mathbf{ct}		vii
Li	st of	Figur	es	xiii
Li	ist of	Table	s x	vii
G	lossai	ry	:	xix
1	Gen	eral ii	ntroduction	1
	1.1	Scient	ific context: predictive maintenance	3
	1.2	Indust	rial context: automotive industry	5
		1.2.1	Industry 4.0 to solve some key challenges of the automotive	
			industry	5
		1.2.2	Industrial process: extrusion blow-moulding	7
	1.3	Resear	rch objectives and methodology	9
	1.4	Struct	sure of the thesis	12
2	Mai	ntena	nce activities in the Industry 4.0 era	15
	2.1	Indust	ry 4.0 paradigm	16
		2.1.1	Key concepts for industrial performance	17
		2.1.2	Internet of Things and data management	19
	2.2	Defini	tion of maintenance activities	24
	2.3	Metho	odologies for the implementation of predictive maintenance .	30
		2.3.1	PHM framework overview	30
		2.3.2	Data selection process for efficient monitoring of the system	33
		2.3.3	Health assessment	37
		2.3.4	Decision-making system	43

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	2.4	Applications of predictive maintenance				45
		2.4.1 Challenges and adoption level				45
		2.4.2 Predictive maintenance in automotive industry				47
	2.5	Synthesis of the literature review		•		49
3	Pro	oposition and application of a methodology to move fr	on	a c	or	<u> </u>
	rect	tive to predictive maintenance				53
	3.1	Framework for predictive maintenance		•		54
	3.2	Operational aspect of the framework		•		55
		3.2.1 Data management architecture				56
		3.2.2 Presentation of the proposed approach				59
	3.3	Application of the framework		•		62
		3.3.1 Use case identification		•		63
		3.3.2 Failure understanding		•		64
		3.3.3 Data collection				66
		3.3.4 Data exploration				68
		3.3.5 Proposed solution		•		70
	3.4	Case of failures with low occurrences				71
		3.4.1 Global maintenance data analysis		•		71
		3.4.2 Finishing centers: band heaters				73
		3.4.3 Blow Molding Machines: rotating equipment and h	ydı	cau	ılic	<mark>s</mark> 76
	3.5	Overview of the results and discussion				79
		3.5.1 Results				79
		3.5.2 Limitations and opportunities		•		80
	3.6	Conclusion		•		82
		3.6.1 Scientific contributions				83
		3.6.2 Industrial contributions		•		83
4	Dev	velopment of an Intelligent Maintenance System for	p	rec	lic	-
	tive	e maintenance				85
	4.1	Motivations		•		86
	4.2	Methodology behind the application				87
	4.3	Architecture of the application				92
	4.4	Deployment and validation on industrial cases				95
		4.4.1 Helium Leak Testers				95
		4.4.2 Blow Molding Machines: band heaters				100
	4.5	Conclusion				107
		4.5.1 Scientific contributions				108
		4.5.2 Industrial contributions				109

Conclu	asion	111
Biblio	graphy	117
Résun	né en français	131
Appen	ndices	134
А	Plastic Omnium Clean Energy Systems presentation	. 134
В	Fuel tanks production: the different processes	. 136
\mathbf{C}	Full production process	. 139
D	Modelling linked to predictive maintenance activities	. 140
\mathbf{E}	Welding unit - thermocouples' issues detection	. 142
\mathbf{F}	Welding unit - band heaters experiments	. 143
G	BMM - vibration and hydraulics	. 145
Η	HLT - data visualization	. 147
Ι	Energetic Technical Functions for systematic data selection	. 148

TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of Figures

1.1	Number of publications per maintenance policy (1995-2021)	4
1.2	Extrusion Blow-Moulding process (Shrivastava 2018)	7
1.3	Extruder example (Lee 2006)	8
1.4	The head (Lee 2006)	9
1.5	Blow-moulding process (Belcher 2017)	9
1.6	Work methodology for the Industry 4.0 topics	10
2.1	The four industrial revolutions (Gehrke et al. 2015)	17
2.2	Key components of Industry 4.0	18
2.3	Evolution of the size of the Digital Universe (Reinsel et al. 2018).	20
2.4	Number of connected devices 2010-2025 (Lueth 2020) \ldots	21
2.5	Bathtub curve used in reliability engineering	25
2.6	Maintenance policies (Wang et al. 2015)	26
2.7	Hierarchical overview of maintenance policies (adapted from Sam-	
	brekar et al. (2018) , Mostafa et al. (2015) and Gackowiec (2019))	28
2.8	PHM cycle (Gouriveau et al. 2016)	31
2.9	PHM system design (Vogl et al. 2014a)	32
2.10	OSA-CBM architecture for PHM (Lebold et al. 2003)	33
2.11	Monitoring techniques (Vogl et al. 2014b)	34
2.12	PHM functional model (IEEE 2017)	35
2.13	PHM operational process (IEEE 2017)	36
2.14	CRISP-DM for engineers (Huber et al. 2019)	37
2.15	Diagnosis and prognostic (Jouin et al. 2013)	38
2.16	Health assessment approaches (Lei et al. 2018)	39
2.17	Survival modelling for RUL (Baru 2018)	40
2.18	Similarity modelling for RUL (Baru 2018)	41
2.19	Degradation modelling for RUL (Baru 2018)	42
2.20	Machine health monitoring approaches (Zhao et al. 2019)	43
2.21	Summary table	51

3.1	Framework for predictive maintenance
3.2	Architecture of the information system
3.3	Architecture of the Edge Computing system
3.4	Operational choice process
3.5	Breakdown Pareto of Compiègne plant 2018
3.6	Choice process for the first use case
3.7	Extract of PFMEA for the welding unit
3.8	Regulation process for the temperature
3.9	Data management architecture for the welding unit's monitoring . 68
3.10	Temperature peaks detection
3.11	Alerting dashboard
3.12	Example of email alerts sent
3.13	Topics considered for predictive maintenance
3.14	Single word analysis
3.15	Pair words analysis
3.16	Trigram words analysis
3.17	Word Cloud
3.18	Welding unit test bench
3.19	P-F curve of ball bearing (Moubray 2001)
0.10	
3.20	Vibration test bench
3.204.1	Vibration test bench 78 Perimeter for the IMS activities 86
3.204.14.2	Vibration test bench 78 Perimeter for the IMS activities 86 Machine Health Management application model 88
 3.20 4.1 4.2 4.3 	Vibration test bench 78 Perimeter for the IMS activities 86 Machine Health Management application model 88 Overview of the structure of MHM 92
 3.20 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 	Vibration test bench 78 Perimeter for the IMS activities 86 Machine Health Management application model 88 Overview of the structure of MHM 92 Top-down and bottom-up aspects of MHM 94
 3.20 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 	Vibration test bench 78 Perimeter for the IMS activities 86 Machine Health Management application model 88 Overview of the structure of MHM 92 Top-down and bottom-up aspects of MHM 94 Helium leak test principle 95
3.20 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6	Vibration test bench78Perimeter for the IMS activities86Machine Health Management application model88Overview of the structure of MHM92Top-down and bottom-up aspects of MHM94Helium leak test principle95Split visualization for HLT machines (Grafana)98
$\begin{array}{c} 3.20\\ 4.1\\ 4.2\\ 4.3\\ 4.4\\ 4.5\\ 4.6\\ 4.7\end{array}$	Vibration test bench78Perimeter for the IMS activities86Machine Health Management application model88Overview of the structure of MHM92Top-down and bottom-up aspects of MHM94Helium leak test principle95Split visualization for HLT machines (Grafana)98User Interface for the HLT machines (Node-RED)99
$\begin{array}{c} 3.20\\ 4.1\\ 4.2\\ 4.3\\ 4.4\\ 4.5\\ 4.6\\ 4.7\\ 4.8\end{array}$	Vibration test bench78Perimeter for the IMS activities86Machine Health Management application model88Overview of the structure of MHM92Top-down and bottom-up aspects of MHM94Helium leak test principle95Split visualization for HLT machines (Grafana)98User Interface for the HLT machines (Node-RED)99Current contributions on HLTs100
3.20 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 4.7 4.8 4.9	Vibration test bench78Perimeter for the IMS activities86Machine Health Management application model88Overview of the structure of MHM92Top-down and bottom-up aspects of MHM94Helium leak test principle95Split visualization for HLT machines (Grafana)98User Interface for the HLT machines (Node-RED)99Current contributions on HLTs100Node-RED flow generated by MHM to collect data from a PLC105
$\begin{array}{c} 3.20\\ 4.1\\ 4.2\\ 4.3\\ 4.4\\ 4.5\\ 4.6\\ 4.7\\ 4.8\\ 4.9\\ 4.10\end{array}$	Vibration test bench78Perimeter for the IMS activities86Machine Health Management application model88Overview of the structure of MHM92Top-down and bottom-up aspects of MHM94Helium leak test principle95Split visualization for HLT machines (Grafana)98User Interface for the HLT machines (Node-RED)99Current contributions on HLTs100Node-RED flow generated by MHM to collect data from a PLC103Split visualization for Blow-Molding Machines (Grafana)105
$\begin{array}{c} 3.20\\ 4.1\\ 4.2\\ 4.3\\ 4.4\\ 4.5\\ 4.6\\ 4.7\\ 4.8\\ 4.9\\ 4.10\\ 4.11\end{array}$	Vibration test bench78Perimeter for the IMS activities86Machine Health Management application model88Overview of the structure of MHM92Top-down and bottom-up aspects of MHM94Helium leak test principle95Split visualization for HLT machines (Grafana)98User Interface for the HLT machines (Node-RED)99Current contributions on HLTs100Node-RED flow generated by MHM to collect data from a PLC103Split visualization for Blow-Molding Machines (Grafana)104
$\begin{array}{c} 3.20\\ 4.1\\ 4.2\\ 4.3\\ 4.4\\ 4.5\\ 4.6\\ 4.7\\ 4.8\\ 4.9\\ 4.10\\ 4.11\\ 4.12\end{array}$	Vibration test bench78Perimeter for the IMS activities86Machine Health Management application model88Overview of the structure of MHM92Top-down and bottom-up aspects of MHM94Helium leak test principle95Split visualization for HLT machines (Grafana)96User Interface for the HLT machines (Node-RED)99Current contributions on HLTs100Node-RED flow generated by MHM to collect data from a PLC103Split visualization for Blow-Molding Machines (Grafana)104Wrong positioning of the band heater (Grafana)105
$\begin{array}{c} 3.20\\ 4.1\\ 4.2\\ 4.3\\ 4.4\\ 4.5\\ 4.6\\ 4.7\\ 4.8\\ 4.9\\ 4.10\\ 4.11\\ 4.12\\ 4.13\end{array}$	Vibration test bench78Perimeter for the IMS activities86Machine Health Management application model88Overview of the structure of MHM92Top-down and bottom-up aspects of MHM94Helium leak test principle95Split visualization for HLT machines (Grafana)98User Interface for the HLT machines (Node-RED)99Current contributions on HLTs100Node-RED flow generated by MHM to collect data from a PLC103Split visualization for Blow-Molding Machines (Grafana)104Wrong positioning of the band heater (Grafana)105Wrong regulation parameters (Grafana)106
3.20 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 4.7 4.8 4.9 4.10 4.11 4.12 4.13 A.1	Vibration test bench76Perimeter for the IMS activities86Machine Health Management application model88Overview of the structure of MHM92Top-down and bottom-up aspects of MHM94Helium leak test principle95Split visualization for HLT machines (Grafana)98User Interface for the HLT machines (Node-RED)99Current contributions on HLTs100Node-RED flow generated by MHM to collect data from a PLC103Split visualization for Blow-Molding Machines (Grafana)104Wrong positioning of the band heater (Grafana)105Wrong regulation parameters (Grafana)106CES division numbers134
3.20 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 4.7 4.8 4.9 4.10 4.11 4.12 4.13 A.1 A.2	Vibration test bench78Perimeter for the IMS activities86Machine Health Management application model88Overview of the structure of MHM92Top-down and bottom-up aspects of MHM94Helium leak test principle95Split visualization for HLT machines (Grafana)98User Interface for the HLT machines (Node-RED)99Current contributions on HLTs100Node-RED flow generated by MHM to collect data from a PLC103Split visualization for Blow-Molding Machines (Grafana)104Wrong positioning of the band heater (Grafana)106Wrong regulation parameters (Grafana)106CES division numbers134Plastic fuel tank135
3.20 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 4.7 4.8 4.9 4.10 4.11 4.12 4.13 A.1 A.2 A.3	Vibration test bench78Perimeter for the IMS activities86Machine Health Management application model88Overview of the structure of MHM92Top-down and bottom-up aspects of MHM94Helium leak test principle95Split visualization for HLT machines (Grafana)98User Interface for the HLT machines (Node-RED)99Current contributions on HLTs100Node-RED flow generated by MHM to collect data from a PLC103Split visualization for Blow-Molding Machines (Grafana)104Wrong positioning of the band heater (Grafana)104Wrong regulation parameters (Grafana)104Wrong regulation parameters (Grafana)104Filler pipe135Filler pipe135

LIST OF FIGURES

A.5	SCR product
B.1	Plastic parison
B.2	Blow molding process (training material Plastic Omnium) 137
B.3	Co-extrusion process (training material Plastic Omnium) 137
B .4	TSBM process (training material Plastic Omnium) 138
C.1	Full production process
D.1	SADT
D.2	BPMN
E.1	Detection of failure on thermocouple (Grafana)
E.2	Thermocouple cable issue
F.1	Fast cooling modification
F.2	Repeated cycles (Grafana)
F.3	Mechanical tests (Grafana)
G.1	Mechanical failure detection
G.2	Oil contamination detection
H.1	Data visualization for HLT monitoring (Grafana) 147
I.1	Modelling of an Energetic Technical Function
I.2	Data identification process
I.3	Overview of the data selection process

LIST OF FIGURES

List of Tables

2.1	Main features from each data management architecture	23
3.1	Solutions for data availability	60
3.2	Data-driven approaches to investigate failures	61
3.3	Potential failures list on welding units	66
3.4	Collected data	67
3.5	Tests to replicate failures	75
3.6	Validation of the vibration solution	78
3.7	Improvements linked to the performance assessment	82
4.1	Known failures on HLT machines	97
4.2	Leads to improve the monitoring of HLT machines	99
4.3	Known failures on the BMMs' heating systems	02
4.4	Summary of the contributions	14

LIST OF TABLES

Glossary

- **AFNOR** Association Française de NORmalisation: French Standardization Association. 25
- API An Application Programming Interface is a software designed to make communication possible between two different applications. The API provides various interactions, for instance sending a request to login, sending a query to fetch data, or even sending data in the system. 23
- Artificial Neural Network ANNs are computing systems that take the human brain as inspiration. The system is usually composed of an input, hidden and output layer, and each layer is composed of nodes. These nodes (or artificial neurons) are connected to each other, therefore they can have multiple inputs and outputs. Each node has weights and thresholds that trigger the signal transmission to others. The training of ANN consists in adjusting these weights by minimizing the error between a known output and assumptions made by the model (McCulloch and Pitts 1943). 41
- Autoregressive An Autoregressive model is designed to forecast any time series variable, based on its previous values: the forecasted value is a linear combination of past values (Yule 1927). 39
- Autoregressive Integrated Moving Average ARIMA is the generalized form of the ARMA model, introducing the Integrated part. The model considers the difference between each value of a time series, instead of its raw data. By doing so, it allows transforming non-stationary time series into stationary ones, which improves the results given by application of AR and MA (Box et al. 2015). 39
- Autoregressive Moving Average ARMA is the combination of an AR model, and a Moving Average (MA) model. The MA allows to consider the trends that can appear in time series, to improve the forecasting. If only AR is used in the case of time series having repeating events, these could be seen as errors or noise by the model and therefore produce poor results

(Box et al. 2015). **39**

- Bayesian Autoregressive A Bayesian Autoregressive model is an AR model, with a different assumption on the variable used. In the AR context, the variable is considered as a fixed value with no prior knowledge, whereas BAR treats variables as random and having prior probabilities. This introduction of "priors" can produce better forecasts than AR in cases where datasets are smaller, increasing the difficulty to calculate the many parameters of the model and giving less reliable results (Litterman 1980). 39
- Bayesian Network A Bayesian Network is a graphical representation of a probabilistic model. It includes several parameters with their dependencies, making it able to understand the influence of each factor on a given event. It is often used to predict such events using the probability that a known cause will occur and lead to the monitored event (Pearl 1985). 34
- **CES** Clean Energy Systems, a Plastic Omnium division that manufactures fuel tanks and depolluting systems. 2
- CIFRE Convention Industrielle de Formation par la REcherche PhD done in partnership with a laboratory, a university and a company. It is therefore conducted mostly in an industrial context, with support from academics.
- **CPSs** A CPS is a system where physical equipment and computer-based software are interacting together, to create efficient and autonomous systems capable of taking decisions on their own. 3
- **CPU** A Central Processing Unit is a complex circuit board able to execute actions based on the instructions given by its internal program. 20
- **DASIP** Data Acquisition System for Industrial Processes Supervision system developed by Plastic Omnium, that acts as a SCADA system (Supervisory Control And Data Acquisition). It is used for monitoring the machines through critical parameters of the manufacturing process. 57
- **Data Lake** Central data storage allowing data analyses on large volumes, to aggregate data from different sources, create visualizations or train algorithms. Often described as an internal Cloud Computing system. 56
- Deep Neural Network DNNs are complex ANNs, composed of multiple hidden layers between input and output. They are able to model non-linear relationships in the dataset, and are widely used due to their automatic pattern recognition. This feature allows them to outperform many other models (Bengio et al. 2009). 42

- **Discrete Bayes Filter** Discrete Bayes Filter, or Recursive Bayesian estimation, is a statistical model used to estimate the value of a parameter, based on its previous values. It is applied recursively on new incoming data, to get the most probable current state of the system. 40
- **ERP** An ERP (Enterprise Resource Planning) can be defined as a management software that stores different type of data coming from various departments or businesses of a company, for instance purchasing and maintenance. 59
- **FMEA** Failure Modes and Effects Analysis consists in identifying the possible failure mechanisms that can appear in the system, by decomposing it as much as possible to get the most detailed analysis. The effect of these failures is also studied. 28
- **FMECA** Failure Modes, Effects and Criticality Analysis adds the criticality analysis to the FMEA, it is calculated from the probability that such a failure will appear, and its severity. 34
- Generative Adversarial Network GANs are machine learning techniques used to generate data with similar characteristics, based on an original training dataset. Two models are used to achieve this result: the first one is learning the patterns within the dataset and generates new data, the second one classifies incoming data as either original or fake (generated by the first model). The training is complete when the first model can "fool" the second one about half the time, meaning that the generated data is close enough to the original one (Goodfellow et al. 2020). 42
- **HAZOP** Hazard and Operability analysis is a review of a process in order to evaluate the various issues that can happen and create a risk to the users and/or the machines. 34
- Hidden Markov Model A system modelled using HMM is assumed to have an observable part, and a hidden part. The hidden variable (often called "state") influences and controls directly the known variable (often called "observation"), and such system is called a Markov process. The goal of HMM is to determine the hidden parameters using probabilities and observations of the known parameters. It is very efficient in determining the underlying the probability that a state (or set of states) lead to an observation (Baum and Petrie 1966). 39
- **ICT** Information and Communications Technology relates to all components making computing and interactions with digital information possible. Such

components can be hardware, software, telecommunications, internet, and computing architectures presented in section 2.1.2. 4

- **Intelligent Maintenance System** An IMS is a computing system that analyzes data coming from any production system, to provide a predictive maintenance solution to detect incoming failures. 82
- **IoT** The Internet of Things is the interconnection between devices through internet. 3
- Long Short-Term Memory LSTM is part of the Recurrent Neural Network (RNN) models, meaning that the output of some nodes can affect their own input. LSTM includes feedback connections, allowing it to handle events that affect the data in the long-term; which is not possible with other RNN models (Hochreiter and Schmidhuber 1997). 42
- Multi-Layer Perceptron MLP refers to a feedforward (output does not affect the input) ANN composed of perceptrons. A perceptron is a supervised machine learning technique that aims at classifying data. Consequently, MLPs are able to solve complex issues where the relationship between input and output is non-linear (Rosenblatt 1958). 41
- Natural Language Processing NLP is a branch of machine learning algorithm that processes natural languages to understand automatically their content, as a human would. Many applications derive from NLP, such as sentiment analysis (to determine the intention behind the words), automatic language detection and translation. 71
- **OEM** An Original Equipment Manufacturer in the automotive industry is a company producing the original parts of a vehicle that are assembled by the car manufacturer. Such parts can be exhaust systems, brake cylinders, or fuel systems for instance. 6
- **Open Platform Communications** OPC refers to an industrial communication protocol, mostly used to exchange data between PLCs and other devices or applications (source: https://opcfoundation.org/about/what -is-opc/). 46
- **PES** Plant Execution System It is the MES (Manufacturing Execution System) used by Plastic Omnium, which ensures traceability of the produced parts, as well as monitoring the different events related to the production machines within the plant. 57
- **PFMEA** Process Failure Modes and Effects Analysis is the application of FMEA to the manufacturing processes. 35

- **PHM** Prognostics and Health Management In literature, prognostics and health management (PHM) systems have been studied by many researchers from many different engineering fields to increase system reliability, availability, safety and to reduce the maintenance cost of engineering assets (source: https://www.phmsociety.org/). 12
- PLC A Programmable Logic Controller is an industrial computing device able to operate in difficult conditions. It is used to control and operate manufacturing systems. Common PLC manufacturers are Siemens, Schneider Electric, Allen Bradley, Mitsubishi Electric. 23
- **Principal Component Analysis** PCA is a mathematical method that reduces the dimension of large datasets. The main idea is to only keep variables responsible for the variations in the dataset, meaning that the algorithm will try to find uncorrelated parameters with the highest variance. These parameters are then used as new principal components, allowing to project the rest of the data on them. Usually only the 2-3 first components are kept, the choice can be made knowing the percentage of "information" (variability) held by each component (Hotelling 1933). 39
- Prognostics Prognostics focuses on estimating the time at which a component or machine will no longer perform the function it was designed for (this time or duration is also called RUL: Remaining Useful Life, or TTF: Time To Failure). 30
- **Raspberry Pi** A Raspberry Pi is a nano-computer widely used in IoT applications (https://www.raspberrypi.com/). 46
- **RUL** Remaining Useful Life Remaining time before failure of the monitored component or machine. 29
- **Scopus** Scopus is an abstract and citation database created by the academic publishing company Elsevier. It allows searching for references in a very large amount of publications, and also creating advanced analyses on the various data linked to the published books, journals and articles. 3
- Support Vector Machine SVM is a supervised machine learning technique used for classification of data. It requires labelled data, and attempts to compute a hyperplane that maximizes the distance between the different classes observed in the dataset, in order to then predict in which class the new incoming data will belong (Boser et al. (1992), Cortes and Vapnik (1995)). 40
- Support Vector Regression SVR is a method based on SVM, for regression purposes. In this algorithm, the idea is to determine the regression plane which contains the maximum number of points from the training set. This

hyperplane is often seen as a tube, composed of the best fit line and two lines placed above and below. The distance between the best fit line and other line is the error (ε) (Drucker et al. 1996). 40

- **Time series** Time series is a flow of data collected with a fixed time rate. Each value has its corresponding time of collect, it is often called a timestamp: time is a variable in a time series database. They are mostly used to monitor events, because the time variable is used to show the evolution of data over time. 58
- Unified Architecture OPC UA is the latest release of the OPC protocol, extending it to many other platforms, and including improved interoperability and features linked to cybersecurity (source: https://opcfoundation.or g/about/opc-technologies/opc-ua/). 46

Chapter 1

General introduction

Contents

1.1	1.1 Scientific context: predictive maintenance				
1.2	Indu	strial context: automotive industry	5		
1	1.2.1	Industry 4.0 to solve some key challenges of the auto- motive industry	5		
1	1.2.2	Industrial process: extrusion blow-moulding	7		
1.3	Rese	arch objectives and methodology	9		
1.4	Stru	cture of the thesis	12		

One of the key activities for a company is the continuous improvement of its manufacturing system's performance. This statement is especially true when it comes to global companies operating in multiple countries, because they need to remain competitive and propose the most attractive products to its customers while reducing operational costs. To reach this goal, companies are working towards global amelioration of quality for the manufactured products, and maintainability of the manufacturing systems.

Over the recent years, Industry 4.0 has been one of the most proficient research domains for the industrial actors, with the promises to bring new technologies and concepts to achieve the previous goal. Industry 4.0 refers to the interconnection between the physical world and the virtual world for a manufacturing system and thus, how information, data and knowledge are dealt with. As data has become one of the most valuable resources for companies in recent years, it is therefore critical that the management of all the collected data is done in the most efficient way.

For Plastic Omnium Clean Energy Systems (*CES*), which produces fuel tanks and depolluting systems for the automotive industry, the topic of industrial performance greatly matters. Because those parts are regulated and tagged as security parts (they involve the security of the end-user), the manufacturing quality is a critical issue. The consequences of non-quality and non-production can be disastrous for various aspects of the company: economics, legal, societal, environmental. In addition to this, the automotive sector is one of the most competitive industries, which also reinforces the need for performance. Having explored lean practices for a long time, the company now believes that the next step for improving quality and productivity is through Industry 4.0, to have the most efficient control possible over its manufacturing system.

The topic of interest for this research work is related to industrial maintenance, and more specifically about developing an efficient methodology to enable the industrial actors to switch from a "classical" curative-preventive maintenance system to a more proactive one: Predictive Maintenance (PdM). As industrial equipment will eventually fail, from ageing or unexpected events, the goal of this work is to bring more insight regarding the machines' behavior. This is mostly done through data-driven approaches, by collecting physical or process data related to the equipment, studying its evolution, and proposing alerts to the users on potential incoming failures. Strong with this new knowledge, maintenance can then be planned more efficiently, and have less impact on the initial production schedule.

Predictive Maintenance has been extensively studied over the past 25 years, and is still a topic of great interest. One of the main reasons, which will be developed throughout this thesis, is that even though methodologies exist to implement such system, these are continuously evolving. In addition to this, the tools used in the industrial context to apply them are also changing and improving rapidly. These tools are linked to data collection and processing, but also for communication and visualization. Consequently, as of today, it is still quite complex to have a standard methodology that can be applied as such across the various industries, which can also have their own specificity.

One of the key concepts emerging from this work is the necessity to propose a methodology as standard as possible to define the PdM system, with flexible tools to carry out its implementation in the industrial context. This flexibility is related to several aspects of the implementation, such as the use of multiple communication protocols to collect data, or scalability of the data storage solution.

1.1 Scientific context: predictive maintenance

The maintenance field has evolved over the recent years, moving from corrective actions (when failures already happened) to a predictive approach. With the advances in data processing, information coming from the production system now allow the assessment of its current and future health state. Because machines and processes are becoming more and more complex to deliver new features to products, maintenance is impacted and requires more advanced skills and knowledge to deal with potential issues (Gouriveau et al. 2016). It is therefore a necessity today, for any company seeking performance, to strive toward predictive maintenance.

Predictive maintenance is currently the most active topic in the maintenance field, as it is highly linked with Industry 4.0 and the availability of data within companies. We can see in Figure 1.1 the evolution over time of the number of publications linked to the three main categories of maintenance: corrective, preventive and predictive, from 1995 to 2021. We will review more in detail these different maintenance policies in the next section. To obtain this graph, we did simple queries within *Scopus* ("corrective AND maintenance" for instance), to determine how many papers were published over the years on each maintenance policy. To try and be more accurate, we excluded each time the other two policies from the title and abstract, as in most cases the three categories will be discussed in the papers. We can observe that since 2016, predictive maintenance has received a lot of attention from researchers, making it one of the most studied topics in the Industry 4.0 paradigm.

This increase of interest for this topic is easily understandable with the context of $CPSs^1$. The opportunities for predictions based on data analysis are numerous thanks to IoT^2 and CPS, and therefore the maintenance activity is a great candidate to extract value from those analyses and improve its performance (Yan et al. 2017).

To understand further why maintenance has been in the spotlight recently, we need to go back in time and see that historically, the maintenance activities

¹CPS: Cyber-Physical System

²IoT: Internet of Things



Figure 1.1: Number of publications per maintenance policy (1995-2021)

were tagged as "necessary evil" or that they were a "cost-centre", meaning that they only generated costs and no profits (Al-Najjar (2007), Chesworth (2018)). Twenty years ago, Mobley (2002) addressed this issue by explaining that these statements were already old-fashioned back then, mostly due to the development of ICT^3 . Its application in the industrial context for maintenance improvement purposes helps removing unnecessary costs and reducing occurrences of catastrophic breakdowns.

However, as mentioned by Fusko et al. (2018), many industrial companies are still not ready for that digital transformation of maintenance, as it requires advanced CPSs and ICTs, with skills that are not yet well developed within the organizations. This digital transformation not only brings new tools, but also changes completely the way maintenance topics are being worked on, compared to how it was handled previously. In addition, as mentioned in Introduction, methodologies and tools supporting the development and implementation of such solutions are changing and evolving rapidly, increasing the difficulties inherent to that transformation.

³ICT: Information and Communications Technology

As this thesis is *CIFRE*, the works are positioned in the automotive industrial context. The main objective is to address the topic of the implementation of predictive maintenance in the complex and global context of Plastic Omnium's production. The thesis work was conducted within the *Digital Manufacturing* team, in charge of the topics related to Industry 4.0. Consequently, in the next section, the industrial application is described.

1.2 Industrial context: automotive industry

In this section, we introduce shortly some key aspects of the automotive industry, as Plastic Omnium is one of its major actors. These aspects help understanding the motivations behind this research work. In a second part, we present the main process involved in the production at Plastic Omnium Clean Energy Systems. This will help understanding some key characteristics of the work presented in Chapters 3 and 4.

1.2.1 Industry 4.0 to solve some key challenges of the automotive industry

From the industrial point of view, the automotive industry activities always led to significant changes in the global industrial scope. Starting at the beginning of the 20th century, Ford was one of the major actors who led the industry towards "mass-production". The creation of a moving assembly line, bringing the product (Model T) to different locations using a conveyor belt made possible the manufacturing of millions of cars, faster and cheaper than any other competitor (Hounshell 1985).

Competition is probably the main factor of innovation in the automotive industry, as many car manufacturers exist all over the world. Since the globalization of the business, even though these companies are located in different places, they found themselves in direct competition to earn market shares everywhere they can. We can say that Ford's mass-production system does not exist anymore today, as companies are directing the competition towards mass-customization of cars, and proposing the most affordable products at the best quality possible (Holweg 2008). To do that, many new ways of manufacturing were developed, such as the Just-in-Time system from Toyota, enabling fast adaptation to market changes by using reconfigurable production lines, and automation (Shimokawa 1994). In this sense, the automotive industry was one of the first to automatize their manufacturing lines (Jovane et al. 2003). To emphasize on the benefits provided by competition, we can see that car producers invest a lot in research and development. The European car producers reported 32 billion euro of R&D investment in 2011 (Vošta and Kocourek 2017), while nearly 60 billion was injected in 2020 (ACEA⁴ website), making European Union companies the world's largest contributors to automotive R&D. The main idea behind is to bring new features, new technologies in the next generation of cars, to be ahead of other companies. Many strategies are employed, and a lot of different aspects are promoted by each manufacturer, whether it is linked to costs, size of the car, quality of materials used, new energies used for propulsion (electrical, hybrid fuel-electrical, hydrogen cars), or service-oriented features (Nazir and Shavarebi 2019).

As discussed previously, the current trend in automotive manufacturing is based on mass-customization. Most competitive companies are now using wellestablished processes such as the lean principles created by Toyota, to produce more and reduce wastes. As a result, they need to seek other ways to attract new customers, by proposing specific customizations to answer their demands (Alford et al. 2000). The complexity of this approach is that it requires new configurations of the manufacturing system, to be able to propose personalization on some aspects of the cars. As a result, the stakes are high for any company able to develop such system, and more and more we see that Industry 4.0 is the answer to address this complexity, as it brings new tools and methods facilitating this industry-wide transition (Kabasakal et al. 2017).

In the automotive industry, car manufacturers are not the only contributors, there are also $OEMs^5$ that put a lot of efforts into all these changes (Kalogerakis et al. 2017). It is the case for Plastic Omnium, which is one of the major OEM for the automotive sector, and the industrial support for this research work. Complex processes are involved in the company's production, and as discussed in Introduction, norms and regulations are drastic regarding these security parts, leading the company to aim for a zero-defect policy. To understand further the motivations behind this work, we will review in the next part the industrial process linked to the production of the fuel tank systems.

 $^{^4\}mathrm{ACEA}$: Association des Constructeurs Européens d'Automobiles / European Car Manufacturers Association

⁵OEM: Original Equipment Manufacturer

1.2.2 Industrial process: extrusion blow-moulding

The main industrial process involved in this thesis work is called extrusion blowmoulding. It is mostly used to produce hollow parts made of plastic and polymers, and these parts are used as containers for various applications (Dutta and Ryan 1982). For instance, plastic bottles of water are produced with extrusion blow-moulding of Polyethylene Terephthalate (PET or PETE), waste containers and plastic fuel tanks are made of High-Density Polyethylene (HDPE). The basic steps of this process are the following: first, a cylinder of melted material is coming out of the extrusion process, we call it a *parison*. Then this parison is trapped inside a mold to give the material its final shape. During this phase, the material is pushed against the mold inner shapes by blowing air inside the parison. Figure 1.2 shows these steps. We propose more details about Plastic Omnium, its products and the process in Appendices A, B and C.



Figure 1.2: Extrusion Blow-Moulding process (Shrivastava 2018)

To understand the process and the equipment used we will describe in detail the extrusion and blow-moulding processes below.

Extrusion Extrusion is the process of forming the parison. As seen in Figure 1.3, the mechanical system is composed of a motor, a gearbox and a screw. The start of the process is to inject plastic pellets inside the feed hopper, the material

is then moved inside the screw. Here it will be heated, to melt down and to be carried easily throughout the screw. This heating is done by band heaters located all around the screw. The action of the screw on the material will bring some shear stress, which will produce some auto-heating. To reduce it, fans are located around the screw, to cool it down at some point after the start of the process, and respect the temperature required for the process. Finally, the melted material will arrive in the head, at the other end of the screw.



Figure 1.3: Extruder example (Lee 2006)

The final step of the extrusion process is to bring the material in the head and form the parison. We can see in figure 1.4 the inner shape. The moving die and programmed mandrel are used to give the shape of the parison, whether it needs to be round or oval. It will also influence the thickness of the parison and therefore the final shape of the product.

Blow-moulding Next, the parison is trapped inside the mold as seen in Figure 1.5. At this stage, the blow pin will inject air within the mold at high pressure, to push the material against the inner-mold shapes. Usually, the top part of the obtained product will be cut, in order to evacuate it afterwards. We can also observe that some material will be located around the blown part, and not useful for the end design. It is called the "flash" and is most of the time removed by an operator in a "deflashing" operation (the excess material is cut, then often reground for later use).

After this first process, extra operations are done on the tank, as shown in Appendix C. The applications cases proposed in this work and presented in Chapters 3 and 4, are linked with the full production process. The complexity of the process, the requirements regarding the quality of the products delivered



Figure 1.4: The head (Lee 2006)

Figure 1.5: Blow-moulding process (Belcher 2017)

and the automotive industry context impose the production systems to be robust. Therefore, their availability greatly matters, and understanding their behavior to plan efficiently corrective actions in case of deviations is a major challenge, which can bring a lot of value to the company.

In the next section, the research objectives and the methodology employed throughout this research work are addressed.

1.3 Research objectives and methodology

To understand better the production systems, and more particularly their failure modes, there is a requirement to make the machines "smarter". As discussed previously, it is made possible with the Industry 4.0 paradigm and data which is more and more available in the industrial context (Sambrekar et al. 2018). The nature of this data can differ, and contributes to better understanding of the behavior of the production systems.

Predictive maintenance is one of these topics of interest for Plastic Omnium. Therefore, this thesis aims at looking for the best way to use the collected production data on the machines in order to propose a dynamic maintenance system. This system will help detecting machine failures before they happen, to plan the corrective actions accordingly. The main expected benefits are listed below.

- Reduce corrective maintenance costs
- Reduce catastrophic breakdown events
- Improve availability of machines
- Create and improve knowledge about the production systems
- Decrease quality issues linked to machines degradation and failures

The Digital Manufacturing team has a standard way of working on the topics linked with Industry 4.0, as shown in Figure 1.6. As most of these works are transforming the way the company works, resistance to change can be a limitation for the success of the developments and implementations. As a result, the topics are always managed in two complementary ways:

- The Top-Down process, which ensures that the developments and deployments are standardized and proposed globally within the division
- The Bottom-Up process that enables new initiatives, and takes advantage of the experience from the local sight to develop new solutions



Figure 1.6: Work methodology for the Industry 4.0 topics

This circular process brings many opportunities, and reduces the chances that a topic will fail. The two key factors are the possibility of innovation from local resources, and the active feedback from local to global management makes certain that the requirements are fulfilled.

To anticipate failures on the production systems, a methodology will be proposed to implement a predictive maintenance architecture. This methodology will include both the requirements to solve the industrial and scientific issues linked to each topic. Finally, we want to develop a toolbox as the major contribution from the thesis work, to be used for dealing with predictive maintenance topics. It must be as general as possible in order to be flexible and adaptable to the different use cases that can be treated in industries.

The main objective of the thesis is to answer the following research question:

How can industries implement predictive maintenance with the help of Industry 4.0?

To try and organize the work, we defined four industrial issues from the needs of Plastic Omnium. Each axis is linked to a scientific issue that needs to be overcome to answer the global research question.

 $1^{\rm st}$ industrial issue: Understand the failure modes of the production systems

- How to identify failure modes and assess their relevance for predictive maintenance?
- How to select relevant data to be used to monitor the system?

Scientific issue n°1: Formalization of the criticality of failure modes based on the understanding of their causes and effects.

 2^{nd} industrial issue: Develop a strategy for data collection

- What type of data needs to be collected?
- How to handle the data for predictive maintenance?

Scientific issue n°2: Structuring of the data management system to integrate multiple sources of data.

 $3^{\rm rd}$ industrial issue: Integrate data analyses to detect and predict the failures

- What are the available approaches to detect a failure?
- How to create indicators to anticipate the failure mechanisms?

Scientific issue n°3: Creation of health check on the production system based on processed data, to anticipate failures.
$4^{\rm th}$ industrial issue: Define a decision-making system to share results from the analyses

- How to visualize the current and future state of the system?
- How to communicate the results from the detection/prediction system in an efficient manner?

Scientific issue n°4: Elaboration of relevant indicators to support operational and business-oriented decisions on predictive maintenance.

1.4 Structure of the thesis

Based on the scientific and industrial issues, the document is organized as follows.

A state of the art on predictive maintenance is conducted (Chapter 2). The PHM^6 topic will be introduced and detailed. PHM and predictive maintenance are highly linked, and most of the time the PHM methodology is used as the base for the predictive maintenance system. A review of the current approaches for the implementation of this system will help understanding the challenges and limitations, and position this work by exploring the existing opportunities. This Chapter aims at giving a first answer to the four different scientific issues.

In the third chapter (Chapter 3), the methodology developed to implement predictive maintenance is detailed, and a framework is proposed to work on predictive maintenance. In this Chapter, we aim at providing a first set of solutions to the industrial issues, by developing a framework and applying it in our context. As this thesis was conducted in the industrial context, the development was done throughout a practical use case at Plastic Omnium. This first use case helps understanding better the constraints and requirements linked to the implementation of such system. Then, the application of this framework to other use cases is discussed, and the results are analyzed to highlight the limitations and opportunities to improve it.

Finally, the last chapter (Chapter 4) is dedicated to the development of an Intelligent Maintenance System based on the opportunities observed in the pre-

⁶PHM: Prognostics and Health Management

vious chapter. The goal of this last Chapter is to propose an answer to both our industrial and scientific issues. The developed solution was mainly designed for three purposes, to standardize the data management for predictive maintenance topics, to ease the deployment of solutions in a global context (for multiple plants), and to have a flexible system that can be used by various users with different profiles and skills. The methodology behind the application, as well as its practical implementation will be discussed, and a review is proposed based on industrial results from several use cases.

In the conclusion, the contributions from this work are summarized, and some future research perspectives are presented based on the results obtained and some limitations that were observed while conducting this research work. 1.4. STRUCTURE OF THE THESIS

Chapter 2

Maintenance activities in the Industry 4.0 era

Contents

2.1	Indu	stry 4.0 paradigm	16
	2.1.1	Key concepts for industrial performance	17
	2.1.2	Internet of Things and data management	19
2.2	Defi	nition of maintenance activities	24
2.3	\mathbf{Met}	hodologies for the implementation of predictive	
	maiı	ntenance	30
	2.3.1	PHM framework overview	30
	2.3.2	Data selection process for efficient monitoring of the	
		system	33
	2.3.3	Health assessment	37
	2.3.4	Decision-making system	43
2.4	App	lications of predictive maintenance	45
	2.4.1	Challenges and adoption level	45
	2.4.2	Predictive maintenance in automotive industry	47
2.5	Synt	thesis of the literature review	49

In this chapter, we review the literature to highlight the link between Industry 4.0 and maintenance activities. In a first part, we review the key topics of Industry 4.0, to understand the influence it has on industrial maintenance. In a second part, we describe the different policies existing for industrial maintenance, and propose a classification of these architectures, as we observed that their definitions or the way they are organized vary in the literature. Then, we will focus on predictive maintenance, and the methods that currently exist to develop such system, as the ones proposed by PHM¹. Then, we study how these maintenance policies are applied in the automotive industry, to validate the interest of the development and deployment of predictive maintenance in this context. A synthesis of all the findings will help underlining the limitations from the literature, as well as pointing out the opportunities behind them to position this thesis work.

2.1 Industry 4.0 paradigm

In today's competitive market, manufacturers must use new strategies to propose products having the best quality, while reducing production costs. This approach imposes companies to implement more flexible manufacturing systems. For this objective, the traditional mass production system is moving toward customized mass production (Muhuri et al. 2019). Moreover, to organize this system properly, it is necessary to have up-to-date information from the machines and thus, connect all components of the manufacturing process together.

Figure 2.1 shows four revolutions that happened for industries over the past centuries. From the eighteenth century, with the introduction of the mechanical loom and the use of steam energy, to the twentieth century, with mass production and the automated production lines. In the 1970s, automation, computers, electronics, ICT^2 spread throughout industries worldwide. Finally, the fourth revolution is characterized by intelligent machines that communicate data with each other and its users.

This fourth revolution, also named Industry 4.0 (Kagermann et al. 2011), started in 2011 and brought a new vision for production systems, to solve the previously discussed challenges. More than automated production systems, autonomous and smart ones are required, able to learn and share information and knowledge by themselves. An interconnection between machines and company departments is also needed, to monitor, change, and predict the behavior of the manufacturing system. In the context of Industry 4.0, we call Cyber Physical

¹PHM: Prognostics and Health Management

²ICT: Information and Communications Technology



Figure 2.1: The four industrial revolutions (Gehrke et al. 2015)

System (CPS) or Cyber Physical Production System (CPPS) this structure of machine and human interactions and interconnections to create enhanced manufacturing processes (Bahrin et al. (2016), Bagheri et al. (2015)). From all this emerging data, value needs to be created so that the performance of the system and the quality of the final product are improved, in a way that allows both mass production and mass customization.

In the next part, we will discuss the various components of Industry 4.0, which contribute to the transformation of manufacturing in its entirety. These elements participate in the overall improvement of the performance of the production systems.

2.1.1 Key concepts for industrial performance

Industry 4.0 does not only deal with connection, it also has to overcome some global challenges (Wang et al. 2016). The way of producing goods is changing, as well as all the activities that touch directly or indirectly this production. As a re-

sult, processes, services, society, environment, and economy are impacted.

All these changes can lead to wastes, overproduction, pollution, accidents; Industry 4.0 is bringing new tools and methodologies to deal with that (Lee et al. 2014). These various components can be found in Figure 2.2, and a definition is proposed below for each point.



Figure 2.2: Key components of Industry 4.0

- Robots are essential for improving manufacturing processes. Connected and collaborative robots (cobots) make interactions possible between each other and users, to build more efficient production systems
- Big Data refers to advanced analytic techniques used to find value in the increasing volume and complexity of data
- With the amount of available data and computing power, more efficient simulations can be created. These allow to better optimize products and production systems, reduce costs and wastes from prototyping as it can be done virtually with different setups and an infinite amount of times
- Augmented reality gives the possibility to add virtual objects to the real world. Users can then interact with them through head-mounted displays, haptic sensors or by using their smartphones' cameras. It gives the opportunity to physically touch the virtual world

- The interconnection between devices through internet is called Internet of Things (IoT) or also Industrial Internet of Things (IIoT) in the industrial context, and it is one of the major components of Industry 4.0. Among other features, it gives the possibility for these devices to send and receive huge amounts of data, which allows creating value from it, as well as developing and using other features from Industry 4.0
- Cloud computing uses remote servers to store and process data. Instead of having the data locally, users can interact with it through internet. It enables several features such as long-time storage and backup or using specific software to analyze the data
- Additive manufacturing, also called 3D printing, refers to a process in which objects are created by adding materials layer by layer. This technology can be used to produce finished products as well as individual components that can then be incorporated into the design of other products
- Artificial Intelligence (AI) is a field of computer science dedicated to creating algorithms capable of performing tasks normally requiring human intelligence, such as visual perception, speech recognition, decision-making, or translation between languages
- Cybersecurity is the collection of technologies, practices, and procedures designed to protect networks, devices, programs, and data from attack, damage, or unauthorized access

This list of features is not comprehensive, but it brings a general overview of the various possibilities offered by Industry 4.0 (Vaidya et al. 2018). We can see that data is at the center of all these applications, either to use or create it. From this observation, we will discuss next the topics of data management in the Industry 4.0 context, as well as the major contribution brought by the Internet of Things.

2.1.2 Internet of Things and data management

Data in the Industry 4.0 context refers to a digital piece of information that can be stored, processed, shared in many ways. The process to convert physical or analog information to digital is called Digitization, whereas Digitalization is linked with the digital transformation of "traditional" processes or businesses by using digital tools or techniques (Brennen and Kreiss 2016). It is important to understand the difference between these two terms, as they are often used in the wrong context when discussing about the digital aspect of Industry 4.0.

2.1. INDUSTRY 4.0 PARADIGM

In this context of digitalization, the amount of data generated is increasing rapidly every year, and it is predicted in Figure 2.3 that the global size of the digital world will reach 175 Zettabytes by 2025 (Reinsel et al. 2018). To try and understand this number, one Zettabyte corresponds to one billion (10^9) Terabytes, or one trillion (10^{12}) Gigabytes. According to Reinsel (2021), half of this data will be coming from IoT devices in 2025.



Figure 2.3: Evolution of the size of the Digital Universe (Reinsel et al. 2018)

IoT devices are often defined as physical objects capable of sensing features from the real world. As they are also connected to the Internet, they can send to and receive data from other devices (Abu-Elkheir et al. 2013). They also integrate a CPU^3 that can be programmed to act depending on the data it processes. In this way, most of the IoT devices used in the private and industrial context are tagged as "smart", because they can sense the state of the physical asset and take actions accordingly (Diène et al. 2020).

The number of these devices is increasing rapidly, as shown in Figure 2.4. Three fourths of the total connections are expected to be from IoT devices in 2025, as they are being used more and more in various fields, whether it is for healthcare, industry, financial activities, or private use (Lueth 2020). The number of non-IoT devices (phones, PCs, laptops, tablets ...) will remain quite steady in the next few years. It can easily be explained because owners of these devices mostly possess one of each type, and their usage is punctual. In comparison, the use of IoT devices in the previously presented cases can require several of them, and they are most of the time sending data continuously, increasing at the same time the volume of data generated and stored globally (Vongsingthong and Smanchat 2015).

³CPU: Central Processing Unit



Total number of device connections (incl. Non-IoT)

Figure 2.4: Number of connected devices 2010-2025 (Lueth 2020)

After understanding the importance of the Internet of Things, the place it is taking today and the contributions it will bring tomorrow to the global data space, comes the question of how to organize these devices and the data they generate. To manage efficiently the connection and interconnection of the IoT devices, several architectures have been developed. Each can be independent or complementary, depending on which context they are used. These solutions are often compared by considering the distance between the management system, and the source of the data. Below will be presented the three main architectures, called respectively edge computing, fog computing and cloud computing.

Edge computing Edge computing is the data management system closest to the data source. It is named as such because it is located at the edge of the network used to address the data. The main benefit is having low latency regarding the connection and the data collect, as well as sending back instructions or actions into the source (Varghese et al. 2016). In this context we are talking about close to real-time interactions, allowing the system to be very reactive in case of sudden changes (Khan et al. 2019). We use the term online processing in this case. The main drawback of this architecture is the difficulty regarding the scalability of the system. It is most of the time designed for one or several assets and it can be challenging to upgrade it to handle more than its original purpose. For instance, computational power can be limited, as well as the number of connections it can manage. Edge devices are most of the time industrial PCs, optimized to resist in

difficult conditions. As an example, they are designed to be fanless to prevent any issues coming from dusty environments. These devices can also be directly the sensors themselves, the smart sensors or IoT devices discussed previously.

Fog computing Fog computing can be seen as being on top of the edge computing architecture. The major difference between fog and edge computing is that fog computing is using some of the features from the cloud computing architecture presented below. It uses server called fog nodes, which are still close to the data sources, and will most of the time address multiple edge devices. It is often described as a geographical distributed architecture (Atlam et al. 2018). This system is scalable depending on the requirements of each use case; however, the latency will be higher than for edge computing. A common use for fog computing is to provide a more global analysis of the data collected through the edge devices, by aggregating them and combining multiple types of data. One key feature from fog computing is to serve as an intermediate node for cloud computing, to reduce latency and storage issues (Bonomi et al. 2012).

Cloud computing Cloud computing is the architecture which is the farthest from the data source. It is often proposed as a service (IBM, Amazon, Google, Microsoft, OVH for example) for all sorts of companies, from startups and SMEs⁴, to large and global enterprises. The data is therefore stored inside massive data centers and made available remotely through a web browser for example (Kim 2009), for any user that has the necessary credentials. The main benefits from cloud computing are the long storage times, the high scalability of the architecture, making available advanced analyses and processing on the data. In the industrial context, we could say that edge computing will address one or several production machines for instance, fog computing can handle one or several plants at regional level, and edge computing is designed to deal with data coming from all plants, at a global level. However, latency is the highest due to the distance, making it impossible to consider real time processing of the data. The data processing is qualified as offline in the case of cloud computing, as it can process huge amounts of data, taking longer time. There is also often the question of privacy and security with cloud computing, as sensitive data can be hosted externally (Qian et al. 2009).

Table 2.1 summarizes the features, the benefits and the limitations of each solution, to understand better where to use them.

⁴SME: small and medium-sized enterprises

⁵API: Application Programming Interface

⁶PLC: Programmable Logic Controller

	Cloud computing	Fog computing	Edge computing			
Architecture	 The physical assets are located in a remote data center Each part of the data center is dedicated to a specific task: data collect, storage, analysis The data is accessed through the Internet, or using an API⁵ 	 The system is composed of fog nodes, which can be servers, computers, storage units. It is decentralized because at the edge of the network, but not necessarily physically close to the data source Fog computing can make the link between cloud computing and edge computing, by acting as a gateway to send data in both ways 	 Edge devices are physically close to the data sources. They can sometimes be the data source themselves, in the case of IoT devices which are equipped of sensors The information collected and processed can be pushed rapidly back to the data source, to act on the physical asset based on the different events observed 			
Main features Benefits	 High computing power Highly scalable Long-time storage High interoperability Advanced data processing 	 Close to the edge Sensitive data stored within the internal network High interoperability Scalability possible to address more devices Close to real-time interactions 	 Cheap solution per edge device Low latency, real-time interactions Take quick actions Possibility to interact directly with <i>PLC</i>⁶ 			
Limitations Drawbacks	 High latency and response time Power consumption, cooling system Privacy issues for sensitive data Potential bandwidth issues while sending data over Internet 	 Possible latency issues depending on the distance between the data source and fog node Using multiple node to send data to the cloud can create weak points in the architecture, or more opportunity for failure 	 Difficulties regarding scalability, each edge device has limited resources and they need to operate storage, collect, processing and communication of the data Interoperability is limited due to the design of the edge devices Sending data directly to the cloud can be challenging 			
Extra features Comments	• No maintenance required by customer	• Possibility to install fog nodes internally, externally, or in a hybrid manner	• The interactions with PLCs allow the development of powerful applications able to perform actions and make changes on the production system			

Table 2.1: Main features from each data management architecture

As previously discussed, data is at the center of Industry 4.0 and all the activities shown in Figure 2.2. The Internet of Things is the top contributor for data collection in this context and is helping this digital transformation of the industry (Sniderman et al. 2016). We have seen that more and more data is being generated, especially in the different industries, and that consequently, an efficient management system is required to extract value from this raw material. Different architectures exist, and they can be used independently or in a complementary way, based on the requirements and business model of the use case or the company itself. In the next part, we explore the different industrial maintenance policies existing today, to understand the influence Industry 4.0 had on them.

2.2 Definition of maintenance activities

Maintenance activities are often placed under the reliability engineering field. Reliability refers to the capability of a system to work under specified conditions during a certain period (Dhillon 2002). Consequently, the lower the reliability gets for an equipment, the more it will require maintenance actions to operate back in the correct state. Figure 2.5 shows a widely used representation of the failure rate for a given equipment over time. The function plotted is named "hazard function" and is of great interest in the reliability analysis context. The example shown in the figure is called "bathtub curve", due to its shape. The left part represents the early life of the equipment, and we can observe that the failure rate will decrease over time, until it reaches the center part. This decrease is explained by early changes in design to correct "infant mortality" failures. The center part follows the "normal" life of the equipment, where random failures can appear, but the rate is constant as it is assumed that all random failure events have the same probability of occurrence. Finally, we observe on the right side an increase of the failure rate, due to aging of the equipment and natural degradation from wear of its components.

Even though the use of this curve is debated among researchers, as stated by Klutke et al. (2003), the assumption of the three parts regarding the failure rate of a given equipment during its lifetime is relevant for production systems. From this curve, we can begin to picture that maintenance activities are required throughout the whole life cycle of any industrial equipment. Consequently, in this section we review and detail the existing maintenance policies from literature.



Figure 2.5: Bathtub curve used in reliability engineering

According to European standards and $AFNOR^7$, maintenance can be defined as such:

Combination of all technical, administrative and managerial actions during the life cycle of an item intended to retain it in, or restore it to, a state in which it can perform the required function. (NF EN 13306 2001)

The efficiency of those different actions will strongly depend on the maintenance strategy adopted by the industrial entity. Figure 2.6 shows the different types of maintenance policies that exist, and implemented across all industries.

Three principal categories of maintenance policies are defined: corrective, preventive and predictive. Some sub-categories exist, and are described below.

⁷AFNOR: French Standardization Association



Figure 2.6: Maintenance policies (Wang et al. 2015)

- Corrective maintenance: this strategy deals with machine failures after they appear
 - Deferred: corrective actions are postponed, for different reasons (not a priority action, no replacement parts, expert required) (Lind and Muyingo 2012)
 - Immediate: corrective actions are carried out directly after the failure happens (Lind and Muyingo 2012)
- Preventive maintenance: this second strategy is based on finding the optimal time to take corrective actions, four types of preventive maintenance exist, using different inputs to make decisions on maintenance actions:
 - Reliability-based: prioritizes maintenance actions according to the impact of failures on productivity (Vishnu and Regikumar 2016)
 - Time-based: maintenance actions are performed at a fixed frequency, it is not taking into account the current state of the machine (Horner et al. 1997)
 - Opportunity-based: uses planned or unplanned downtimes of machines to take corrective actions, to reduce production losses and improve machine reliability (Shafiee and Sørensen 2019)
 - Design-out: modification of the design of an equipment in order to remove any root cause of a failure (Mostafa et al. 2015)

- Predictive maintenance: its goal is to predict failures before they happen. It is done by monitoring continuously the assets to detect issues. Those detections are made possible by creating Health Indicators (HI) that will show the asset's degradation over time (Bashiri et al. (2011), Legát et al. (2017), Wang et al. (2007)). Two main categories are currently studied:
 - Statistical-based: uses mathematical techniques on data coming from the machines and its sensors, to estimate the time of appearance of the next failure. It allows an efficient planning of corrective actions during the time between the detection and the estimated time of the issue
 - Condition-based: thresholds are set on specific parameters to detect when a failure event is starting. It is often based on expert's knowledge, and experience from previous failures

Although the main maintenance policies are identified above, researchers still struggle to come up with a single hierarchy for these different activities. Three other representations are highlighted by Gackowiec (2019). To try and classify these policies, some groupings are introduced, and from one definition to another, some maintenance policies are observed in different categories. As a summary of these definitions, we observe that maintenance policies are either reactive or proactive, corrective or preventive, planned or unplanned. Reactive, corrective or unplanned maintenance happens after a failure has appeared on the equipment, while proactive, preventive or planned maintenance relates to all activities that take place before the appearance of any failure.

Consequently, we propose a hierarchy in Figure 2.7, based on the works from Sambrekar et al. (2018), Mostafa et al. (2015), Gackowiec (2019), and the observations done during this thesis work in various industrial contexts. The main goal is to have a clear understanding of each existing maintenance policy, and their position regarding equipment's failure management.

The main feature of this architecture is the grouping of maintenance policies under three categories. Reactive and corrective maintenance are put together, as they are most of the time defined as the same activity. They are dealing with maintenance actions after the failure has happened on the equipment. All policies taking actions before the occurrence of a failure are put behind the proactive maintenance category. Finally, the design-out maintenance is separated as this policy deals with changes in the design of the system to reduce maintenance actions. Therefore, a certain amount of time of usage is required to understand the root causes of the most impacting breakdown, and to identify the changes



Figure 2.7: Hierarchical overview of maintenance policies (adapted from Sambrekar et al. (2018), Mostafa et al. (2015) and Gackowiec (2019))

needed to be done (Muganyi et al. 2018).

Secondly, preventive maintenance is declined into two sub-categories. Preventive maintenance is designed based on $FMEA^8$ results, and a large number of companies use the time-based method, meaning that the maintenance actions are performed periodically and based on a calculated amount of time between each action (Cicek et al. 2010). Another method exists, based on the usage of the equipment. Here the scheduling of the maintenance actions will rely on periodic fixed number of cycles performed by the asset. Usage-based preventive maintenance is supposed to be more efficient, as it is taking into account the use and therefore the degradation coming from it. In the case of equipment running sporadically, the time-based method is less efficient and will generate unnecessary costs. We qualified the preventive maintenance category as risk-based, because as discussed above, the rules created are using the estimation of the risk linked to the appearance of any failure mode (Khan and Haddara 2003).

⁸FMEA: Failure Modes and Effects Analysis

The third noticeable addition to the architecture is the introduction of prescriptive maintenance. Prescriptive maintenance is defined as the next step of predictive maintenance. It integrates history of failures, understanding of root causes, and corrective maintenance actions associated to a specific detection of anomaly from the system (Khoshafian and Rostetter 2015). As a result, in addition to proposing an estimation of the remaining time before a failure happens (RUL^9), it also generates an action plan to the maintenance teams in order to do some verification, and specific tasks to try and increase this amount of time left (Sahli et al. 2021).

Finally, we grouped predictive and prescriptive maintenance together under a category that can be qualified as data-oriented. All the rules and decisions defined in these policies are linked to the analysis of data coming from the monitored system, whether it is process or sensors data. Three main architectures are identified here (Wang 2016), which change the way rules are created. The first category is using physical models to characterize the system, making it possible to have a precise monitoring of its behavior, and detecting early changes. The second category is purely based on data analysis, and it uses statistical methods or machine learning algorithms to predict the future behavior of the system. Some approaches use both in a hybrid manner, to get the advantages from the two solutions and to reduce their respective drawbacks and limitations. These features will be discussed in Section 2.3.3.

From this analysis of the literature on Industry 4.0 and industrial maintenance policies, we have seen that the digital transformation of industry also greatly impacted maintenance activities. Many works have been conducted and are still being carried out on the digitalization of maintenance, leading to the implementation of the predictive maintenance policy in all industries. As this topic is the core of the thesis work, we will next review the existing methodologies that help switching from a classical maintenance system to predictive maintenance. One of the goals will be to understand the role of data in this activity, and how it is used in industry, to perform this change.

⁹RUL: Remaining Useful Life

2.3 Methodologies for the implementation of predictive maintenance

We have seen that many research works focused on this topic over the past few years, to bring a new dimension to maintaining production equipment. The main features of predictive maintenance are the use of real-time data, and the remote monitoring of assets to propose high-end analyses, to detect equipment failures before they impact the production system (Rødseth et al. 2017). The most active research community is the PHM Society, which proposes a framework for implementing health monitoring in order to estimate the RUL of a given system. Standard methodologies are issued, from data collection and sensors selection, to the *prognostics* and decision systems regarding maintenance interventions (Lebold et al. 2003). Consequently, PHM is not only used to design predictive maintenance, it is a general methodology to maintain efficiently any type of engineering system. However, most predictive maintenance systems are built on the PHM methodology. Therefore in the next section, we introduce PHM and its framework, to try and understand how it can be applied for predictive maintenance.

2.3.1 PHM framework overview

We will first investigate the PHM methodology in order to understand the different activities that are part of the framework, and used to design such a monitoring system. Figure 2.8 explains the different features of this approach.

As shown in the figure, the framework is composed of three categories: "Observe", "Analyze" and "Act". The first steps within the "Observe" activity deal with the input data from the system. Mainly how to select, collect, store, and process the data, to create a standard structure. The second part "Analyze" is related to the different analyses made on the collected data. First, data is studied to understand the current status of the system. This allows to monitor the evolution of the system's behavior, and detect changes that can announce an incoming issue. Once this analysis is performed, it is possible to create indicators to detect these previous changes early, the main goal being to avoid these future issues when they happen again. Finally, the system must communicate these results efficiently to the end-users visually, and propose some actions to reduce the risks that a failure will impact the monitored system.



Figure 2.8: PHM cycle (Gouriveau et al. 2016)

The standard PHM process is represented in Figure 2.9, and below is proposed a summary of its different activities:

- The first step is to understand the potential use cases that would benefit from such a system, meaning that avoiding this kind of failure could save money and time
- Once the choice is made, an analysis on the required data is carried out to study the failure, as well as the data management system to put in place (collect, processing, storage, visualization)
- Measurement techniques must be studied to collect the necessary data in the most efficient way
- The diagnostics and prognostics phases are related to the analysis on failure data to better understand it, to detect it and predict it in the future
- Finally, the system is tested according to the initial goals, and end-users must be trained to use such a tool

Regarding the data management system, the organization "Machinery Information Management Open Standards Alliance" (MIMOSA) proposed a commu-

2.3. METHODOLOGIES FOR THE IMPLEMENTATION OF PREDICTIVE MAINTENANCE



Figure 2.9: PHM system design (Vogl et al. 2014a)

nication framework for dealing with data in a PHM system. It has been first developed by Lebold et al. (2003), and the architecture is shown in Figure 2.10. The Open System Architecture for Condition Based Maintenance (OSA-CBM) deals with all the data aspects of a PHM system, and its goal is to propose an interoperability between the communication devices. This architecture is composed of several blocks that help deploying the PHM framework previously discussed, as well as technical recommendations on hardware systems and communication protocols. Löhr and Buderath (2014) focused on implementing such system and improving its efficiency.

For the measurement techniques, some standards are issued to have a first hint of which data would be interesting and how it could be collected. The National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) issued some standards related to PHM and details every step of the methodology and the standards already in place on some specific aspects of the process. Some measurements techniques are shown in Figure 2.11. This list is not exhaustive compared to the possible use cases, but it gives some leads on which sensors and data to use in order to study the potential failures.



Figure 2.10: OSA-CBM architecture for PHM (Lebold et al. 2003)

Other standards are issued by IEEE (2017) on electronic systems, but the global methodology can also be reused on other topics. Figure 2.12 and 2.13 show both functional and operational aspects of this system. These architectures help defining and implementing practically the final PHM system. In the next sections, we will review in detail the different activities of the methodology, starting with the data selection process.

2.3.2 Data selection process for efficient monitoring of the system

The first and most important step of the PHM approach is the data selection, to study the system's failures. It is the basis on which all the system will stand. If the selected data cannot measure or explain the deviations and failure modes of the industrial process or equipment, a lot of time will be wasted. Many papers studied below propose to use FMEA¹⁰, to get a first idea of which parameters will be useful to detect failures. FMEA is a dysfunctional analysis that provides information on failures such as root causes, observed degradation and how to detect them (McDermott et al. 2009). Consequently, it is an important input for finding the correct parameters to monitor in order to understand and detect failures.

¹⁰FMEA: Failure Modes and Effects Analysis

2.3. METHODOLOGIES FOR THE IMPLEMENTATION OF PREDICTIVE MAINTENANCE

Machine type: Electric motor	Symptom or parameter change												
Examples of faults	Current	Voltage	Resistance	Partial discharge	Pawer	Torque	Speed	Vibration	Temperature	Coast down time	Axial flux	Oil debris	Cooling gas
Rotor windings	•				•	•	•	•	•		•		•
Stator windings	•							•	•		•		•
Eccentric rotor	•							•			•		
Brush(es) fault	•	•			•	•			•				
Bearing damage	•					•		•	•	•		•	
Insulation deterioration	•	•	•	•									•
Loss of input power phase	•	•						•			•		
Unbalance								•					
Misalignment								•					
Indicates symptom may occur or parameter may change if fault occurs.													

Figure 2.11: Monitoring techniques (Vogl et al. 2014b)

Laloix et al. (2018) proposed a structured methodology to define health indicators of a machining center, based on joint FMEA and $HAZOP^{11}$ methods. HAZOP is more flow-oriented and defines the deviations that can happen within a system. The complementary aspects of FMEA and HAZOP allow to identify efficiently the relevant parameters to be used, to create these health indicators.

Other research works proposed frameworks using FMEA in a different manner. Srivastava and Mondal (2015) used a modified $FMECA^{12}$ (Mod-FMECA) to quantify the outputs of failure modes, to detect and target deviations from the current process status: then maintenance teams can plan actions to correct the issue. The quantification of the output is based on machine performance. Brahim et al. (2019) transformed FMECA by including a *Bayesian Network* (BN), to incorporate the diagnostics and prognostics of failures using probabilistic models between each failure modes. The BN can be used with back chaining, to perform the diagnosis and identify the causes when a failure occurs, but also with front chaining, to estimate the probability that a failure will happen according to the

¹¹HAZOP: Hazard and Operability analysis

¹²FMECA: Failure Modes, Effects and Criticality Analysis

2.3. METHODOLOGIES FOR THE IMPLEMENTATION OF PREDICTIVE MAINTENANCE



Figure 2.12: PHM functional model (IEEE 2017)

actual status of the machine.

Li et al. (2017) worked on machine centers in the context of Industry 4.0, with the objective to propose a framework for predictive maintenance, with vibration, ultrasonic and acoustic sensors. The importance of selecting the correct parameters and related sensors is underlined, however the choice methodology is not detailed. In the proposed industrial use case, sensors were already implemented. Stanula et al. (2018) presented an approach for selecting data sources when using machine learning algorithms in industry. The concept of Cross Industry Standard Process for Data Mining (CRISP-DM) is introduced, which is a methodology to work on data mining projects for industrial applications. Figure 2.14 shows an improved version of CRISP-DM with technical considerations from the point of view of the engineer. The first input of the system is the *PFMEA*¹³, which gives information on the relevance of data to be used when working on specific failure modes.

Analysis of failure modes on a given equipment is important, to assess the risks linked with known possible issues on the system. It also gives relevant information on the causes and effects of these failures, which allow to identify parameters and data to be used for the predictive maintenance activity.

 $^{^{13}\}mathrm{PFMEA}:$ Process Failure Modes and Effects Analysis

2.3. METHODOLOGIES FOR THE IMPLEMENTATION OF PREDICTIVE MAINTENANCE



Figure 2.13: PHM operational process (IEEE 2017)

Functional and dysfunctional analyses are not the only ways to deal with data selection, other methods work directly on data to find relevant parameters that will help with the detection and prediction of failure modes. Dai and Gao (2013) reviewed the different approaches for Fault Detection and Diagnosis (FDD). They are classified into three groups: model-based that relies on physical models to understand and detect the failures, signal-based that consists in analyzing outputs from sensors measurements to work on failures, and knowledge-based, which involves machine learning techniques on historical database to extract knowledge of failures. As mentioned in this research work, all these approaches are data-driven, and most of the times, an efficient system will combine the three categories.

Fernandes et al. (2019a) worked on different data sources in the metallurgic industry to collect features, correlations and knowledge in order to implement a predictive maintenance system. Data mining and machine learning techniques were applied on this dataset, to discover new links between data, which allowed the creation of rules for predictive maintenance. The authors mentioned that some rules were already known from experts' knowledge, but some were newly discovered from the analyses, showing the interest of the approach.

One of the challenges of this topic is to evaluate the correct way to select the data, by applying the two approaches on concrete use cases. The difficulty might be to find an indicator to evaluate the relevance of the chosen parameters. One possible approach could be a joint step using both methods and selecting the parameters based on a correlation value on the results of the two processes.



Figure 2.14: CRISP-DM for engineers (Huber et al. 2019)

The data selection phase is important, but the data management system to collect and analyze this data also matters. In most reviewed papers, the data management system is not detailed, or is only valid for working on a specific use case during the experimentation phase. One of the observations from the literature is that there is a need to consider the data management system for the deployment in production and not only for testing and validating a model or an approach. It is a complete system that needs to operate in the given industrial context, in several plants, considering different data sources, and that interacts with plant's management, maintenance teams and operators. A validated approach on a specific machine or use case in a laboratory context might not be easily deployed in the industrial context, which has a lot of constraints, mostly regarding cybersecurity and costs.

After reviewing the existing approaches for an efficient data selection for the predictive maintenance framework, we will next study the available techniques to assess the current and future health state of the monitored system.

2.3.3 Health assessment

The next step of the framework is the health assessment of the system. Health assessment is often separated into two phases, diagnostics, and prognostics. The difference is shown in Figure 2.15: diagnostics will study the causes of a recorded failure, while prognostics will estimate the remaining time before the failure

happens, when detecting a previously observed pattern in the system's behavior.



Figure 2.15: Diagnosis and prognostic (Jouin et al. 2013)

The first studies were oriented on physics-based models, meaning that the research focused on understanding the physics phenomena at stake in the degradation process. In the recent years, with Industry 4.0 and the ease to perform advanced calculations on data, a new approach arose: the data-driven analysis. This method works directly on the collected data to detect changes and thus, a potential degradation of the system. This trend is reported by Lei et al. (2018) and shown in Figure 2.16. These approaches represented 80% of the produced literature over the past few years, separated into two parts: statistical-based approaches and AI (Artificial Intelligence) methods. The rest is physics-based and hybrid studies, which are much more complex to implement, but quite efficient in describing failure processes.

We will not address all the available techniques used in prognostics, only some approaches that could be of interest for our applications. Review papers such as the ones proposed by Dragomir et al. (2009), Si et al. (2011) and Lei et al. (2018) help understanding the main contributions of the different topics, with industrial applications involved, as well as challenges that remain in the field. Such challenges concern all the steps of the PHM framework: for instance data collection, the choice of model or technique to be used on data, and uncertainties of the designed systems. These review papers tend to agree on the efficiency of implementing data-driven approaches in the Industry 4.0 paradigm, with data being easily available, and because data analyses do not necessarily require "a priori" knowledge about the failures. We will discuss next the two main methods, which are statistical-based and AI-based. Most of the techniques discussed below will be presented in the Glossary, with key references given.



Figure 2.16: Health assessment approaches (Lei et al. 2018)

2.3.3.1 Statistical approaches

Statistical models are employed on monitored data to estimate their future state. Therefore, they are based on observations from the data, and RUL is often estimated as a probability that the monitored parameters will end up in a faulty state. These methods deal with uncertainties and allow modelling RUL without necessarily having historical failure data. One important term to define first is the *Autoregressive* (AR) model, as some variants are proposed in the next paragraphs.

Zhao et al. (2010) used *Principal Component Analysis* (PCA) on process data to get indexes that feed a *Bayesian Autoregressive* (BAR) model to estimate failure times. A comparison between prognostics based on *Autoregressive Moving Average* (ARMA) modeling and *Hidden Markov Model* (HMM) is proposed by Marjanović et al. (2011), to detect changes in a steam separator system. Results show slightly better performance for HMM, to estimate the time of the degradation of the system efficiency. However, the method employed does not work on RUL, it is a fault detection system. Fernandes et al. (2019b) proposed the use of *Autoregressive Integrated Moving Average* (ARIMA) on vibration data, to predict the interval of future values. Then incoming data is compared to the predicted interval, to detect anomalies and alert when a high number is observed.

One hybrid approach has been developed by Baptista et al. (2018). Prediction results from ARMA model are used in PCA, to get features about raw data that

are not correlated. This makes it able to be used as input of machine learning models to predict future time of failure of the system. A comparison is made between several models, and shows better results when using *Support Vector Machine* (SVM) as a regression model (*Support Vector Regression* (SVR)) to estimate failure time. Ruiz-Sarmiento et al. (2020) worked on a complete system to estimate the degradation state in the metallurgic industry, in order to propose a maintenance scheduling. Expert knowledge and sensor data are fused into a *Discrete Bayes Filter* (DBF) to determine the next state of the system from previous data. The prediction is made by estimating the future state of the system after several cycles, providing some inputs to the users about possible degradation. A comparison with classical regression models from Machine Learning is proposed, to validate the proposed method.

Some examples of RUL estimation from statistical models are proposed below. Figure 2.17 estimates RUL from probability that the system will have a failure after a number of cycles.



Figure 2.17: Survival modelling for RUL (Baru 2018)

Figure 2.18 works on failure data to estimate the current values according to previous observations. It allows estimating RUL based on previous failure events. This method is not necessarily easy to implement, because in the industrial context, failure events are scarce.

Figure 2.19 shows an approach based on a prediction of future value for a



Figure 2.18: Similarity modelling for RUL (Baru 2018)

parameter or a calculated indicator, that allows estimating RUL with probability that the predicted value will cross a failure threshold. This method implies that the failure threshold needs to be known.

Many methods and models exist with statistical approaches, one challenge for predictive maintenance is to understand which are the most efficient to use depending on the use case involved. To do so, a classification must be done to know the output of each method, to match the industrial objective and the expected result of the statistical approach. Requirements on the type of data to be used also need to be known.

2.3.3.2 Machine learning approaches

Machine learning approaches for predictive maintenance aim at discovering patterns within the collected data to understand how the system behaves, and how it will evolve. Most of the time, these models can be described as "black boxes" because the system will learn by itself, and the learning mechanism that leads to a result is not necessarily easily understandable by human. Below is presented some of the works that could be of interest for our industrial application.

Einabadi et al. (2019) used a *Multi-Layer Perceptron* (MLP) which is a type of *Artificial Neural Network* (ANN) for predicting RUL of machined parts in automotive industry. The prediction allows the scheduling of maintenance for the



Figure 2.19: Degradation modelling for RUL (Baru 2018)

faulty parts, and the schedule is updated when new sensor data enters the system. Li et al. (2017) proposed a predictive maintenance framework for machine center, to illustrate the different steps of PHM and how they interact between one another. The framework goes from data collection to the decision system from RUL prediction. An industrial use case is studied with the use of ANN to predict RUL of a machine center. Liu and Zio (2016) discussed a prediction algorithm based on SVM to predict peak values of a pump in the nuclear industry context. Predicting the peak values can be useful in the case where failures are due to the increase of the maximum value of a monitored parameter.

A dynamic predictive maintenance framework is proposed by Nguyen and Medjaher (2019), using *Long Short-Term Memory* (LSTM) network to estimate the probability that the system will fail within the different time frames of the maintenance planning. As a result, the designed system is optimized for applications with a strict maintenance schedule, such as aircrafts for instance, where maintenance interventions can only happen outside of flight time intervals. Lee et al. (2017) have been working on *Generative Adversarial Network* (GAN) to reduce the imbalance between faulty and good condition data within the datasets in order to train a *Deep Neural Network* (DNN) for failure classification. The idea behind the GAN is to generate extra data so that the trained model has enough "good" and "bad" data to efficiently detect machine failures.

The main difference between statistical and AI approaches can be seen in Figure 2.20. The data analysis part of the statistical methodology is separated

into different phases, when there is only one step regrouping everything for the AI methodology. Another noticeable difference is that the health indexes for the statistical approach are often created manually, whereas it is done automatically in the AI approach. This can lead to making the design of the system easier, but the interpretation of the results more difficult. However, the automatic aspect has the advantage of potentially finding more efficient data correlation that would not have been possible when doing the data preparation manually.



Figure 2.20: Machine health monitoring approaches (Zhao et al. 2019)

After reviewing the available techniques that can be applied on data to detect and predict failure modes, we will next review how the results from the analyses can be shared to users. A relevant communication is important, as the users need to have a clear understanding of the output from the analyses, to act and plan corrective actions accordingly.

2.3.4 Decision-making system

To design an effective decision system, the interconnection of all the information systems within a company greatly matters and makes it able to gather and aggregate a lot of information to feed the decision rules. As discussed in the introduction, the tools linked to data handling are changing rapidly, consequently there exist many ways of communicating and sharing results. Similarly, a lot of methods have been developed to support decision-making for users of these solutions.

Faiz and Edirisinghe (2009) defined a Decision Support System (DSS) as a computer-based tool helping decision-making by using incoming data and information. These tools can go from simple visualization or reporting of data, to complex systems using statistical or machine learning algorithms.

Bousdekis et al. (2019) organized the surveyed literature on decision-making systems for predictive maintenance under five topics.

- Maintenance scheduling, which refers to algorithms used to plan and recommend efficient maintenance actions
- Degradation-based algorithms, proposing decisions regarding maintenance actions to be performed according to the current and future health state of the equipment
- Joint optimization, which aims at finding the correct balance between equipment availability and maintenance interventions, according to business requirements
- Multi-component approaches, considering dependencies among components to optimize their maintainability, as well as multi-state methods that define several stages of health level for a given equipment and tailored decisions for each of them
- Costs and risks optimization algorithms supporting decision-making by evaluating the financial impact of various repair scenarios, or from the occurrence of a specific failure

Li et al. (2017) proposed a framework for predictive maintenance, composed of different modules. The decision support module is defined as a system that shares results from data analyses, and proposes corrective actions accordingly. The key features of this module are visualizations of the predictions and KPIs¹⁴ linked to the state of the monitored equipment, and recommendations regarding maintenance interventions.

Mourtzis and Vlachou (2018) presented a cloud-based environment capable of dynamically adapt maintenance scheduling, based on all the data collected in the plant through a sensor network. One of the main observations is the necessity of having interoperability within the system, meaning the possibility to communicate data and information among different layers of the information system of any company.

The decision-making aspect of the predictive maintenance system is a challenging part of the architecture. It needs to consider many parameters and can be greatly influenced by the choices made regarding the design of the ICT¹⁵. In this sense, Bousdekis et al. (2019) pointed out that the designed decision systems are often valid for the specific architecture mentioned in the reviewed papers, or

¹⁴KPI: Key Performance Indicator

¹⁵ICT: Information and Communications Technology

to solve issues linked to the studied industrial cases. Interoperability is key as this system will have to communicate with various entities and share data and information of different nature, using various communication protocols. With this topic also comes the question regarding the interpretability of the results proposed by the algorithms. Bousdekis et al. (2019) discussed the possibility of using more automated solutions to build these decision rules, however there is always a risk that the reasons behind a rule might not be understandable by humans. The main reason is the way correlations are found, using mathematical models that can be difficult to interpret. There is often a trade-off regarding the "prescription level" between experts' knowledge-based rules and rules created by data-driven techniques.

After understanding the key concepts of the predictive maintenance architecture, we review in the next section its main challenges and the difficulties observed in industry regarding its development and deployment. After this, it will be interesting for our research work to understand how predictive maintenance is used within the automotive industry, to highlight some key topics to consider and develop in the presented approach of the next chapters.

2.4 Applications of predictive maintenance

One of the recurrent themes of this research work is the challenging aspect of the development and deployment of the predictive maintenance solutions among the industrial practitioners. In this section, we investigate these difficulties mentioned in the literature, as well as how these research works are being carried out in the automotive industry context.

2.4.1 Challenges and adoption level

Many papers reviewed below have been presenting approaches to develop intelligent maintenance systems across different industrial fields with success, but the main statement from these papers is the same: it is still quite challenging for the industrial actors to implement an efficient predictive maintenance system. These challenges are of different natures, but all coming from the complexity of such systems, because they deal with a lot of engineering fields. As an example, the deployment of a predictive maintenance solution on a specific machine will involve knowledge on the process, mechanical understanding of the system and related to the failure modes, knowledge on data collect, storage, analysis, and the place of the user must be taken into consideration: interactions, visualizations, alerting.

To illustrate this statement, the existing standards and methodologies for PHM implementation help understanding the full scope of such a system because the different functional blocks are clearly identified; however, its deployment in a real context can be demanding. As mentioned by Sheppard and DeBruycker (2018), the PHM topic is a rather new engineering discipline, and the various fields touched by PHM, such as data management, are constantly technically evolving, making it difficult to come up with a general standard. Moreover, even if the end solution must comply with different industrial contexts, specific local needs and requirements will impact the design of the final system deployed. These local features might impact the end solution and require some extra developments relevant only in this context.

To tackle these challenges, Garcia et al. (2019) proposed a methodology to design a predictive maintenance system, by describing the needs and requirements from the industrial actors. The goal is to have guidelines for implementation of predictive maintenance systems without being focused on a specific industry. Similarly, a framework is proposed by Schmidt et al. (2017), to manage the data through the different information systems available in the industrial context. The methodology and solution presented in this research work use bricks coming from these requirements, as well as parts of the PHM methodology.

A full system is described by Mourtzis and Vlachou (2018). A cost-efficient solution for the shop floor is proposed, using Raspberry Pi devices and micro controllers, and also proposing state of the art communication between a cloud platform where the analyses are made, and the previous devices through *Open Platform Communications Unified Architecture* (OPC UA) protocol. Ayvaz and Alpay (2021) and Bourezza and Mousrij (2020) proposed a system based on machine learning analysis applied on data coming from IoT systems. A solution is proposed by Cachada et al. (2018), based on the PHM principles, with various modules to manage the data such as the integration of augmented reality, to improve the decision-making system.

Three challenges of the current developments are shown and answered through a technical solution by Christou et al. (2020), mainly the scattered data across different information systems, the difficulties to have multivariate analyses and the lack of possibilities to act directly on the production system according to predictions made. From these observed challenges, it is necessary to propose a solution that integrates several blocks to answer the common needs regarding predictive maintenance, while giving the opportunity to customize it according to specificities that can be encountered in the different industries.

An increasing number of papers are also studying the financial impact of the development and deployment of predictive maintenance solutions. As we have seen previously, it requires multiple investments, related to the ICT, but also regarding sensors and software solutions to process the data. Consequently, companies must be aware of these costs, and compare them with the expected benefits (Tiddens et al. (2020), Arora et al. (2021)). This is even more true for SMEs¹⁶, where any new project needs to have identifiable return on investment, which can be difficult to justify when starting the predictive maintenance journey (Krupitzer et al. 2020). Moreover, in addition to the investments in software and hardware, skilled people also need to work on these topics, creating major changes in any company's organizational structure (Khan et al. 2022).

Finally, one of the key elements that appear in the previous papers and in Isaksson et al. (2018) is the benefit to use open standards, and open-source software, because it allows a high flexibility for the development of all these applications. It also answers partially the issues regarding costs mentioned previously. This flexibility is required in the industrial context because there are specific needs and requirements. Therefore, and it is illustrated by the papers, specific developments are made to implement the most efficient systems (Achouch et al. 2022), making it difficult to implement such solutions in different contexts. This also constitutes a major challenge because it is quite difficult to develop non-domain-centric applications. Consequently, as discussed in introduction and in this paragraph, the flexible aspect of the predictive maintenance system must originate from the tools used to apply the methodology behind it.

2.4.2 Predictive maintenance in automotive industry

The PHM Society website proposes articles tagged as automotive industry topics, but most of them are dealing with embedded components within a vehicle, and not the production systems used in automotive industry, which is the topic of this thesis work.

Brown et al. (2009) proposed a diagnostics-prognostics solution to estimate in real-time the RUL of an Electro-Mechanical Actuator (EMA). When the RUL is estimated, and depending on the remaining time the vehicle needs to operate, a reconfigurable system is designed so that the EMA remains in suitable condition

 $^{^{16}\}mathrm{SME}:$ small and medium-sized enterprises
for the rest of the vehicle mission. In the presented use case, it is done by reducing the input current of the motor, and by doing such, the RUL is increased, while the efficiency of the system is decreased.

A prognostics system based on the Cox Proportional-Hazards Model is proposed by Sankavaram et al. (2016). This model is mainly used in medical research but is applied here using failure data and real-time data coming from the monitored systems. It is applied on two automotive systems, to validate the approach and estimation of RUL. Kleyner et al. (2017) used RUL prediction to estimate when a component will fail, thus reducing the need for cycle testing the robustness of a component. It is tested on Power Electronic Controller and Engine Controller Unit, both systems are used inside cars. The goal is to reduce the number of tests done on these parts, and therefore the costs of testing. However, as mentioned by Kleyner et al. (2017), this method needs to be developed and accepted by the community, because the prognostics need to be accurate enough to be trusted by the industrial actors. This last statement is often true for topics related to replacing part or totally some manual checking by automatic systems. These actions are most of the time required by customers, and therefore any modification needs to be thoroughly reviewed and validated.

Other works exist but tagged as predictive maintenance, as such, most of the time the papers focus on specific parts of the PHM methodology, for instance the data collection and the analyses, or the study of prognostics models on datasets that are available online.

Einabadi et al. (2019) proposed a methodology for maintenance scheduling according to RUL prediction on machined parts in automotive industry. The use of machine learning models, more particularly Neural Networks, allow an efficient estimation of RUL from machine data input (vibrations, temperature, energy consumption). A Bayesian Network (BN) designed from FMECA is proposed by Brahim et al. (2019). The resulting is a BN that can be used for the diagnosticsprognostics steps of the PHM framework, because the system can link back to the cause when a failure happens, and an estimation of a failure event can be made knowing all the probabilities of the tree of failures.

Voisin et al. (2010) proposed one of the first platforms for predictive maintenance in the automotive context (Fiat, Volvo), based on MIMOSA and OSA-CBM standards (improved with several modules). Predictive maintenance was applied by Sanz et al. (2021) in the automotive sector context, in a painting shop of the Volkswagen Group (SEAT plant - Spain). A framework is described, built on Industry 4.0 tools and Industrial Cloud using Amazon Web Services. Within this framework, several activities are described, from data collect and storage, to providing prognostics results on four industrial cases.

Fernandes et al. (2021) proposed to use Business Process Model and Notation (BPMN) as a way to model the processes linked to predictive maintenance, in the industrial context (Renault Cacia plant - Portugal). It allowed to precisely describe the action plan, as well as the different systems responsible for each activity. In addition, it can be used as training material to involve more actors in such project. Dremel et al. (2017) discussed the journey of Audi AG towards digital transformation. One of the key topics is related to data collect when vehicles are being used, to propose advanced descriptive and predictive analytic. As such, predictive maintenance is considered as a service to be provided to car users, to improve maintenance actions required on cars.

2.5 Synthesis of the literature review

Through this state-of-the-art review, we observed that the PHM methodology is validated to design the various predictive maintenance frameworks proposed in the reviewed papers. The different steps of PHM presented in section 2.3.1 are standardized and are most of the time the basis of most of studied articles, even if it is not always mentioned.

Regarding the data and features selection, two approaches are investigated in section 2.3.2, based on experts' knowledge and functional analyses, or directly on data by using data-driven techniques to extract knowledge. One area of investigation will be to find the most effective approach, which will most likely depend on the type of failure use case studied. Concerning the diagnostics and prognostics aspect of the PHM methodology (section 2.3.3, two main approaches were described, one based on statistical models, and the other one on Artificial Intelligence. Both approaches are efficient in predicting RUL in the reviewed papers, however it strongly depends on the available data and the final objective of the designed system. A benchmark of the different techniques seems necessary when designing a complete predictive maintenance system, as one model might be more efficient in a certain context compared to another one. Finally, we briefly discussed the decision-making aspect of the predictive maintenance system in section 2.3.4. This topic is probably the most challenging one within the architecture, as it deals with several issues. Many possibilities exist to propose recommendations as an output of the system, and these can be influenced by the initial design of the ICT solutions.

From all these observations, we reviewed the known challenges linked to the practical implementation of predictive maintenance in section 2.4.1, as well as the initiatives within the automotive sector in section 2.4.2. These two topics high-lighted some key themes to be considered when developing such solution. The difficulties found in the literature are of different nature, as this topic is multi-disciplinary. Mainly, we observed that the process of developing and deploying predictive maintenance requires new skills not commonly found yet in companies, investments can also play a role in these issues as the first-time costs can be high. The financial issue is especially true for SMEs, and more and more papers are looking to develop cost-efficient solutions. To do so, we discussed the possibility to use open-source software that are more and more used in industry.

For the application of predictive maintenance in the automotive industry, we observed that major automotive companies are working closely on this topic. We discussed in section 1.2.1 the challenges of the automotive sector, but also of its innovative aspect that often impacted the whole industrial world. Predictive maintenance is one of the topics of high interests for car manufacturers and automotive suppliers, and the literature also shown many papers dealing with predictive maintenance of vehicles themselves (Arena et al. 2021). A summary table is proposed in Figure 2.21, to highlight the expected contributions of this research work.

Finally, one of the observations made on the studied papers shows that many deal operationally with a partial aspect of the PHM framework (in the industrial context) or propose a conceptual framework for predictive maintenance. However, considering the requirements and limitations of the industrial world when implementing a full diagnostics-prognostics system that will collect, analyze, and alert users is the core of the challenges discussed previously, and maybe less studied. Such considerations greatly matter, as the economic aspect might infer with results found when experimenting with software and hardware that are not suited for the industrial context. However, in the past years, more research works presented approaches for the development and implementation of a full predictive maintenance system in various industrial contexts. This also shows that the predictive maintenance topic is getting more and more mature, reinforced by the global digitalization of industry and the availability of tools able to shape operationally the theoretical features of this system.

Industrial implementation of the system				7	>			1		7						7			7		1
Industrial use case			>	>	>	>	7	1	>	7	>	1	~	7	1	>	7	1	>	1	1
Prognostics proposed (RUL estimation)	>					7	7	1		7			~		1		1	1		1	1
Fault Detection system proposed		>	>	>	>					>	>			>		>			>		^
Model benchmarking						7				>	>		>						>		1
Real-time data used	1						7	1		~					~				~		1
Process or shop floor data used		>								>									>		~
Sensor data used			>			>	>		>		>		~		~	>	>	1	>	1	~
Historical data used				>	>	~	7		~		>		~				~	1	>	1	1
AI approache s used					>	1			1	~	>		~		1		1	1	~	1	1
Statistical model used	>	>	>				7	1		~	>			1		>			>		1
Data- driven approach	>	>	>		>	>	7	~	>	>	>		~	>	~	>	>	~	>	~	~
Data management system deta∎ed										^											۷
Data storage detalled																			~		1
Data selection process detailed	>			>	>	>			>			1	~	~		>		1	>	1	1
Expert knowledge used												1							>		1
	[Brown et al. 2009]	[Zhao et al. 2010]	[Marjanović et al. 2011]	[Srivastava and Mondal 2015	[Liu and Zio 2016]	[Malhotra et al. 2016]	[Sankavaramet al. 2016]	[Kleyner et al. 2017]	[Lee et al. 2017]	[Li et al. 2017]	[Baptista et al. 2018]	[Laloix et al. 2018]	[Zhang et al. 2018]	[Brahim et al. 2019]	[Einabadi et al. 2019]	[Fernandes et al. 2019b]	[Nguyen and Medjaher 2019]	[Zhou et al. 2019]	[Ruiz-Sarmiento et al. 2020]	[Wu et al. 2020]	This thesis

2.5. SYNTHESIS OF THE LITERATURE REVIEW

Figure 2.21: Summary table

2.5. SYNTHESIS OF THE LITERATURE REVIEW

Chapter 3

Proposition and application of a methodology to move from corrective to predictive maintenance

Contents

3.1	3.1 Framework for predictive maintenance					
3.2	Оре	rational aspect of the framework	55			
	3.2.1	Data management architecture	56			
	3.2.2	Presentation of the proposed approach	59			
3.3	App	lication of the framework	62			
	3.3.1	Use case identification	63			
	3.3.2	Failure understanding	64			
	3.3.3	Data collection	66			
	3.3.4	Data exploration	68			
	3.3.5	Proposed solution	70			
3.4	Case	e of failures with low occurrences	71			
	3.4.1	Global maintenance data analysis	71			
	3.4.2	Finishing centers: band heaters	73			
	3.4.3	Blow Molding Machines: rotating equipment and hy-				
		draulics	76			

3.5 Overview of the results and discussion						
3.5.	Results	79				
3.5.	Limitations and opportunities	80				
3.6 Co	nclusion	82				
3.6.	Scientific contributions	83				
9.0						

This chapter is dedicated to describing our predictive maintenance framework, and how it was applied for our industrial application. First, we detail the framework that was developed from the results of the literature review and with the first industrial application chosen for predictive maintenance. In a second part, the data management architecture is discussed, as it is a major part of the predictive maintenance system. Then, we describe the application of this framework on a specific industrial use case. The different stages are explained, from the choice process for predictive maintenance to the results obtained from the application of the framework. Some specific use cases are then discussed, as they have low occurrences in our industrial application. However, their study in the predictive maintenance framework is relevant and pointed out some extra points to be considered for this work. Finally, we analyze the results and the limitations observed during the development of the system, which lead to highlighting some key opportunities to improve the framework and the operational methodology.

3.1 Framework for predictive maintenance

The literature review and the functional analysis proposed in Figure D.1 helped determining the key activities to consider when developing a predictive maintenance system. As a result, to deal with the challenges and opportunities discussed previously, a framework is proposed in Figure 3.1. It is based on the works from Lebold et al. (2003) and the method proposed in IEEE (2017). It takes into account experts' knowledge for machines parameters to be identified and monitored, as well as data-driven methods to be implemented in the condition monitoring and prognostics phases.

This framework was developed and tested jointly with the first industrial use case presented in Section 3.3, where it will be discussed more in details. For each feature of the system, major activities to develop were identified, as well



Neural Network

Figure 3.1: Framework for predictive maintenance

as the engineering or computing tools that are key contributors to achieve this development.

Below is proposed a summary of the concepts represented in the figure:

- The objectives that are the categories coming from the PHM framework
- The criteria, which are the inputs of each category, and help understanding the requirements and the possibilities
- The tools are the technical assets used to develop each category, they can be of different types: data, software, concepts

After detailing the key concepts of the framework proposed for the implementation of predictive maintenance, we will next discuss how it was applied for our industrial application. This will help detailing the different steps of the methodology and explain how it can be implemented in the industrial context.

3.2 Operational aspect of the framework

The operational methodology helps understanding the process behind the implementation of the system. It makes the link between the tools mentioned in the framework and the different activities related to the development and deployment of the predictive maintenance system.

3.2.1 Data management architecture

To understand how the framework will be used in the industrial context, it is first necessary to introduce the data management architecture that was set. The global architecture is shown in Figure 3.2.



Figure 3.2: Architecture of the information system

The architecture has two levels: the plant's level that is dealing with data locally, by collecting, storing, and analyzing data from the plant's machines. The second level is global, at the company level. Here the data is collected from each plant, to create global applications such as dashboards or data analyses.

- The plant level is composed of the local SCADA (Supervisory Control And Data Acquisition) and MES (Manufacturing Execution System) systems. In addition, extra systems are deployed, such as the Edge Computing, which incorporates three open-source software: Node-RED, InfluxDB and Grafana. The main benefits of these tools are the high flexibility and the important number of features that are proposed and maintained by the community. This package allows collecting, storing, and making analyses on data, as well as creating visualization dashboards and alerting systems via various communication channels
- The company level, which is composed of a *Data Lake* that gathers data from all the plants. The goal is to work on aggregated data to train models of prediction, for both quality and maintenance services. Then, these trained models are reinjected at the plant's level, to monitor the production

systems locally

The main benefit from this architecture is to be able to analyze the collected data locally (i.e., within the plant) from the different data sources. Once this local analysis is carried out, interesting data can be moved at the global level, where more advanced data analyses are performed. The main benefit is the reduction of the use of the bandwidth, by not sending all raw data into the data lake, and thus it is possible to decrease its size. Indeed, the costs of implementation and maintenance get higher with the size of the data management system.

As stated by Cara et al. (2019), the SCADA system in place ($DASIP^1$) ensures the stability of the quality of the manufactured parts, by using a knowledge-based corrective approach. However, it was not designed for proposing a solution for real-time monitoring of health statuses of the production system. Nevertheless, the methodology employed to develop the tool is based on FMEA, and critical parameters are monitored to ensure a good process control, which is a strong basis for starting the implementation of a predictive maintenance approach. The MES (PES^2) also provides some important context data that can be attached to data from the process and the machines. For instance, knowing the status of the machine, the name of the part produced, or the number of parts scrapped in a given period of time can help defining extra indicators. This new information can help classifying other data for example.

Consequently, our Edge Computing system was tested and implemented within plants, to make the link between different applications and collect data from various sources. This system is the basis on which was built the predictive maintenance system in our industrial application. The detailed architecture is shown in Figure 3.3. The standard install of this system is done on a Virtual Machine within the plant's server (similar to Fog Computing) but was named Edge Computing because the same system can be installed locally on an industrial computer. The server is physically located in the plant, on both the machines' network and the global network of the company. As such, it is accessible through the network, and from any location worldwide. This system allows making the convergence between IT and OT (Operational Technology), as it incorporates IT tools that interact with OT devices. As seen previously, IoT devices are also part of the enablers linked to such convergence.

¹DASIP: Data Acquisition System for Industrial Processes

²PES: Plant Execution System



Figure 3.3: Architecture of the Edge Computing system

Node-RED (O'Leary and Conway-Jones 2013) is the center part of the system. It is a visual programming tool, where nodes that have different functions interconnect to create an application that is most of the time linked to IoT. Node-RED is using JavaScript (Crockford 2008) as its programming language, and because it is open-source, many nodes are created and then shared by companies or users. In most of our use cases, the application is connecting directly to the PLC of the machine through the network to collect its data. It has many benefits, because there is no need to modify the programs inside the PLC or stop the machine to install such monitoring system. The software collects the data and makes the connection to the database to store it. We also use it to make the analyses on data and the real-time detection of failures.

InfluxDB (Naqvi et al. 2017) is an open-source database. It is optimized for *time series* data collect. It allows creating very efficient monitoring of what is happening in real-time. It is possible to set data retention policies, meaning that data will be erased cyclically based on the chosen time window.

Finally, Grafana (Chakraborty and Kundan 2021) is the software that we use in order to create dashboards. It can connect to many databases, including InfluxDB. As it is also an open-source software, many new visualizations are proposed by the community, as well as the developers of the solution.

3.2.2 Presentation of the proposed approach

To investigate machines failures with a predictive approach, our first step consists in editing a Pareto of the most impacting breakdowns on the production system. Criteria used are the total breakdown time, occurrence and costs of both repairs and non-production time. It is done by analyzing the ERP^3 that contains all the data from breakdown events: time to repair, costs, parts used to repair. Therefore, the methodology can be defined as cost-oriented because the final goal is to reduce the financial impacts of unplanned downtimes. It is important to involve the experts (maintenance, process, automation) during this first step, to validate the list of use cases and to collect the feedback from their experience.

Next, we need to get a first hint about the degradation processes involved in the selected failure(s), which can be determined from the FMEA. In our case, we are using PFMEA that is process oriented. Failures risks are listed, giving also a first idea of which parameters should be monitored to detect each issue. Experts' knowledge is a very important input, as mentioned by Baglee and Jantunen (2014), it is the first entry point for understanding failure mechanisms. Ideally, these inputs should help capitalizing on their experience, and lead to providing extra knowledge such as shown in Figure 2.11.

After that, the availability of the chosen data needs to be studied on the selected case(s). In this context, availability means that the information is made available digitally, and that the data management system is capable of connecting to the source of this data, and collect it using a specific communication protocol. We will see that in industry, PLCs are often the main source of data, as they contain all the instructions for the process, as well as sensors' data. If the data that must be collected by the monitoring system is not available, several possibilities exist as shown in Table 3.1.

A first strategy for data collection and analysis also comes with this study, in terms of frequency of collect, and data manipulations to extract interesting features. In addition, a classification of the data can be made upon various criteria. The idea is to add extra information to the collected data, this process is called *tagging*, and it brings many benefits. The main objective is to define specific contextual information attached to the data, for instance it can be linked to the name of the machine, the manufacturing process, the status of the system. Efficient tags can provide many insights around the data, and enable advanced

³Enterprise Resource Planning

Cause of unavailability	Solution
Data does not exist	Study the implementation of extra sensors to collect the necessary data
	Create the required data from raw data (feature engineering)
Machine not connected	Add network card to PLC to access data
	Use OPC server to access data
	Use an edge device connected to both the machine and company's network
Interoperability issue	Use a different communication protocol to address the data
	Export and read data through a flat-file structure

Table 3.1: Solutions for data availability

features linked to data visualization and analysis. For example, data classification makes possible the use of supervised machine learning techniques.

After this phase of data collection come different steps of data monitoring. Many methods exist to construct knowledge related to changes in data, in order to estimate the state of the monitored system (section 2.3.3). Some approaches are proposed in Table 3.2. The main goal is to develop a first system that will help detecting signals or patterns announcing a possible occurrence of the monitored failure.

The health assessment step from the framework is designed to investigate more in detail the anomalies found in data, and if possible, to create Health Indicators (HIs) that represent the evolution of the behavior of the system. As seen in the previous table, some approaches do not necessarily require failure data to implement a monitoring system. However, as the solution will eventually face the failure that it was designed to detect, this assessment step can help validating and improving the methods in place. As a result, depending on the choices made in the previous stage of the methodology, condition monitoring and health assessment can be done jointly.

In the prognostics phase, methods are applied to HIs to automatically detect changes in the data, and therefore a modification in the behavior of the system. The objective is to use these patterns previously discovered to estimate when

Approach	Detail	Main features
Thresholds	Use experts' knowledge to put limits on the data (example: ISO 10816-3 for vibration)	Easy to implement from startNot necessarily suited for complex failures
Run-to- failure	Record failure event and analyze its data	 Efficient to identify failure patterns Not suited for failures with low occurrence
Anomaly detection	Using healthy data	 Easy to implement from start Requires knowledge about healthy state Difficulties linked to anomalies identification
	Using failure data	 Train model to detect anomalies automatically Can require many events for efficient training Not suited for failures with low occurrence

Table 3.2: Data-driven approaches to investigate failures

the system will reach a critical point. We have seen previously many methods able to provide such information, but the key aspect here is to consider the clear identification of the state of the system, to give valuable insight to the users. The result of prognostics can be a detection of a signal that previously led to a failure, or an estimation of the time left before the failure happens (RUL).

The last part of the process is focusing on the development of recommendations, based on the results from prognostics. The goal is to automatically propose information or actions to the end-users of the solution. Many outputs can be considered from this step, such as alerts, maintenance recommendations, automatic modifications of process parameters, maintenance planning. The use of one or several outputs depends on many factors that are evolving throughout the development of the solution, but their availability as features of the predictive maintenance system is a necessity to propose efficient solutions.

Finally, as observed in the framework, data visualization is placed on top of many activities. Visual observation of the data is one of the most important aspects of any data-driven system, especially for predictive maintenance where mainly time series data is used. As discussed previously, failure mechanisms are evolving with time, therefore it is important to have records of data following these trends. Data visualization often includes several "layers" that are designed for different users and linked with various type of data. As an example, data visualization for exploration by a data scientist will be very different compared to a visual dashboard designed to share results from prediction to maintenance operators.

We propose to put the figure of the framework a second time below, to ease the understanding of the text above.



In the next section, we discuss the application of this framework on a first industrial use case, after understanding the different steps of the implementation of predictive maintenance.

3.3 Application of the framework

The first application of the framework took place in the plant located in Compiègne (France). The proximity between the plant and the research & development center makes it attractive to test locally the solutions proposed by the Digital Manufacturing team. It is important to mention that the CES division is composed of nearly 40 plants (Figure A.1), and that consequently the developments made and tested in one plant will necessarily generate interest for other plants. The main reason behind this statement is that the machines and processes used within plants are the same, even if some machines designs may differ from one region to another. In the context of the company, we call regions the three major areas of operation: Asia, Europe, and Americas.

3.3.1 Use case identification

As discussed in Chapter 1, the competitive nature of the industrial context requires the choice approach for dealing with failures to be pragmatic. Consequently, the proposed procedure is above all cost-oriented, meaning that each use case that will be worked on needs to generate a payback when implementing a predictive system. As discussed in the previous section, the first step of the process is to understand what the most impacting failures on the production systems are. The main goal is to answer the questions below:

- Does the failure have high occurrence?
 - If so, then failures that have a high ratio of breakdown time and repairs costs must prioritized
 - Else, failures that have the most financial impact when they occur must be prioritized
- Is the failure impacting a majority of plants?
- Is the failure known by experts? Has it been studied before?
- Is data about the failure available?

In this local context, we are not considering the second question, as the study was first conducted within one plant. However, the analysis of the impact of this first use case globally is discussed later.

Figure 3.4 below describes this choice process.



Figure 3.4: Operational choice process

The first step of our experimentation was to study the breakdowns data from the plant, during the whole year of 2018. It has been done by extracting data from SAP⁴, which is the ERP system used by the company. ERP systems contain many data, in our case it also incorporates data from the maintenance department, such as the number and costs of maintenance interventions, but also various details about failures.

Some visualizations were created in order to understand better the extracted data, Figure 3.5 shows the Pareto created for the plant. As it may not be very visible here, this graph shows for each type of breakdown, its total time and cost of spare-parts for 2018. The analysis is made on all the machines of the plant, including utilities. A complete detail of the production process can be found in Appendix C. The failure that is ranked first here is related to the welding units located on the finishing centers of the plant, which represents approximately 15% of the total breakdowns in terms of costs and time for the plant.



Figure 3.5: Breakdown Pareto of Compiègne plant 2018

The use case was validated with the local plant's team, through a list of impacting breakdowns, and the choice to work on failures with high occurrence. It was also validated with other plants of the division, to be chosen as the first use case for predictive maintenance. The process is detailed in Figure 3.6.

3.3.2 Failure understanding

We combined experts' knowledge about both process and failure, as well as data from the PFMEA⁵ done on the welding unit. An extract is shown in Figure 3.7. Two main components are at stake during the chosen process, the band heater that will heat the part to be welded on the tank, and the thermocouple that is used for the regulation of the temperature. A regular manual verification of the temperature is done by the maintenance team, to ensure that the thermocouple is providing accurate information to the system. A failure of the thermocouple

⁴SAP: Systems, Applications and Products in Data Processing

⁵PFMEA: Process Failure Modes and Effects Analysis



Figure 3.6: Choice process for the first use case

means that the regulation system will overheat, and damage both the band heater and the part heated (called mirror). A failure of the band heater will lead to a machine stop due to incapability to perform welding.

Process	Equipment 🗸	Process #	Equipme nt #	Process Operation / Requirement	Potential Failure	Mechanism(s) of Failure and related Potential Cause(s	Potential Effect(s) of Failure	Current Process Controls Prevention	Current Process Controls Detection
Welding	Penetrating hot	110	40	Weld penetrating	Component	Wrong	Internal - Scrap (7)	Preventive maintenance	Visual inspection (8)
	plate welding			components	damaged	temperature	External OEM Plant - Rework (6) End User - Fuel leak (10) or DEF leak (8) or Permeability not assured (10)	Machine set-up file	Temperature process parameter alarm (CritiPar) (1)
Welding	Penetrating hot	110	40	Weld penetrating	Component	Wrong Pressure (at	Internal - Scrap (7)	Preventive maintenance	Visual inspection (8)
	plate welding			components	domaged	any of the 4 phases)	External OEM Plant - Rework (6) End User - Fuel leak (10) or DEF leak (9) or Permeability not assured (10)	Machine set-up file	Hot Plate Welding Pressures process parameter alarm (CritiPar with Block Program) (2)
Welding	Penetrating hot	110	40	Weld penetrating	Component	Wrong Time (at any	Internal - Scrap (7)	Preventive maintenance	Visual inspection (8)
	plate welding			components	damaged	of the 4 phases) (including withdrawal time)	External OEM Plant - Rework (6) End User - Fuel leak (10) or DEF leak (8) or Permeability not assured (10)	Mochine set-up file	Hot Plate Welding Time process parameter alarm (CritiPar) (2)

Figure 3.7: Extract of PFMEA for the welding unit

In Table 3.3, we detailed the possible failures that can be observed on the two components, by taking into account the issues that can be caused by the process.

The internal rule within the PLC^6 that is monitoring the temperature has several effects. It is verifying the temperature sent by the thermocouple during the welding operation, as it should be within a certain range around the temperature setpoint. If the observed temperature is outside of range for more than one second, then the weld is considered as poor, and the part is scrapped. If the temperature continues to evolve outside of the range, then the maintenance team will plan a corrective intervention to check the thermocouple.

⁶PLC: Programmable Logic Controller

Component	Failure mode	Failure cause	Failure effect	Current control	
Thermocouple	Damaged wire	Repetitive bending	Wrong temperature data	PLC internal rule*	
		Cable cut during process	No temperature data	Zero threshold	
	Sheath breach	Overheating from band heater	Wrong temperature	PLC internal rule	
		Physical damage during process	Wrong/no temperature	PLC internal rule Zero threshold	
Band heater	Mechanical issue	Damage during movement Loose implementation	Overheating Material lost	Visual control	
	Damaged wire	Cable wear Process movements	Wrong/no heating	Regulation loop	
	Electrical issue	Ageing Repeated heating cycles Short circuit	No heating	Regulation loop	
*Temperature data is checked with a threshold, during the welding operation					

Table 3.3: Potential failures list on welding units

Several automated rules are programmed within the PLC, to ensure that the process runs smoothly, according to rules edited by experts. However, they are not necessarily efficient for maintenance activities, as they will alert after the issue is observed, or when the rule is triggered.

After this first step that allowed a better understanding of the failure, we will next discuss the data collection phase.

3.3.3 Data collection

The study of the failure modes, with the help of several experts, helped determining a first list of parameters to be monitored, as shown in Table 3.4.

Below, we provide more details regarding the collected data, as well as the data management strategy:

- The temperature data is provided by the thermocouple and used in the PLC program for various purposes. We collect it at the fastest rate allowed by the communication protocol
- The temperature setpoint is a parameter linked to the process, and represents the target temperature for the band heater, and the value that must be measured by the thermocouple. We collect this data only when it

Parameter	Unit	Туре	Detail	Collect frequency
Temperature	°C	Integer	Data used to regulate the heat	50ms
Temperature setpoint	°C	Integer	Necessary temperature for the welding operation	On event
PID load	%	Float	Percentage linked to chopped powering of band heater	50ms
$\begin{array}{c} {\rm Regulation} \\ {\rm switch} \end{array}$	-	Boolean	Welding operation ON/OFF	$50\mathrm{ms}$
Scrap information	-	Boolean	Information on scrap	On event

Table 3.4: Collected data

changes (change of production) or before it is erased due to the retention policy of the database

- The PID load corresponds to a percentage of time where the band heater will be powered by the regulation loop. A detail of how it works is proposed in Figure 3.8
- The regulation switch is providing the information that the welding operation is used or not during the process. As the machine can process multiple products, some operations may be offline, and therefore the data collect is not necessary
- The scrap information is given when the temperature crosses to internal PLC rule during the welding operation. Collecting this information can provide insight on repeated failures of the welding unit

Most finishing centers are different from one another, depending on the type of product they deal with. Indeed, the design of the product will also impact the design of the machine. They generally have around 10 welding operations, meaning that we collect about 50 parameters per machine to monitor this issue. All the data that we collect for this application comes directly from the PLC of the machine.

After defining the dataset that needs to be collected from the machines, we started to make some analyses on the data.



Figure 3.8: Regulation process for the temperature

3.3.4 Data exploration

Figure 3.9 illustrates how we access, collect, analyze and visualize the data from the machine, using the Edge Computing solution described previously.



Figure 3.9: Data management architecture for the welding unit's monitoring

One of the early observations on this use case is that despite the high occurrence nature of the failure, it can still be challenging to catch such event. Failure events can be spaced in time by several months, or a few hours. To deal with such uncertainty and be efficient we packaged this first application and deployed it on 15 machines in different plants around the world. The goal was to collect as much production data as possible, to get run-to-failure events.

In a time window of 3 months, we were able to observe and collect failure events. Cooperation with the local teams was essential, to get their observations and feedback, to help understanding the changes in data and link them with the physical world. Figure 3.10 shows the early detection made before failure of the thermocouple. Very high or low temperature peaks appeared, which last less than 300ms at the beginning of the deterioration process. These events are stored inside the database, and appear directly on the visualization graph, which enables a visual control (vertical red lines). As explained before, in the current process control of the machine, parts are scrapped when temperature values are too far from the target, during the welding phase. However, this rule is not considering the temperature peaks is the basis of the monitoring control that was developed to detect these issues.



Figure 3.10: Temperature peaks detection

By looping back to the physical aspect of these events on the thermocouples that broke, we observed that temperature peaks appearances were linked to cable wear. As shown in Table 3.3, repeated movements are a cause for wire damages. In the early phase of the failure, the thermocouple will provide wrong temperature data on short periods (peaks observed) that correspond to microcuts in the temperature signal.

Thanks to this first detection, experiments were done by observing the evolution of the damages until the cable fully breaks. In this sense, the temperature peaks observed will last longer with time, and eventually generate scraps through the internal PLC rule. For this use case, the failure of the component has a huge impact on the quality of the produced parts. Therefore, solving the issue on the maintenance side also had benefits for the quality department.

In the next section, we detail the solution that was designed, in order to propose an efficient monitoring of this issue to the plant's team.

3.3.5 Proposed solution

The detection rule was designed to detect and count the temperature peaks. A threshold was defined for the number of peaks detected that can be accepted before alerting the maintenance team on the potential failure. That allows the maintenance team to organize corrective interventions prior to machine downtime. An example of failure detection is shown in Appendix E.

An alerting dashboard is made to monitor efficiently each machine, and determine the number of peaks that appeared on each welding operation during a fixed period of time, proposed in Figure 3.11. The system is able to send alerts via e-mails as in Figure 3.12 and SMS (through Node-RED) in order to warn the maintenance teams.



Number of peaks

Figure 3.11: Alerting dashboard



Figure 3.12: Example of email alerts sent

The main outcomes of the solution are the following:

- Monitoring and detection in real-time of the anomalies related to wiring issues
- Visual monitoring for the plant's team
- Early alerting for the maintenance team to plan corrective actions

• Reduction of the investigation time on the failures, as the alerting system provides information on which machine and which thermocouple is impacted

This first use case served as the basis of experimentation on the different parts of the framework for predictive maintenance, and to validate and improve the data management system. However, investigations made on the band heaters brought fewer results, but provided some valuable insights regarding maintenance data from the ERP system, as well as defining a process to deal with failures having low occurrences on the Blow Molding Machines. We will discuss these two topics in the next section.

3.4 Case of failures with low occurrences

A thorough analysis of maintenance data has been done at the global level of the 40 plants. The main objective was to apply the methodology previously tested locally, to determine globally the most impacting use cases and potential candidates for predictive maintenance. In parallel, failures linked to band heaters proved to be difficult to catch during production phases. To validate the interest of keeping the investigation, a test bench has been created to reproduce the failures. Finally, motivations behind the investigations done on the most impacting failure, to implement vibration and hydraulics analyses, are discussed.

3.4.1 Global maintenance data analysis

Investigation of maintenance data was conducted through several activities:

- Manual extraction of work orders⁷ data from all plants
- Collect local feedback from plants regarding pain points on maintenance activities
- Automatic analysis of work orders using *Natural Language Processing* (NLP)

The first point relates to the analysis of work orders from the plants. Work orders are the documents edited by the maintenance teams when any maintenance activity has been carried out. They include the date and duration of interventions, the equipment, the type of failure, use of spare parts, and an optional comment section where the problem encountered can be detailed. This

 $^{^7\}mathrm{Work}$ order: request document that describes the corrective maintenance intervention that needs to be carried out

work allowed to determine a first list of topics to be addressed, where they were split into two categories: low occurrence with high costs and high occurrences with low/moderate costs. Figure 3.13 illustrates the last statement, as discussed previously the methodology is cost-oriented. The topics having low occurrence and low costs are not suited for implementation of predictive maintenance, as the costs and time to deploy a solution will be greater than the outcome. Similarly, the topics having high occurrences and high costs should be very limited, as they are most of the time due to errors in the design of the equipment. As such, these last topics are most of the time dealt with very early when the production system is installed.



Figure 3.13: Topics considered for predictive maintenance

The second activity is part of the experts' knowledge collect, in this case plants' maintenance and production teams were interviewed to understand and aggregate their feedback on important topics to address.

Finally, in addition to the first two steps, an analysis on the previously mentioned comment section of the work orders was done. One of the major challenges of the analysis was to deal with many languages within the dataset. To obtain the results shown in Figures 3.14, 3.15 and 3.16, we first cleaned the dataset. We then translated automatically to English this data from the 16000 work orders using an API from the Google translate application. As the data is entered manually, many typos can be found, and in addition the translation being imperfect, it brought many false words that were filtered as much as possible. Three analyses were made using an NLP model, to plot the occurrences of single words, pairs of words and trigrams. The main goal was to bring new insight and confirm the data obtained from the first two activities. It is also possible to represent the data obtained as shown in Figure 3.17, to have a quick understanding of the most used words.











Figure 3.16: Trigram words analysis

Figure 3.17: Word Cloud

These analyses provided many insights on the maintenance data itself, as well as giving a list of topics to address using the predictive maintenance framework. We will discuss more in detail the results of this work in the conclusion of the chapter, and in Chapter 4.

In the next part, we briefly analyze two similar approaches on two use cases that were tagged as having low occurrence, but still interesting for predictive maintenance because located in the bottom right part of Figure 3.13.

3.4.2 Finishing centers: band heaters

As discussed in the previous section, the first study that was conducted on the welding units provided a solution for failures linked with the thermocouples. However, the analysis of the failures of the band heaters proved to be more challenging. A decision was made to investigate further these failure modes, as the previous global maintenance data analysis validated the relevance of the study.

To proceed on a more detailed analysis of this topic, two main activities were defined:

- Investigation on production data, by adding current sensors
- Reproduce failure modes using a welding unit test bench

The parameters collected on the welding units (Table 3.4) were expected to be sufficient to detect failures on the band heaters, based on the analysis made with experts. However, as the PID load is a value used to control the powering of the band heater, the result of this action is missing in the dataset. That is why it was decided to add current sensors to monitor closely the behavior of the powering of the band heater. Using the maintenance data, the focus was made on the machines that had similar issues in the past.

To have more chances of collecting data related to failure events, tests were made in parallel on a welding unit test bench located in the research center (α -Alphatech) in Compiègne. The test bench is shown in Figure 3.18. It is composed of two welding operations, called "complex" because they have two band heaters. One is used to heat the part of the tank that receives the welded component, and the other is dedicated to heating the component. We performed the tests on one operation i.e. on two band heaters. For the sake of reproducing what can happen in production, both band heaters were new.



Figure 3.18: Welding unit test bench

Table 3.5 summarizes the tests done to replicate failures, as well as the assumptions made on the causes and effects of failures on data behavior.

Failure mode	Experiment	Expected results
Electrical issue	Repeated heating/cooling cycles	Change in resistance before failure Change of the shape of the temperature curve
Mechanical issue	Wrong installation of band heater Repeated stretching tests	Increase of regulation load
Damaged wire	Not possible with test bench	Peaks on current data

Table 3.5:	Tests to	o replicate	failures

The tests related to damaged wires were not performed, due to the dangerous nature of these components. Indeed, we are dealing with temperatures up to 300°C, and extreme testing could end up generating risky situations or even create fires. Similarly, we did not push the temperature higher, as it does not reflect the use in production, and could also potentially create hazardous situations.

Some explanations and results are proposed in Appendix F.

Figure F.1 shows the solution used to create cooling on the band heaters. A simple circuit was created, using the available compressed air of the machine and two tubes operated by their respective valve. As both band heaters had different thermal characteristics, it was necessary to have one valve per component. The Edge Computing software were used to create the repeated cycles shown in Figure F.2, as Node-RED is not only able to read data from PLCs, but also to write them. This makes it possible to create scenarios to operate any machine equipped with a PLC. In our case, the process was the following:

- Start the heating phase up to 300°C
- Stop the heating (regulation switch off)
- Start blowing air by opening the valve
- Stop blowing air when temperature reaches 50°C
- Restart first step

This allowed to create many cycles to try to deteriorate the band heaters and generate a failure. The main objective was to accelerate ageing of the component. In production, some failures were observed during the restart of the machine, as the mirror needs to be heated from 50°C to the temperature setpoint, usually between 250 and 290°C. However, we were unable to observe changes in the behavior of the band heaters after hundreds of cycles, even less to generate a failure.

Figure F.3 shows the mechanical tests done on the band heaters. The idea behind these was to reproduce wrong conditions that can happen in production, for instance when maintenance is performed to change the band heater, and a failure is produced by this replacement. The first test involved not tightening the band heaters to their respective mirror and starting the regulation phase, to observe the impact on data. The second test was strength-based, as we stretched the band heater repeatedly before installing it again and running the regulation. Both tests provided no results, as no change in the behavior of the band heaters was observed.

Finally, as no failures were observed in production, and in addition to the results given by the tests, the study was put aside. The main difficulty being the assessment of the maintenance data coming from the 40 plants, it has been assumed that the failures reported were either due to wiring issues, or a combination of several factors that we were not able to replicate. However, by using the monitoring developed for the welding units, primarily with the load of the PID, we can detect issues that can impact the band heaters. In the case that the load is high during the regulation phase (after reaching the temperature setpoint), the plant's team can either check that the parameters of the PID are correct, or else if any issues appeared on the band heater itself.

3.4.3 Blow Molding Machines: rotating equipment and hydraulics

An important work has been conducted regarding vibration analysis on the Blow-Molding Machines (BMMs) and linked to the top failure mode impacting the division. These failures have a low occurrence, but the costs of repair and nonproduction are important.

The main reason why vibration is used for monitoring of rotating elements is because of the early changes in the behavior of the data before a failure happens. To visualize this statement about vibration, it is interesting to use a potential failure curve (P-F curve). This curve has first been introduced by Moubray (2001) and plots the evolution of the condition of any equipment regarding time, starting when it is first installed. On this curve also appear the points P (potential failure apparition) and F (functional failure apparition). The distance between these two points regarding time is called P-F interval, it is therefore the estimated time between the actual failure and the first signs that indicate its occurrence. Finally, we can also find on the curve an indication of each physical data related to the failure, that can help detecting it between the points P and F. The closer it is to P regarding time, the better the data can help detect early stages of the issue.

An example of P-F for a ball bearing is given in Figure 3.19.



Figure 3.19: P-F curve of ball bearing (Moubray 2001)

This example of curve is true for all rotating equipment, with ultrasound analysis being even closer to P than vibration signals, but also more expensive and difficult to interpret compared to vibration. Vibration has been studied extensively over the past decades, that is why it is widely used in industry to monitor mechanical issues on production systems. This statement is even more true in the Industry 4.0 context, as the systems can compute and communicate vibration features more easily.

Figure 3.20 shows the test bench created to experiment on vibration analysis. It is composed of a servo motor, a PLC, a shaft, two bearings and a wheel. The bearing farthest from the motor can be easily changed as in the right picture, to evaluate the vibration signals on bearings having different health state. The wheel can be loaded with weight to create unbalance on the shaft. The two bearing housings were machined to easily place the vibration and temperature sensors, as close as possible to the bearings. The motor was operated using the Edge Computing architecture, as for the welding test bench (in this case, to turn



the motor on and change its speed).

Figure 3.20: Vibration test bench

Two main objectives were set regarding the use of the vibration test bench:

- Validate the technical aspect of the solution regarding vibration analysis
- Validate the software environment linked with vibration data

To reach these goals, several tests were made on the bench, with solutions provided by various suppliers. The final objective was to select a solution to be deployed within the 40 plants.

Table 3.6:	Validation	of the	vibration	solution
T able 0.0.	vanaanon	or unc	VIDIGUIOII	Solution

Technical requirement	Related experiment
Collect vibration and temperature data	Implementation and wiring of vibration and temperature sensors
Vibration sensor frequency range higher than 4kHz (to detect issues on bearings that operate at high frequency)	Verify technical characteristics of the sensors Reproduce failures on the vibration bench
Possibility to study the data in the frequency domain Possibility to monitor common vibration indicators: unbalance, misalignment, bearings	Study available features from supplier's solution
Possibility to implement limits of standard ISO 10816-3	Test software's feature to add thresholds
Availability of the data outside of supplier's software	Collect vibration bench's data using Edge Computing

An extra requirement to choose the final solution was the possibility to integrate oil monitoring sensors in parallel. As shown in Figure 3.19, oil analysis is also interesting to detect issues coming from mechanical equipment. This set of sensors includes particle counting, pressure, flow level, temperature, water content in oil. These sensors make possible the analysis of the full hydraulic group used to operate the BMMs. The main reason for choosing to make experiments solely on vibration is because of the complexity of such analyses, compared to the ones required for the hydraulic parts.

The different tests made it possible to select a solution that is being implemented in both IES (Intelligent Exterior Systems) and CES divisions. The use of the solution is continuously being improved, and provided some successes for the company, by avoiding critical failures, as shown in Appendix G.

3.5 Overview of the results and discussion

In this section we will discuss the results from the first use case, as well as some investigations that were conducted on failures having low occurrences. In a second part, we will address the limitations and opportunities observed throughout the implementation of the predictive maintenance framework in the industrial context.

3.5.1 Results

The application of the methodology proposed in section 3.2 within our industrial context provided many results. The first noticeable one is the capability of the system to provide an efficient solution to address a specific issue, for both the developing team and the end-users. This allowed to validate and standardize the proposed approach within the company, for dealing with machine failures with a predictive maintenance strategy. As discussed, a major goal of the approach is to be adaptable to most of the machines and processes, and the flexibility of the architecture makes it possible. This flexibility results from its availability to be deployed in local computers, as for the tests done on the band heaters, but also at the plant level in its local server, to address multiple machines at once.

A second aspect of the solution is the possibility to package a predictive maintenance monitoring application. In the case of the thermocouples monitoring for the welding units, we were able to propose a simple way to deploy a standard solution within the 40 plants. This topic is rarely discussed in the literature, but the implementation of a standard solution for multiple users in different countries is challenging. The solution is continuously being improved, by modifying and adding ways to monitor the issues, as well as new alerting channels and local translations.

As the monitoring application should not be and end in itself, the results found from the different use cases allowed the experts to focus on specific points to reduce the occurrence of failures. For instance for the wiring issues, an improvement on the systematic verification of cabling and routing was issued, as well as specific rules regarding bending angles during the movements. However, the application is still necessary, as the process still generates natural wear on the cables.

Finally, an observation made during the different experiments shown that extracting knowledge and value from data is not always done through complex processing, but it often starts with an efficient way of sharing it through visual dashboards. That is why selecting the correct data at the beginning of the study is important, to provide first insights to experts and daily users of the equipment. The main reason behind this statement is that most of the time, data is used within the PLC, and can be collected punctually by other systems, but the possibility to visualize its evolution closely to real-time often gives new perspectives and useful information.

3.5.2 Limitations and opportunities

In parallel of the satisfying results discussed above, we faced many challenges that opened new areas of investigation and provided room for improvements on some aspects of the predictive maintenance framework.

The first topic is related to the maintenance data coming from the ERP system, which was used to determine the topics to be addressed with the predictive maintenance approach. As mentioned in section 3.4.1, work orders coming from the plants were analyzed. However, to perform this job, it was necessary to make manual extractions of the databases and aggregate all the data together. As this process was not optimized, one project was started to create a global application to automatically collect and visualize the data from the plants. This allows to refresh periodically the Pareto of costs and occurrences of the failures.

Similarly, as presented in section 3.4.2, the work on band heaters was unsuccessful. A thorough analysis of the maintenance data highlighted some issues

regarding the data quality on the work orders. As the work orders were entered manually in the system, some data was incorrect, due to lack of time or errors from the users when typing back the work orders. This led to reconsider and update the list of candidates for predictive maintenance. Consequently, a second project was started to automatize the entry of maintenance data within the system. The main goal was to standardize and quickly identify the categories of failures to put the work orders in, to have clean data. This work was performed in parallel of the first one mentioned just above, to propose a precise global visualization of maintenance data.

The work conducted on the welding units provided a good insight linked to the challenge to observe failures on any given equipment. This reinforces the necessity of the predictive maintenance system to be flexible and easy to deploy on new use cases or machines. In addition, having physical data available on the monitored equipment is a strong requirement, to have a chance to observe its degradation over time. Hence, the study of implementation of vibration and oil analysis sensors on the BMMs was necessary, to get the early signs of failures on rotating equipment. Similarly, collecting the current of the band heaters was relevant, even though we could not find a way to detect issues on these components.

As part of the improvement of the application developed for the thermocouples of the welding units, it is necessary to assess the performance of the model. This assessment can be demanding, as the model is installed globally in the plants of the division, addressing dozens of machines. Because the application alerts the maintenance teams to go check the data, and if necessary to assess physically the state of the thermocouple, there is a limitation on the automatic assessment of the performance of the model. Currently, manual feedback from the plant's team regarding work orders linked to thermocouples interventions is provided, to check whether an alert from the application has led to this intervention or not. Two ways to improve this process are shown in Table 3.7, both having their limitations. These investigations are valid for the topics using the framework, not only for the assessment of the thermocouples monitoring.

A general observation on the different projects linked with predictive maintenance is that even though the framework proposes remote tools to address the use cases, local insights and collaboration from plants are essential. The preconceived idea that a maintenance issue can be solved only remotely using data analyzed by experts is far from reality. Paradoxically, close work between experts and local users of the equipment is required, but time spent on these topics can

Possibility of improvement	Benefit	Drawback
Include semi-automatic feedback from user in the performance assessment data	Ensures the quality of the feedback	Rely on users with possibility to forget, or make mistakes
Automatic work order triggered by the predictive maintenance framework	Possibility to assess the performance through the work orders Process tested and validated within the framework	Possibility to generate work orders on false alarms

Table 3.7: Improvements linked to the performance assessment

be an issue locally, as well as necessary skills that are not yet well developed. And as mentioned, many of the ideas and feedback to work on predictive maintenance topics arise from the local needs. All these statements add extra complexity to such a study.

Finally, from the proposed framework and operational methodology to implement it, there is a necessity to anchor such process within the company. To achieve this goal, a modelling of these steps was done as shown in Appendix D as well as training and presentation materials.

3.6 Conclusion

In this third chapter, we detailed the methodology behind the predictive maintenance framework. It was applied on a first local use case, before being extended to several plants of the company. It provided satisfying results, to validate and evaluate each step of the process of implementation of a predictive maintenance solution. An investigation on cases with low occurrence was conducted, generating some mixed results that were used to highlight weak points and possibilities for improvements. From all the listed points of the previous section came the necessity to develop a specific environment for predictive maintenance within the Edge Computing architecture presented previously. Multiple goals are addressed with the use of this new solution, enabling an efficient way to test, develop, package, and deploy monitoring applications. This *Intelligent Maintenance System* (IMS) will be described in Chapter 4.

3.6.1 Scientific contributions

The goal of these first steps to develop and deploy the predictive maintenance framework was to confront the existing standards proposed by PHM to a global industrial context. The technical aspect of the methodology is validated, however the choice of tools used to embody the framework differs and arises from this global context, as well as the features of Industry 4.0 linked to communication protocols and IoT. We showed that many aspects related to industry need to be considered for the development of the methodology, that is why in this work the development of the framework was supported by results from its implementation. Some key aspects are proposed below:

- There is often a trade-off between money investments put in a standard solution that will not meet all requirements from the framework, time investments to develop specific solutions linked with contextual needs, time objectives linked with the expected availability of the solution, and available resources with proper skills to work on the previous points
- The predictive maintenance system has two levels, related to the development of the end-solution by experts, and how it will be implemented and used locally
- The management and development of internal skills to support the lifecycle of the system greatly impacts the global study, from the development to the implementation of the solution
- The financial feedback of the solution is not often easy to apprehend, as it requires an efficient way to track and collect feedback linked to its usage. This complexity is increased in a global context

3.6.2 Industrial contributions

In this chapter, we presented several works that contributed to improve different aspects of our industrial context:

- A monitoring solution deployed globally for thermocouples issues
- A new way to perform tests by collecting and analyzing data locally, using the Edge Computing architecture
- A sensor solution for rotating and hydraulic equipment that was assessed and tested to match technical and financial requirements
- Data quality issues for maintenance work orders allowed to improve the ways to collect and organize the data, and provided a global visualization to select potential candidates for predictive maintenance
3.6. CONCLUSION

Chapter 4

Development of an Intelligent Maintenance System for predictive maintenance

Contents

4.1	Mot	ivations
4.2	\mathbf{Met}	hodology behind the application
4.3	Arcl	hitecture of the application $\dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots 92$
4.4	Dep	loyment and validation on industrial cases 95
	4.4.1	Helium Leak Testers
	4.4.2	Blow Molding Machines: band heaters 100
4.5	Con	$ ext{clusion} \ldots 107$
	4.5.1	Scientific contributions
	4.5.2	Industrial contributions

In this chapter, the motivations previously discussed behind the development of such system are detailed. We will then describe the methodology that was followed to create the IMS, as well as its architecture. Its practical deployment will be explained, and some examples of its application will be given, by emphasizing on the flexible and reconfigurable aspect of the solution, facilitating the implementation of predictive maintenance topics.

4.1 Motivations

Many observations from the implementation of the predictive maintenance framework highlighted the necessity to develop a specific application to deal with it, in addition to the implementation of the Edge Computing architecture. Some important features specific to predictive maintenance activities should be included within the solution. Such features are summarized below.

- Propose a standard way of collecting data from numerous sources, using different communication protocols
- Apply different processing on the data, with the flexibility to add extra types of processing
- Monitor each data with a specific approach (threshold for instance), with the flexibility to add extra approaches
- Assess the state of each data, to propose indicators to follow the evolution of its behavior
- Alert the maintenance teams and create action plans regarding the prognostics that was done
- Propose efficient visualizations for all the different steps linked to data manipulation

Figure 4.1 helps understanding where this IMS intervenes on the different steps of the framework.



Figure 4.1: Perimeter for the IMS activities

The only steps not included are linked with failure and data selections, as they require maintenance data from the ERP system, as well as knowledge from experts on failure modes. The rest of the activities are incorporated inside the system, to provide a standard way of developing and deploying predictive maintenance solutions. The methodology used to develop the IMS is detailed in the next section.

4.2 Methodology behind the application

The model that was developed around the first framework can be found in Figure 4.2. It presents an overview of the different steps taken to implement predictive maintenance. The application that integrates a large part of the methodology was named Machine Health Management (MHM), and proposes a set of tools that tackle the different challenges of predictive maintenance. The various parts of the methodology will be described below.

The first part of the process starts with the studied machine or production system. Because machines can be quite complex with different parts dealing with different functions or steps in the production process, it is quite important to understand the failures modes. As proposed in the first use case, the studied failures are first and foremost chosen regarding their impact on availability time and productivity of the machine. The interesting failures to study are most of the time the ones with high impact on costs and low occurrence, or the ones with high occurrences and low impact on costs.

The failures that have low occurrence and low impact on costs will not benefit from the deployment of a predictive maintenance solution. The failures with high costs and occurrences should normally be dealt with very early when the production system is started, because mostly coming from design issues.

To study the relevance of failure modes to be studied, we propose three main solutions that are studied in parallel. These steps are the most important ones because they will define the final solution that will be implemented.



Figure 4.2: Machine Health Management application model

- 1. The Computerized Maintenance Management System (CMMS) is a tool used to manage the maintenance within a company. Its main goal is to organize maintenance activities, follow-up on the different interventions and keep an historic of all this data. The interest here is to be able to analyze past data on the production system, to rank the different failures observed according to their costs and occurrences. The CMMS system is often linked to an ERP system, which allows to understand the costs involved on spare parts. In the case of a new production system with no historical data, this system will help updating the list of chosen failure modes from the two other steps at a later time.
- 2. FMEA is widely used in industry to understand the potential failures that can occur and know them better by analyzing their causes and effects on the impacted equipment. This tool can have different variations, by analyzing the process (PFMEA) for instance, or adding a criticality score to the failure modes (FMECA). However, its use in this methodology remains the same, and provides information on several steps.

First, it provides a list of failure modes that can be studied for predictive maintenance, probably not exhaustive, but enough to start the analysis. The main benefit is that it does not require the production system to be already in use, and therefore this study can be performed even in the early stages of conception.

Second, the a priori knowledge of causes and effects can help choosing a first set of data to be collected by the predictive maintenance system, and even help implementing extra sensors on the production system.

3. Finally, experts' knowledge also matters, similarly to FMEA, to choose the correct failure modes and the data to be collected. Some of this knowledge can be found within the FMEA, but experts here relate to several groups of people within the company that have knowledge about the way the production system operates. It includes for instance process engineers, automation engineers, machinery design department, maintenance technicians, operators and more. The importance of involving a wide range of "users" is to have theoretical and practical knowledge about failures that can, did or will appear on the equipment.

There is a practical reason behind the selection of only several impacting failure modes to be studied, compared to, for instance, a full assessment of the production system. The latter study can be successful but involving several failure modes and a large amount of data in the predictive maintenance system can prove to be very challenging to tackle. The risk is to propose a final solution that will be too fuzzy for the end user regarding prediction of health state, or not precise enough to take the correct actions. That is why, even if the solution is identified as data-driven, meaning that the model uses data analysis to propose solutions, there is still a necessary part of physics understanding involved, to correctly apprehend the failure mechanisms. When implementing a predictive maintenance system, it is often more meaningful to have a smaller dataset, but with data that has high correlation with the failure mechanism that is being studied. Knowing key characteristics related to the process can also help finding the relevant parameters to be monitored.

The previous steps give a first interpretation of the dataset that will be needed to study the selected failure modes. The next step is to identify if this data is available in the production system, i.e., the application will be able to connect to the source of the data to collect it. Many ways exist to connect and collect data through different protocols, and some will be presented in Section 4.3. To be successful in this step, knowledge about the automation system used, as well as Information Systems and Services (IS&S) is required. If extra sensors need to be implemented in the system, it is necessary to verify that the addition of such means of measurement will not create extra failure modes or weaknesses in the system. It means that the sensors should be as less intrusive as possible regarding the way they are implementation on the studied equipment.

There is also a requirement during this step to study and estimate the amount of data that will be collected and stored. The choice of data retention (meaning how long the data will be stored before being backed up or deleted) is of importance, as the system will grow more and more with new studies being implemented. As shown in Figure 4.2, this data (or variables as named in the figure) is the input of the system that composes the predictive maintenance application. Most of the data collected from the production system is time series data, but other types of data can be integrated, such as images (from 2D cameras or thermal cameras for instance). As per the figure, one variable can be used to analyze multiple failure modes, although it is only collected once.

As mentioned before, the first knowledge coming from data is most of the time with an efficient way of visualizing it. The main reason is that until implementing such system on the industrial equipment, it can often be seen as a "black box", meaning that the users cannot fully understand what is physically happening during the process. Time series data show evolution of the system over time, and close to a real-time visualization (data can be collected every few milliseconds). It is a first strong step for the users to understand the machines and processes better and can also generate ideas about how the data should be monitored. An explanation is proposed in Section 4.3 regarding the users' interactions with the application.

Thresholds or limits are often the first type of monitoring that will be done on new studies of failure modes. These values can be known a priori from how the process works, or the acceptable limits of the mechanical parts that compose the production system. This first monitoring will also help implementing a first set of alerts for the users, in case of deviation.

After these first interactions with the collected data, the next step is linked with Artificial Intelligence (AI), in its broad definition. The main goal at this stage of the methodology is to be able to create correlations between selected data to predict appearance of the failure mode. It can be reached using various methods involving several manipulations and transformations on the data, which are available in the application. The data management system must integrate modules to perform these actions, such as implementation of machine learning models. Most of these analyses are multivariate because interactions and correlations between state of several data must be studied and taken into consideration. The idea here is to create a specific monitoring for the failure mode, to be able to alert afterwards and point as precisely as possible where the issue is located on the impacted production system. This precision allows the maintenance teams to be more prepared and plan specific actions related to the result proposed by the system.

Finally, the decision system is composed of numerous tools to share the correct information at the correct time and to the correct information system or user. There is a necessity to connect this predictive maintenance application to the most important information systems of the company, such as the ERP described at step 1, or the MES to plan maintenance actions without disturbing the production. The system should also have the possibility to send action plans or work orders through the CMMS. It is also important that alerts can be sent from different channels to reach the users, the most commons being emails, SMS, internal communications applications such as Microsoft Teams. Standard alerting dashboards exist for visualizing data in different ways, and users also have the possibility to create new ones, so that the production and maintenance teams can easily check the evolution of the equipment's state.

4.3 Architecture of the application

In this section, the actual architecture is described, as well as the different possible ways to use this application. To understand how the application works, a simplified overview is proposed in Figure 4.3.



Figure 4.3: Overview of the structure of MHM

The application can be seen as being on top of the Edge Computing architecture. It interacts directly with it through a web interface, which will generate code without having to type it. The benefit is that it helps users visualize and understand how the machines behave, by using standardized applications. The different modules of the application are described below.

MHM is a central tool developed during the thesis in Java, which stores each models used to collect, store, and analyze the data at a global level. It is accessible through a web page for any user having the necessary credentials. It implements all the previous models locally in the plant, where the user wants to create a monitoring. Once this code is pasted, it runs on the local server or computer of the plant. One of the main advantages is that MHM opens this kind of monitoring to workers that do not necessarily have a coding background.

As a result, they can use the visual interface to configure what machine they want to address, what data they want to collect, how long they want to store it and what data manipulations and monitoring they want to add. Once this configuration is done and validated, the application will automatically generate all the necessary code with the correct configuration inside the local plant device.

Because the local device is connected to the same network as the machines, it can connect to them using various communication protocols, for instance OPC UA (Leitner and Mahnke 2006), Modbus (Swales et al. 1999), MQTT (Hunkeler et al. 2008), and directly to the Programmable Logic Controller (PLC) of the machine through its proprietary protocol: Siemens S7 protocol for example (Beresford 2011). Once this connection is done, data is stored locally, in a standard way, with possibility to add some extra information on the data, such as tags. This allows filtering the data for visualizations and analyses.

Some pre-configured dashboards were developed during this work, so that the users can visualize directly the newly collected data. Dedicated dashboards can also be created in Grafana, which can then be shared amongst plants. There is also the possibility to put in place some alerting regarding the monitoring rules, through the communication channels described before.

The different rules are part of the "AI" block shown in Figure 4.2. They are based in the current version on static thresholds, duration of known anomaly states, catching and counting events in the incoming data or dynamic thresholds using SPC (Statistical Process Control (Oakland 2007)). SPC allows calculating thresholds dynamically, by selecting a time window reference for the data. It makes it possible to create efficient control charts, to understand if the data is stable or deviating. Each rule can trigger a specific alarm to alert the maintenance teams, and the most advanced rules can also generate work orders to plan corrective actions directly with the ERP-CMMS system. There is also a possibility to combine several rules and generate targeted alerts if the root cause of the failure detected is known.

Finally, the importance of this step is that the user is still able to reach the "back-end" of the application (directly in Node-RED), to make some manual modifications, or even adding specific local monitoring. Plants tend to have more and more local skilled people on these topics, able to help with the coding process. In this case, the code can be written in JavaScript in Node-RED and there is also a possibility to create analyses in R or Python.

This final step is important to underline, because as mentioned before, it is quite challenging to address all the existing machines within a company. For the Clean Energy Systems division as an end user, the machines may differ, not in terms of process but of components used to build the machine. Therefore, the behavior of one machine to another may drastically change, and can also be impacted by the environment in which they operate. That is why this notion of flexible tool matters, because it is not only a top-down application, but also bottom-up, similarly as mentioned in Figure 1.6 in Chapter 1.

The top-down aspect is linked to the developments made by the central team working on Industry 4.0 topics, which proposes specific monitoring on top failure modes directly to the end users, i.e., the plants. Using the application, they can replicate a model developed by experts, and operate it directly with the correct configuration.

The bottom-up aspect is linked to the local developments made on specific issues, which can be also of interest for other plants. One of the main interests is that these developments can be done easily and quickly, on faulty equipment, which can increase the efficiency of the model created. These local developments can then be reinjected locally to other plants that may find themselves in the same situation as the original plant. Storing the models centrally, like in MHM, allows this way of working: the application can be seen as an "application center" similarly to what can be found in smartphones. A summary of these activities is shown in Figure 4.4.



Figure 4.4: Top-down and bottom-up aspects of MHM

4.4 Deployment and validation on industrial cases

After understanding the methodology behind MHM and its architecture, we will analyze its use in the industrial context on two different topics. Although it has been used on several cases, the two cases presented below are the most advanced applications that provided good results and perspectives for future improvements.

4.4.1 Helium Leak Testers

4.4.1.1 Principle of the process

The first topic deals with helium testing machines, also called Helium Leak Testers (HLTs). These machines intervene at the end of the production process, as mentioned in Appendix C. Their goal is to ensure that each produced fuel system is within acceptable range regarding leakage. Indeed, as mentioned previously some cutting and welding operations are done on the tank, which can create internal leaks if the operation is not performed under good conditions.

To verify this, tanks are tested inside the HLTs. A basic principle is proposed in Figure 4.5.



Figure 4.5: Helium leak test principle

The machine is composed of a chamber where the tank is installed. It is sealed, and vacuum pumps evacuate the air in both the chamber and the tank. Once it is complete, a fixed quantity of helium is injected inside the tank, and a mass spectrometer coupled with a pump observes the number of particles located inside the chamber, i.e. the estimation of the leak rate of the tested tank. The acceptable limit is given per product, and if it is crossed, the tank can be re-tested or defined as a scrap. Helium is used during this test as it is the smallest known atom, therefore giving a good idea of possible leakage issues on the product.

4.4.1.2 Topic definition

Issues on the HLTs are part of the list established in section 3.4.1, the main reason being the lack of internal knowledge regarding their failure modes. Indeed, these machines are historically less common to perform the leak tests, Water Leak Testers being more used globally (cf. Appendix C). However, HLTs are much more complex, and more efficient in the detection of leaks, therefore they are becoming standard machines to be used in production lines nowadays.

HLTs are a good example of what usually happens in the industrial context: these machines are quite complex and have many unexploited internal data that could help understanding better their behavior. Consequently, HLT machines were selected as a first topic to be worked on using the MHM application. This use case started as a Top-Down project, as the main goal was to propose a global solution to be deployed and used within each plant.

As a first step to define the study, four activities have been performed in parallel, to understand better the issues related to this family of machines:

- Analyze maintenance history data to understand common failures
- Interview experts from the research center, and plants
- Work in collaboration with the supplier of machines
- Use the test machine located in Alphatech¹ to have a better understanding of the process

The result of these steps is proposed in Table 4.1. It gives an overview of the issues related and the current processes in place to correct and detect them. To understand the data inside the table, as presented before the machine has several pumps, for various purposes such as removing air from the chamber and tested part, or to remove the helium still inside the chamber after the test is done. Filters are used to restrain particles that could damage the equipment, such particles can be dust, or plastic parts that could still be on the product. Seals are important on the machine, as they ensure that the process is performed

¹Alphatech: research center of Plastic Omnium CES, located in Compiègne - France

properly. Finally, many values can be found on the machine, to redirect the different gases in the correct places.

Issue	Effect	Verification in place
Faulty pump	Increase cycle times Impossibility to reach vacuum level required	Oil check Biannual pump's performance assessment
Filter clogged	Contaminate oil Increase cycle times Pump deterioration	Cyclic cleaning Replacement of part with spare
Deteriorated seal	Impossibility to run full cycle Increase cycle times	Cyclic check Replacement of part with spare
Broken valve	Impossibility to run full cycle	Replacement of part with spare

Table 4.1: Known failures on HLT machines

4.4.1.3 Proposed solution

The machine has internal alarms, and a Human-Machine Interface (HMI) to display them to the users. However, it is possible that some alarms can be missed, due to the fact that they are not critical to the process itself, but can still indicate the start of an issue on the machine. Consequently, one of the first objectives of this topic was to collect the correct data, to start creating a history and propose valuable visualizations. With the help from experts (on the supplier and company side), a first list of data was edited, most of them being in the following list:

- Cycle times: the duration of each phase of the process is calculated within the machine
- Pressures: many pressures are measured by internal sensors, at different locations on the machine
- Leak rate: calculation the observed leak rate by the mass spectrometer
- Other data: identification of the tested part, results of the tests, number of parts tested, number of hours run for the pumps

The data is split and tagged under two categories:

- Chamber: machines can have multiple testing chambers, so each data specific to a chamber is identified here
- General: the rest of the data, common for all chambers, is identified here

4.4. DEPLOYMENT AND VALIDATION ON INDUSTRIAL CASES

Splitting the data as such also allowed to create an interactive dashboard where the general data and data specific to chambers are visualized independently. An example of the visualization is proposed in Figure 4.6. Selecting one or both chambers will modify the dashboard, to display the correct data. This allows the users to quickly check the interesting data. Appendix H shows an example of data visualization, in the case of a machine having two testing chambers.

Selected (1)
💌 All
Chamber1
Chamber2

Figure 4.6: Split visualization for HLT machines (Grafana)

In addition, first thresholds and alerts were implemented, based on experience and knowledge on the process. The package standardized and deployed from MHM was composed of the data collection of the previous list, which represents around 65 variables, and the dashboard discussed previously. This first solution was the basis on which more knowledge about the machine's behavior has been built.

4.4.1.4 Improvements and perspectives

After implementing the first package, the second step of the work was dedicated to improving the solution. The final goal being the proposition of meaningful messages for the maintenance teams, based on the results of the analyses done on the data, the current work is oriented towards this objective. Table 4.2 summarizes the various actions related to the improvement of the package.

Idea	Expected result	Related action
Observe trends on specific pressures and cycle times data	Increase or decrease of the value over time should indicate an ongoing deterioration	Implement linear regression analyses
Analysis of gases consumption	Comparison of data over time can indicate seal or filter issues	Calculate consumption periodically, or per gas bottle, and verify number of tested parts
Verify opening times of valves	An increase of duration during opening and closing phases of the valve can alarm on a failure of the valve	Calculate and monitor the evolution of the opening and closing duration
Add extra sensors on pumps	New physical data related to the pumps can help detecting oil or mechanical issues	Implement sensors defined in section 3.4.3

Table 4.2: Leads to improve the monitoring of HLT machines

An example of the User Interface is proposed in Figure 4.7. Here, we can find the list of machines monitored within the plant, the status of the machine according to the monitoring rules in place, and a summary of issues per machine. The user can click on the specific issues, to give more details and provide a direct link to the data visualization.



Figure 4.7: User Interface for the HLT machines (Node-RED)

All these developments gave the opportunity to improve the core of the application, as they can be proposed as new ways of monitoring the data collected by MHM. Figure 4.8 below shows the two main contributions of the use of MHM for the HLT machines topic:

- As mentioned previously, the complexity of the machine, the lack of internal knowledge and the availability of unused data provided a strong basis to build efficient data collection, data visualization and first monitoring rules to alert on potential problems
- A second step, still under improvement, gave the opportunity to list and develop specific analyses, to propose a first diagnostic related to issues on the HLT machines. The objective is to identify clearly the observations made on data, and propose maintenance actions to try and improve the health state of the machine



Figure 4.8: Current contributions on HLTs

4.4.2 Blow Molding Machines: band heaters

4.4.2.1 Principle of the process

As partially presented in section 1.2.2, heating systems are found on the BMMs, on the extruders and on the head. Their goal is to keep the material melted and at the correct temperature. Similarly to the welding units presented in sections 3.3 and 3.4.2, the system is composed of one or multiple band heaters, and one thermocouple per "zone". The zones are shown in Figure 1.3, and correspond to the physical location of each heating system, from the feed hopper to the start of the head. Such zones are defined in the same way for the head tooling, from the top of the head, to the start of the parison creation.

The size of each zone defines the number of band heaters that can be installed, and a regulation system powers the band heaters to reach a temperature setpoint, similarly as shown in Figure 3.8. An internal monitoring within the machine ensures that the temperature is correctly regulated in each zone, and a detection of wrong temperature based on a plausibility test is performed, which can stop the machine if necessary. The heating systems are critical components of the machine, as any failure can lead to quality issues and severe damages on the extruders and the head tooling.

4.4.2.2 Topic definition

Differently from the band heater topic on the welding units that originated from maintenance data analysis, this topic was a request from three plants. The need came from several issues observed on band heaters located on the head tooling of different machines, in different plants. Therefore, contrary to the HLT study, this one can be categorized as a Bottom-Up topic, as per the definition of Figure 4.4. The plant located in Pfastatt, France, was selected as a first pilot for this project as several failures were reported on a specific zone of the co-extrusion machine (c.f Appendix B).

Following the same steps as for the HLT machines study, we propose a summary of known failures on these components, in Table 4.3. The main difference with the welding units is that band heaters located on the BMMs are not moving, therefore the cabling issues on both the thermocouples and band heaters are not present in this case. The install on the extruder side is very robust, and few issues are reported. However, the setup on the head tooling can be changed depending on the production, and therefore the maintenance actions can deteriorate the components, if a wrong action is applied during this change.

The verification currently in place on the system is linked with the evolution of the temperature, and any detection of an issue based on this analysis can stop the machine. The monitoring of the current gives alarms to the users through the HMI of the machine, but does not currently stop the process in case an issue is detected. Therefore, after understanding the potential failures on the heating system, the next step presented below is dedicated to describing the available data to be collected to monitor such issues.

Issue	Effect	Verification in place			
Band heater electrical failure	No heating possible Brutal failure of the component	Monitoring with current transducers Evolution of the temperature over time			
Band heater not positioned properly	Deterioration of the band heater Regulation disturbed by zones above or below	Monitoring with current transducers			
Band heater tightened too much on its support	Breakage of the support Band heater loosening	Visual inspection			
Wrong regulation parameters	Slow deterioration of the band heater Electrical failure	None			
Thermocouple breakdown	Loss of temperature data Incapability to perform temperature regulation	Evolution of the temperature over time Stoppage of the machine			

Table 4.3: Known failures on the BMMs' heating systems

4.4.2.3 Data collect

The dataset has been defined after reviewing the system with process and automation experts, to understand the available and accessible parameters.

- The temperature coming from the thermocouple
- The temperature setpoint, which is a parameter that can be modified on the HMI of the machine
- The temperature high tolerance value, which should not be crossed during the production phase
- The temperature low tolerance value
- The PID load, named "ED" (similar to the value of the welding units)
- The current, that is measured for one zone, meaning that the read value can be for one or several band heaters
- The current target, which corresponds to the value that should be read
- The current tolerance, below which plants' teams should be alerted
- The machine's production status

The first 8 variables are collected for each zone of the machine, and the status just once. For a typical co-extrusion machine, having 6 extruders, each of them having between 4 and 6 zones, and a head tooling having between 6 and 8 zones, the dataset is composed of around 300 variables. Using MHM, the application connects directly to the PLC of the machine, to collect each parameter every second. An example of the data collection code generated through MHM to Node-RED is shown below.

Format to JSC	N S7_RawData_TCPexport
contract of the second se	storage - [v1.x] MHM_Coextruder_BMM272 METRICS
Catch_Error C New Error?	3
Node_Status of sortAlerts of Prepare Status Prepare local alert	[v1.x] MHM_Coextruder_BMM272 ALERT_LOG
1 Notification Buffer	
Prepare local notif	

Figure 4.9: Node-RED flow generated by MHM to collect data from a PLC

Similarly as proposed for the HLT machines, Figure 4.10 shows the split visualization done in Grafana. The variables shown on top allow the selection of the necessary extruders and related zones to be displayed, and the same thing exists for the head zones. Selecting multiple extruders and/or zones will populate the dashboards with extra graphs dedicated to each of the selected items.

Machine	MHM_B_240_BMM240 ~	Measurement	METRICS ~	Extruder	Α~	Extruder_zone		Head_number	35 ~	Scale	auto ~	
	Machine status											
												Production
00:00		02:00		04:00			06:00			08:00)	10:00
Machine	Machine status: ■ Production (100.00%)											
> Head (2 panels)												
> Extruder A (2 panels)												

Figure 4.10: Split visualization for Blow-Molding Machines (Grafana)

The machine's status allows understanding quickly in what state was the machine when visualizing the data related to the heating systems. It is especially useful when checking a failure event from the history data, to get the evolution of the machine's state according to the rest of the monitored data.

4.4.2.4 Observed failures and proposed solutions

Based on the list of failures shown in Table 4.3, we were able to observe the first four types of failures while collecting the list of data previously mentioned. Below will be presented the different cases, and how solutions were designed within the MHM application.

The first failure is linked with a sudden loss of the component due to an electrical failure, as shown in Figure 4.11.



Figure 4.11: Electrical failure of the band heater (Grafana)

As observed on the graphs, the value of the current that powers the band heater brutally drops to 0 on the left graph ("Head_Current_35" - green curve). After this event, we can see on the right graph that the temperature is slowly decreasing ("Head_Temp_35" - green curve) and the load of the regulation is increasing to reach its maximum value of 100% ("Head_ED_35" - blue curve with vertical axis on the right side).

Due to the inertia of the system, and the zones located close to this one trying to compensate the loss of the band heater, the heating system can continue to work within temperature ranges (green colored zone on the right graph) for several hours. However at some point the temperature crosses the bottom threshold, and the machine automatically stops, after nearly 5 hours working in a degraded mode.

The causes of the failure are numerous, and difficult to observe or replicate. The data prior to the event shows no abnormal levels of temperature, regulation, or current. Consequently, the first solution proposed to the plant's team was a monitoring based on thresholds and duration. As discussed previously, standard monitoring techniques are proposed within MHM, to be used on any collected data. In this case, the "Threshold timer" monitoring uses a threshold value and a duration of the crossing of the proposed value. An additional parameter can be used, as a verification of the first rule.

Consequently, to detect and alarm the plant on the loss of the band heater, the proposed rule are detailed below.

- 1. The value of the current reaches 0
- 2. The status of the machine is "Production" (additional verification parameter)
- 3. The duration of both previous rules is higher than 10 minutes

Again, the main goal is to have a pragmatic approach, and setting up this monitoring to 10 minutes allows to verify that the signal is really lost and that the machine is still producing parts. Similarly to the thermocouple case on the finishing centers, the alerting allows the maintenance team to quickly react and organize an emergency intervention on the identified zone. As observed on the figure, the intervention took more than an hour, as it can be difficult to clearly identify where the issue is located. The current alert allows both to reduce the time of production with the broken part, and to know here the replacement will be done, saving a lot of time.

The second failure observed is associated with lines 2 and 3 of the failure table. It can happen after a change of the head tooling, or replacement of a defective band heater. Such event can be observed in Figure 4.12, and follows the previous event where the band heater was lost.



Figure 4.12: Wrong positioning of the band heater (Grafana)

We can see from the data that after the initial replacement of the band heater, the regulation (blue curve) is following a different trend compared to the normal levels before the first failure, and after the second replacement. After investigating this event, the plant's team observed that the band heater was tightened too much on its support, creating a perturbation on the regulation loop. Eventually, the support started to break and lead to a second stoppage of the machine. Similar events were observed, in the case where the band heater is not placed properly, and the zones above/below on the head tooling will generate a perturbation on the regulation loop. Current work is to propose a monitoring for such issue, and the first lead is to study a linear regression of the load of the regulation. Implementing such new rule will in the end also benefits other users, as a standard monitoring "Linear regression" will be developed and implemented within the application.

Finally, a failure linked with the fourth issue was identified using MHM. Even though it is not a common problem, it still benefited the plant and reduced failures due to such event. Investigation on the cause of the problem was quite difficult without the monitoring system in place with the application.

Figure 4.13 shows the effect of a regulation having wrong parameters. High instabilities are generated for several hours, and the source of the perturbation is unknown so far. However, the response of the regulation was too much compared to the effect of the initial perturbation, therefore creating an even greater issue.



Figure 4.13: Wrong regulation parameters (Grafana)

These sudden changes within the regulation loop create a deterioration of the electrical system of the band heater, and eventually lead to a failure, as observed on the right graph. This failure event took place after several occurrences of the perturbation event shown on the left graph. Consequently, a specific monitoring was created, to alert the plants in case a similar issue is observed on the data, and can be linked with a wrong regulation of the system. It allows the automation engineer on site to verify and modify the parameters of the PID, if necessary.

4.4.2.5 Results and perspectives

This second example provided the opportunity to explore a concrete use case coming from plants' requests. It has been beneficial to first understand better the verification in place within the machine, to detect issues on the heating systems. From this, we could edit a list of data to be collected, which provided an interesting source of information regarding the different failures observed on the system.

For this specific topic, the monitoring will be extended to mono-extrusion machines (cf. Appendix B), and extra means of verification are being requested by the plants, to monitor even closer the heating systems.

The standard monitoring techniques available inside the application allowed to create ways of detecting these issues early, and point out precisely which part of the system generated a problem. This information is crucial for maintenance teams because they enable them to act quickly on the correct location of the source of the failure, as discussed previously.

We have also observed that extra monitoring are necessary, to be able to treat the various cases that can be encountered in the industrial context. This leads to improving the end-solution, and providing a wide range of possibilities for the users to analyze their collected data.

4.5 Conclusion

In this chapter, we discussed the solution developed throughout this thesis work, to tackle the current challenges regarding implementation of intelligent maintenance systems in the industrial context. The methodology that was developed behind the maintenance application is described, with all the different steps necessary to work efficiently on the failure modes of any production system. This methodology is not limited to the automotive industry but can be used in other fields, and can be implemented for machines having history as well as for new equipment. The architecture that was implemented in the industrial context was presented, with a description of each module composing the system. The term flexible is employed because the application allows working in a top-down and a bottom-up way.

The main benefit of the solution is that it is built on open-source software, and can be operated by users having different profiles and knowledge. It allows data exploration and creating efficient monitoring that can be used for predictive maintenance, and proposes an easy way to implement solutions developed by the central team, or other users. There is a strong belief that most of the knowledge regarding machines' health state is coming from the daily users within the plants, and this tool gives them the opportunity to experiment and create broader solutions for the rest of the users.

Several improvements on the "AI" block proposed in Figure 4.2 will be conducted. One of them being the possibility to use statistical models such as ARIMA (AutoRegressive Integrated Moving Average (Box et al. 2015)) to predict timeseries, and train machine learning models directly on the data collected by the application. One of the key approaches that will be investigated is to train models on "healthy" data, to find anomalies when new data is checked by the model. The main reason being that in most cases, the machine or system will run in its correct state for long periods of time, and sometimes catching faulty data can be difficult. For instance, Novelty Detection models can help detecting anomalies on new data by comparing calculated scores, or Autoencoders, which learn a representation of the data and compares the expected outcome to the new data. The Edge Computing solution used in combination with MHM, offer the possibility to do so and propose new features for the users. These new developments are made available because of the flexibility discussed throughout this work, and they can be implemented easily to improve progressively the end-solution.

4.5.1 Scientific contributions

After having confronted the methodology developed in Chapter 3 with the industrial context, several improvements were deemed necessary to propose an efficient predictive maintenance system. In this chapter, we propose to move from a "low-code" solution (i.e. the Edge Computing solution) to a "no-code" solution using the Machine Health Management application. This "no-code" aspect means that users do not need a coding background to use the solution, as everything can be configured through a web page, and the correct code is generated automatically.

This flexibility discussed throughout the chapter is necessary to palliate two critical and limiting aspects of the predictive maintenance topic:

• Observations and analyses on data to create a predictive maintenance solution is demanding in terms of required time and available resources: skilled users, information system to develop and implement the solution

• Most of the knowledge regarding equipment's failures is located in the plants, where users have a daily experience on the systems

Consequently, proposing a system that can be used as both a platform to develop and deploy the solutions for predictive maintenance is important. It allows reducing the time of development, as experienced users on the machines can experiment with data and propose beginning of solutions that can be shared in their turn to other users. It also allows to implement these data analyses directly on faulty equipment, and local users are involved to verify the equipment's condition and make the link between events observed on the data and on the machine itself. Finally, it contributes to having more and more local skilled people to work on such topics, to balance the top-down and bottom-up aspects of the predictive maintenance solution.

4.5.2 Industrial contributions

First and foremost, the MHM application provides a simple way for users to connect to machines using various industrial protocols, collect specific data, visualize them, implement different techniques to monitor them and receive alerts through their preferred channel of communication, all this in a standardized way.

Two use cases were presented, showing different ways of working with the application. The Helium Leak Testers topic was linked to a development coming from the central team to the plants, to provide a better way of understanding the machines and first monitoring rules linked to maintenance actions.

The heating systems topic for the Blow Molding Machines arose from plants' needs, and was developed jointly with local users. It allowed working on a faulty machine, and provided some good results to feed the application with new requirements in terms of data analysis. The solution developed locally can then be proposed back to other users, its implementation being carried out directly through the application, in a standardized way.

Developing successful and useful topics for plants is a way to promote the application, facilitate its adoption and generates local interest for such studies. By doing so, more local needs are created, and it enables the users to develop new skills linked with Industry 4.0.

4.5. CONCLUSION

Conclusion

The works presented in this document were conducted during a CIFRE thesis between the automotive company Plastic Omnium, the LCFC laboratory of the engineering school Arts et Métiers. The main objective was the development, design, and deployment of a predictive maintenance framework in a global industrial context. Many researchers contributed to the predictive maintenance topic over the past two decades, and it seems to have gained even more attention over the recent years. The main explanation behind this observation is that industrial actors are investing more and more in the Industry 4.0 topics, which also cover predictive maintenance. Indeed, data has become an invaluable source of knowledge and enables new ways of enhancing the performance of manufacturing systems, which is critical in today's global competitive market. Understanding better the behavior of a production system is one of the goals of predictive maintenance, and allows eventually to make early detections to prevent catastrophic failures. Therefore, our initial objective to propose a methodology and a set of tools to implement predictive maintenance led to the development of an Intelligent Maintenance System, capable of handling a large part of the activities of this methodology.

To reach this state, as an answer to both the scientific and industrial issues presented in Chapter 1, we organized the document as follows.

In Chapter 1, we defined our scientific and industrial contexts. The scientific topic of this thesis work revolves around predictive maintenance, and the necessary methodology to implement it thanks to Industry 4.0. In a second time, we presented the industrial context, as the automotive industry historically contributed to many advances for the whole industry, mainly due to its competitive nature. Although the main objective was to propose a non-domain centric solution, the industrial context gave the opportunity to experiment on concrete examples, with high requirements behind the goals of the thesis work. Finally, the main objective of the thesis was summarized into a research question that needed to be answered, with the help from four industrial and scientific issues.

A literature review is proposed in Chapter 2, to give a global vision of how maintenance is handled in the context of Industry 4.0. Indeed, we observed a real shift of mindset regarding the role of maintenance in the industrial context, going from "necessary evil" to one of the activities most invested on by manufacturing companies. These investments are mostly linked with the information systems required to handle the data in an efficient way. In addition, a methodology is necessary to deal with predictive maintenance, and we showed that most of the systems proposed in the literature are based on PHM. The process goes from data selection and collect, to the design of decision-making systems to support the communication of analyses made on data. We then reviewed the current challenges coming from the implementation of this methodology in the industrial context. The main difficulties are linked with the costs of such solutions, and often the lack of visibility regarding the return on investment. This can be explained by the complex nature of the predictive maintenance topic, and the necessary skills that are still scarce in the industrial context. From these observations was proposed a framework for predictive maintenance, to understand its numerous activities and how they can be implemented in industry.

The application of this framework was detailed in Chapter 3. We presented the extended methodology behind the framework, as well as the first use case selected for predictive maintenance. The study provided satisfactory results regarding the different activities of the framework, and the proposed tools to implement them. The solution enabled detecting early issues on a critical component of the welding units, and was packaged and deployed in many plants of the company. This work, in addition to parallel studies on cases having low occurrences but generating high costs, highlighted some limitations and possible improvement points. The main outcomes were the necessity to propose a tool not only for experts, but also for the daily users of the production systems who have experience on their behavior. Integrating this experience and knowledge within the predictive maintenance is the real challenge of this work, to propose efficient and relevant ways to detect and predict failures. In regard to the scientific and industrial issues defined in Chapter 1, we can say that the first application provided partial answers to the four topics, by:

• Providing a way to select meaningful cases for predictive maintenance, and identifying key parameters to be collected and monitored

- Describing the data management system used and developed throughout this thesis work, based on open-source software and tools
- Proposing analyses on data, to detect early patterns of an incoming failure mode
- Defining a decision-making system based on data visualization and results from the data analyses, communicated to the end users through alerts by emails

Consequently, we proposed a global solution to provide satisfactory answers to our research question in Chapter 4. The application developed was baptized "Machine Health Management" (MHM), and was designed to serve as a development tool for experts and non-experts, and a channel to deploy the predictive maintenance solutions globally. We emphasized on the term "flexible" to qualify this solution, as it is built on open-source standards, and can be improved based on new findings from the literature, or specific needs from the industrial actors. We presented two use cases where the use of the application provided good results, as well as new opportunities to improve it. The main contributions coming from the application are the standardization of the data collection, the use of numerous industrial communication protocols to address this data, standard visualizations proposed to users, as well as means to create specific ones, standard monitoring techniques on the collected data and various channels to alert based on the previous analyses. These contributions are the answers to the four scientific and industrial issues. The proposed framework, as well as the MHM application are the two main contributions of this thesis work, to provide an answer to our research question:

How can industries implement predictive maintenance with the help of Industry 4.0?

A summary of the contributions is proposed in Table 4.4.

During this thesis work, we worked jointly and took advantage of three principal features that were made possible thanks to the dual scientific and industrial contexts of the CIFRE agreement:

- The academic study, to understand and develop methodologies, based on works proposed by researchers from various fields
- Work on concrete use cases to confront the scientific findings to the real world and industrial requirements, which can greatly impact the proposed solutions. Including the users in the process also greatly matters

Scientific issues	Contributions
N°1: Formalization of the criticality of failure modes based on the understanding of their causes and effects	Selection of candidate topics for predictive maintenance through the analysis of costs and occurrences of failure modes from the CMMS data
	Understanding of the criticality of a candidate failure mode through the FMEA
	Integration of experts' knowledge, to add factual experience in the selection process
N°2: Structuring of the data management system to integrate multiple sources of data	Use of open-source software to develop the data management system
	Integration of multiple data sources using different communication protocols, and standardization of the data collection and storage
N°3: Creation of health check on the production system based on processed data, to anticipate failures	Development and standardization of monitoring techniques, to detect early signs of changes in the data and prevent issues
	Integration of state-of-the-art techniques, and new means to create knowledge from the data on the health state of a given equipment
N°4: Elaboration of relevant indicators to support operational and business-oriented decisions on predictive maintenance	Use of standard visualizations and offer the possibility to create specific ones
	Integration of various means of communication to alert the end-users on potential incoming failures

Table 4.4: Summary of the contributions

• Define a global technical solution, to experiment on data coming from various production systems, devices and sensors. This system must be compliant with the requirements coming from the scientific and industrial studies

Perspectives

Many opportunities and perspectives drew our attention while conducting this research work. We want to highlight three main topics that in our opinion will be necessary to propose an improved solution, based on this work. The first one discusses the architecture of the solution. The second topic is linked with the data selection activity that is outside of the scope of the MHM application. Finally, the last point deals with data analyses for predictive maintenance.

We would like to emphasize first on the design of the information system responsible for handling the predictive maintenance activities. We presented in this document an architecture capable on sending data to a data lake for global analyses, using machine learning algorithms to analyze the data or even generate automatic work orders for maintenance teams based on the alerts of the monitoring applications. The main point of attention on these features is that even though they were not directly used in the presented work, it is important to consider them when designing such system, as it needs to be flexible and reconfigurable. Based on the evolution of the predictive maintenance topics in the industrial context, the new findings and the results of the studies, the endsystem needs to be able to adapt to the requirements of the users. Consequently, these features were tested and validated in the system, to be ready for future use.

The MHM application proposes a standard way of dealing with the predictive maintenance activities linked with data handling. One of the improvements for the framework is related to data selection for failure analysis. It is a crucial step that is not always easy to perform correctly the first time. Most of the time, the choice is based on expert knowledge when it is a known issue on the equipment, however it can happen that the failure is not known or documented. As a result, there is an interest in proposing a systematic approach to select the proper data to detect and predict a given failure. To do so, a first proposition was to work on an existing approach proposed by Echeverri et al. (2021), from the LCFC laboratory. This approach aims at defining the best solution during the conception phase of a production system, using the Energetic Technical Functions (ETF). It is a representation of the energies involved in the process, in order to identify risks coming from them.

In the case of maintenance, the interest of this approach is to make the ETF

representation of the equipment or component to be monitored, in order to understand its function and the energies involved. By doing so, it is possible to then identify the data to be monitored, by linking the physical phenomena involved in the production of the ETF, and the risks of failures identified on the equipment. The first approach is proposed in Appendix E. Figure I.1 shows the ETF model as proposed by (Echeverri et al. 2021). In the case of maintenance activities, the component or equipment studied is part of a larger entity, that is why there is an interest to also involve energies exterior to the system that can also have an impact on equipment. The energies losses are also represented, as they can help quickly identifying the proper data to be monitored. Figure I.2 describes the currently proposed approach to select data for maintenance, and Figure I.3 details the different steps to be performed. This process is still under investigation, but can help proposing a systematic approach to select the relevant data for failure analyses.

Finally, from the observations coming from the different use cases studied during this work, we highlighted that catching faulty events can sometimes be a difficult task. Having failure data is not always a possibility while working on predictive maintenance topics, as for instance the case presented in Chapter 3 for the rotating elements that are costly. In the recent years, many researchers proposed to work on data collected during a known healthy state of the equipment, to learn its representation using mathematical models. There is a high interest for predictive maintenance of some critical systems where it is not possible to generate or simulate failures. One of the possibilities is called Novelty Detection as proposed by Finch (2020). It enables to create an anomaly detection system when the incoming data is outside of the known healthy state from the model. A second possibility is linked with the transformation of timeseries data into images, to use machine learning models for image classification, as proposed by Hatami et al. (2018) and Yang et al. (2019). Similarly, the main idea is to label images for the healthy state of the equipment, and detect faulty states as anomalies by the model.

Bibliography

- Abu-Elkheir, M., Hayajneh, M., and Ali, N. A. (2013). Data management for the internet of things: Design primitives and solution. *Sensors*, 13(11):15582– 15612.
- [2] Achouch, M., Dimitrova, M., Ziane, K., Sattarpanah Karganroudi, S., Dhouib, R., Ibrahim, H., and Adda, M. (2022). On predictive maintenance in industry 4.0: Overview, models, and challenges. *Applied Sciences*, 12(16):8081.
- [3] Al-Najjar, B. (2007). The lack of maintenance and not maintenance which costs: A model to describe and quantify the impact of vibration-based maintenance on company's business. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 107(1):260–273.
- [4] Alford, D., Sackett, P., and Nelder, G. (2000). Mass customisation—an automotive perspective. *International Journal of production economics*, 65(1):99– 110.
- [5] Arena, F., Collotta, M., Luca, L., Ruggieri, M., and Termine, F. G. (2021). Predictive maintenance in the automotive sector: A literature review. *Mathematical and Computational Applications*, 27(1):2.
- [6] Arora, S.-J., Ebbecke, C., Rabe, M., and Fisch, J. (2021). Methodology for the assessment of potentials, selection, and design of predictive maintenance solutions. *Proceedia CIRP*, 104:708–713.
- [7] Atlam, H. F., Walters, R. J., and Wills, G. B. (2018). Fog computing and the internet of things: A review. *big data and cognitive computing*, 2(2):10.
- [8] Ayvaz, S. and Alpay, K. (2021). Predictive maintenance system for production lines in manufacturing: A machine learning approach using iot data in real-time. *Expert Systems with Applications*, 173:114598.

- [9] Bagheri, B., Yang, S., Kao, H.-A., and Lee, J. (2015). Cyber-physical systems architecture for self-aware machines in industry 4.0 environment. *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, 48(3):1622–1627.
- [10] Baglee, D. and Jantunen, E. (2014). Can equipment failure modes support the use of a condition based maintenance strategy? *Proceedia CIRP*, 22:87–91.
- [11] Bahrin, M. A. K., Othman, M. F., Azli, N. H. N., and Talib, M. F. (2016). Industry 4.0: A review on industrial automation and robotic. *Jurnal teknologi*, 78(6-13).
- [12] Baptista, M., Sankararaman, S., de Medeiros, I. P., Nascimento Jr, C., Prendinger, H., and Henriques, E. M. (2018). Forecasting fault events for predictive maintenance using data-driven techniques and ARMA modeling. *Computers & Industrial Engineering*, 115:41–53.
- [13] Baru, A. (2018). Three ways to estimate remaining useful life for predictive maintenance. Technical report, MathWorks. Available at: https://www.math works.com/company/newsletters/articles/three-ways-to-estimate-r emaining-useful-life-for-predictive-maintenance.html.
- [14] Bashiri, M., Badri, H., and Hejazi, T. H. (2011). Selecting optimum maintenance strategy by fuzzy interactive linear assignment method. *Applied mathematical modelling*, 35(1):152–164.
- [15] Baum, L. E. and Petrie, T. (1966). Statistical inference for probabilistic functions of finite state markov chains. *The annals of mathematical statistics*, 37(6):1554–1563.
- [16] Belcher, S. L. (2017). 13 blow molding. In Kutz, M., editor, Applied Plastics Engineering Handbook (Second Edition), Plastics Design Library, pages 265– 289. William Andrew Publishing, second edition edition.
- [17] Bengio, Y. et al. (2009). Learning deep architectures for ai. Foundations and trends (R) in Machine Learning, 2(1):1–127.
- [18] Beresford, D. (2011). Exploiting siemens simatic s7 plcs. Black Hat USA, 16(2):723-733.
- [19] Bonomi, F., Milito, R., Zhu, J., and Addepalli, S. (2012). Fog computing and its role in the internet of things. In *Proceedings of the first edition of the MCC workshop on Mobile cloud computing*, pages 13–16.

- [20] Boser, B. E., Guyon, I. M., and Vapnik, V. N. (1992). A training algorithm for optimal margin classifiers. In *Proceedings of the fifth annual workshop on Computational learning theory*, pages 144–152.
- [21] Bourezza, E. M. and Mousrij, A. (2020). Towards a platform to implement an intelligent and predictive maintenance in the context of industry 4.0. In *International Conference on Artificial Intelligence & Industrial Applications*, pages 33–44. Springer.
- [22] Bousdekis, A., Lepenioti, K., Apostolou, D., and Mentzas, G. (2019). Decision making in predictive maintenance: Literature review and research agenda for industry 4.0. *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, 52(13):607–612.
- [23] Box, G. E., Jenkins, G. M., Reinsel, G. C., and Ljung, G. M. (1970 & 2015). *Time series analysis: forecasting and control.* John Wiley & Sons.
- [24] Brahim, I. B., Addouche, S., El Mhamedi, A., and Boujelbene, Y. (2019). Build a bayesian network from fmeca in the production of automotive parts: Diagnosis and prediction. *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, 52(13):2572–2577.
- [25] Brennen, J. S. and Kreiss, D. (2016). Digitalization. *The international encyclopedia of communication theory and philosophy*, pages 1–11.
- [26] Brown, D. W., Georgoulas, G., Bole, B., Pei, H.-L., Orchard, M., Tang, L., Saha, B., Saxena, A., Goebel, K., and Vachtsevanos, G. (2009). Prognostics enhanced reconfigurable control of electro-mechanical actuators. In *Annual* conference of the prognostics and health management society, pages 1–17. PHM Society Rochester, NY.
- [27] Cachada, A., Barbosa, J., Leitño, P., Gcraldes, C. A., Deusdado, L., Costa, J., Teixeira, C., Teixeira, J., Moreira, A. H., Moreira, P. M., et al. (2018). Maintenance 4.0: Intelligent and predictive maintenance system architecture. In 2018 IEEE 23rd international conference on emerging technologies and factory automation (ETFA), volume 1, pages 139–146. IEEE.
- [28] Cara, F., Boudaoud, N., Grandvalet, Y., Ponchet Durupt, A., Galliot, S., and Convain, P. (2019). Quality parts prediction in industry 4.0: a first attempt towards product failures anticipation. In CIGI QUALITA 2019.
- [29] Chakraborty, M. and Kundan, A. P. (2021). Grafana. In *Monitoring Cloud-Native Applications*, pages 187–240. Springer.
- [30] Chesworth, D. (2018). Industry 4.0 Techniques as a Maintenance Strategy (A Review Paper). Research Project: Maintenance Strategies in Industry, Glyndwr University: Wrexham, UK.
- [31] Christou, I. T., Kefalakis, N., Zalonis, A., Soldatos, J., and Bröchler, R. (2020). End-to-end industrial iot platform for actionable predictive maintenance. *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, 53(3):173–178.
- [32] Cicek, K., Turan, H. H., Topcu, Y. I., and Searslan, M. N. (2010). Riskbased preventive maintenance planning using failure mode and effect analysis (fmea) for marine engine systems. In 2010 Second International Conference on Engineering System Management and Applications, pages 1–6. IEEE.
- [33] Cortes, C. and Vapnik, V. (1995). Support-vector networks. Machine learning, 20(3):273–297.
- [34] Crockford, D. (2008). JavaScript: The Good Parts: The Good Parts. " O'Reilly Media, Inc.".
- [35] Dai, X. and Gao, Z. (2013). From model, signal to knowledge: A data-driven perspective of fault detection and diagnosis. *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Informatics*, 9(4):2226–2238.
- [36] Dhillon, B. S. (2002). Engineering maintenance: a modern approach. cRc press.
- [37] Diène, B., Rodrigues, J. J., Diallo, O., Ndoye, E. H. M., and Korotaev, V. V. (2020). Data management techniques for internet of things. *Mechanical Systems and Signal Processing*, 138:106564.
- [38] Dragomir, O. E., Gouriveau, R., Dragomir, F., Minca, E., and Zerhouni, N. (2009). Review of prognostic problem in condition-based maintenance. In 2009 European Control Conference (ECC), pages 1587–1592. IEEE.
- [39] Dremel, C., Wulf, J., Herterich, M. M., Waizmann, J.-C., and Brenner, W. (2017). How audi ag established big data analytics in its digital transformation. *MIS Quarterly Executive*, 16(2).
- [40] Drucker, H., Burges, C. J., Kaufman, L., Smola, A., and Vapnik, V. (1996). Support vector regression machines. Advances in neural information processing systems, 9.

- [41] Dutta, A. and Ryan, M. (1982). A study of parison development in extrusion blow molding. *Journal of Non-Newtonian Fluid Mechanics*, 10(3-4):235–256.
- [42] Echeverri, J. C. G., Dantan, J.-Y., and Godot, X. (2021). Design framework for production systems based on BES model–Application in design for safety. *Proceedia CIRP*, 99:484–489.
- [43] Einabadi, B., Baboli, A., and Ebrahimi, M. (2019). Dynamic predictive maintenance in industry 4.0 based on real time information: Case study in automotive industries. *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, 52(13):1069–1074.
- [44] Faiz, R. and Edirisinghe, E. A. (2009). Decision making for predictive maintenance in asset information management. *Interdisciplinary Journal of Information, Knowledge, and Management*, 4:23.
- [45] Fernandes, J., Reis, J., Melão, N., Teixeira, L., and Amorim, M. (2021). The Role of Industry 4.0 and BPMN in the Arise of Condition-Based and Predictive Maintenance: A Case Study in the Automotive Industry. *Applied Sciences*, 11(8):3438.
- [46] Fernandes, M., Canito, A., Bolón-Canedo, V., Conceição, L., Praça, I., and Marreiros, G. (2019a). Data analysis and feature selection for predictive maintenance: a case-study in the metallurgic industry. *International Journal* of Information Management, 46:252–262.
- [47] Fernandes, M., Canito, A., Corchado, J. M., and Marreiros, G. (2019b). Fault Detection Mechanism of a Predictive Maintenance System Based on Autoregressive Integrated Moving Average Models. In *International Symposium* on Distributed Computing and Artificial Intelligence, pages 171–180. Springer.
- [48] Finch, M. F. (2020). Novelty Detection for Predictive Maintenance. East Carolina University.
- [49] Fusko, M., Rakyta, M., Krajcovic, M., Dulina, L., Gaso, M., and Grznar, P. (2018). Basics of designing maintenance processes in industry 4.0. *MM Science Journal*, 2018(3):2252–2259.
- [50] Gackowiec, P. (2019). General overview of maintenance strategies-concepts and approaches. *Multidisciplinary Aspects of Production Engineering*, 2.
- [51] Garcia, E., Costa, A., Palanca, J., Giret, A., Julian, V., and Botti, V. (2019). Requirements for an intelligent maintenance system for industry 4.0.

In International Workshop on Service Orientation in Holonic and Multi-Agent Manufacturing, pages 340–351. Springer.

- [52] Gehrke, L., Kühn, A. T., Rule, D., Moore, P., Bellmann, C., Siemes, S., Dawood, D., Lakshmi, S., Kulik, J., and Standley, M. (2015). A discussion of qualifications and skills in the factory of the future: A german and american perspective. *VDI/ASME Industry*, 4:1–28.
- [53] Goodfellow, I., Pouget-Abadie, J., Mirza, M., Xu, B., Warde-Farley, D., Ozair, S., Courville, A., and Bengio, Y. (2020). Generative adversarial networks. *Communications of the ACM*, 63(11):139–144.
- [54] Gouriveau, R., Medjaher, K., and Zerhouni, N. (2016). From Prognostics and Health systems Management to predictive maintenance 1: monitoring and prognostics. John Wiley & Sons.
- [55] Hatami, N., Gavet, Y., and Debayle, J. (2018). Classification of time-series images using deep convolutional neural networks. In *Tenth international conference on machine vision (ICMV 2017)*, volume 10696, pages 242–249. SPIE.
- [56] Hochreiter, S. and Schmidhuber, J. (1997). Long short-term memory. *Neural* computation, 9(8):1735–1780.
- [57] Holweg, M. (2008). The evolution of competition in the automotive industry. Build To Order: The Road to the 5-Day Car, pages 13–34.
- [58] Horner, R. M. W., El-Haram, M., and Munns, A. (1997). Building maintenance strategy: a new management approach. *Journal of quality in maintenance engineering.*
- [59] Hotelling, H. (1933). Analysis of a complex of statistical variables into principal components. *Journal of educational psychology*, 24(6):417.
- [60] Hounshell, D. (1985). From the American system to mass production, 1800-1932: The development of manufacturing technology in the United States. JHU Press.
- [61] Huber, S., Wiemer, H., Schneider, D., and Ihlenfeldt, S. (2019). DMME: Data mining methodology for engineering applications – a holistic extension to the CRISP-DM model. *Proceedia CIRP*, 79:403–408.

- [62] Hunkeler, U., Truong, H. L., and Stanford-Clark, A. (2008). Mqtt-s—a publish/subscribe protocol for wireless sensor networks. In 2008 3rd International Conference on Communication Systems Software and Middleware and Workshops (COMSWARE'08), pages 791–798. IEEE.
- [63] IEEE (2017). IEEE Standard Framework for Prognostics and Health Management of Electronic Systems. *IEEE Std 1856-2017*, pages 1–31.
- [64] Isaksson, A. J., Harjunkoski, I., and Sand, G. (2018). The impact of digitalization on the future of control and operations. *Computers & Chemical Engineering*, 114:122–129.
- [65] Jouin, M., Gouriveau, R., Hissel, D., Péra, M.-C., and Zerhouni, N. (2013). Prognostics and health management of pemfc–state of the art and remaining challenges. *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, 38(35):15307–15317.
- [66] Jovane, F., Koren, Y., and Boer, C. (2003). Present and future of flexible automation: towards new paradigms. *CIRP Annals*, 52(2):543–560.
- [67] Kabasakal, I., Demircan Keskin, F., Ventura, K., and Soyuer, H. (2017). From mass customization to product personalization in automotive industry: potentials of industry 4.0. *Pressacademia*, 4:244–250.
- [68] Kagermann, H., Lukas, W.-D., and Wahlster, W. (2011). Industrie 4.0: Mit dem internet der dinge auf dem weg zur 4. industriellen revolution. VDI nachrichten, 13(1):2–3.
- [69] Kalogerakis, K., Tiwari, R., and Fischer, L. (2017). A comparison of german and indian innovation pathways in the auto component industry. *EconStor*.
- [70] Khan, F. I. and Haddara, M. M. (2003). Risk-based maintenance (rbm): a quantitative approach for maintenance/inspection scheduling and planning. *Journal of loss prevention in the process industries*, 16(6):561–573.
- [71] Khan, M., Ahmad, A., Sobieczky, F., Pichler, M., Moser, B. A., and Bukovský, I. (2022). A systematic mapping study of predictive maintenance in smes. *IEEE Access*, 10:88738–88749.
- [72] Khan, W. Z., Ahmed, E., Hakak, S., Yaqoob, I., and Ahmed, A. (2019). Edge computing: A survey. *Future Generation Computer Systems*, 97:219–235.

- [73] Khoshafian, S. and Rostetter, C. (2015). Digital prescriptive maintenance. Internet of Things, Process of Everything, BPM Everywhere, pages 1–20.
- [74] Kim, W. (2009). Cloud computing: Today and tomorrow. J. Object Technol., 8(1):65–72.
- [75] Kleyner, A., Vasan, A., and Pecht, M. (2017). A new application for failure prognostics-reduction of automotive electronics reliability test duration. In Annual Conference of the Prognostics and Health Management Society, page 22.
- [76] Klutke, G.-A., Kiessler, P. C., and Wortman, M. A. (2003). A critical look at the bathtub curve. *IEEE Transactions on reliability*, 52(1):125–129.
- [77] Krupitzer, C., Wagenhals, T., Züfle, M., Lesch, V., Schäfer, D., Mozaffarin, A., Edinger, J., Becker, C., and Kounev, S. (2020). A survey on predictive maintenance for industry 4.0. arXiv preprint arXiv:2002.08224.
- [78] Laloix, T., Vu, H. C., Voisin, A., Romagne, E., and Iung, B. (2018). A priori indicator identification to support predictive maintenance: application to machine tool. In *PHM Society European Conference*, volume 4.
- [79] Lebold, M., Reichard, K., and Boylan, D. (2003). Utilizing DCOM in an open system architecture framework for machinery monitoring and diagnostics. In 2003 IEEE Aerospace Conference, Proceedings, IEEE Aerospace Conference Proceedings, pages 1227–1236.
- [80] Lee, J., Kao, H.-A., and Yang, S. (2014). Service innovation and smart analytics for industry 4.0 and big data environment. *Proceedia cirp*, 16:3–8.
- [81] Lee, N. C. (2006). *Practical guide to blow moulding*. iSmithers Rapra Publishing.
- [82] Lee, Y. O., Jo, J., and Hwang, J. (2017). Application of deep neural network and generative adversarial network to industrial maintenance: A case study of induction motor fault detection. In 2017 IEEE International Conference on Big Data (BIGDATA), pages 3248–3253. IEEE.
- [83] Legát, V., MošnA, F., ALeš, Z., and JurčA, V. (2017). Preventive maintenance models-higher operational reliability. *Eksploatacja i Niezawodność*, 19(1).

- [84] Lei, Y., Li, N., Guo, L., Li, N., Yan, T., and Lin, J. (2018). Machinery health prognostics: A systematic review from data acquisition to RUL prediction. *Mechanical Systems and Signal Processing*, 104:799–834.
- [85] Leitner, S.-H. and Mahnke, W. (2006). Opc ua–service-oriented architecture for industrial applications. *ABB Corporate Research Center*, 48(61-66):22.
- [86] Li, Z., Wang, Y., and Wang, K.-S. (2017). Intelligent predictive maintenance for fault diagnosis and prognosis in machine centers: Industry 4.0 scenario. *Advances in Manufacturing*, 5(4):377–387.
- [87] Lind, H. and Muyingo, H. (2012). Building maintenance strategies: planning under uncertainty. *Property Management*.
- [88] Litterman, R. B. (1980). Bayesian procedure for forecasting with vector autoregressions. Massachusetts Institute of Technology.
- [89] Liu, J. and Zio, E. (2016). Prediction of peak values in time series data for prognostics of critical components in nuclear power plants. *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, 49(28):174–178.
- [90] Löhr, A. and Buderath, M. (2014). Evolving the data management backbone: Binary osa-cbm and code generation for osa-eai. In Second european conference of the prognostics and health management society.
- [91] Lueth, K. L. (2020). State of the iot 2020: 12 billion iot connections, surpassing non-iot for the first time. *IoT Analytics*, 19(11).
- [92] Marjanović, A., Kvaščev, G., Tadić, P., and Durović, Z. (2011). Applications of predictive maintenance techniques in industrial systems. *Serbian Journal* of Electrical Engineering, 8(3):263–279.
- [93] McCulloch, W. S. and Pitts, W. (1943). A logical calculus of the ideas immanent in nervous activity. The bulletin of mathematical biophysics, 5(4):115–133.
- [94] McDermott, R. E., Mikulak, R. J., and Beauregard, M. R. (2009). FMEA. New York: Taylor & Francis Group.
- [95] Mobley, R. K. (2002). An introduction to predictive maintenance. Elsevier.
- [96] Mostafa, S., Dumrak, J., and Soltan, H. (2015). Lean maintenance roadmap. Procedia Manufacturing, 2:434–444.
- [97] Moubray, J. (2001). *Reliability-centered maintenance*. Industrial Press Inc.

- [98] Mourtzis, D. and Vlachou, E. (2018). A cloud-based cyber-physical system for adaptive shop-floor scheduling and condition-based maintenance. *Journal* of manufacturing systems, 47:179–198.
- [99] Muganyi, P., Mbohwa, C., and Madanhire, I. (2018). Design-out maintenance as a crucial maintenance facet. In Proceedings of the International Conference on Industrial Engineering and Operations Management.
- [100] Muhuri, P. K., Shukla, A. K., and Abraham, A. (2019). Industry 4.0: A bibliometric analysis and detailed overview. *Engineering applications of artificial intelligence*, 78:218–235.
- [101] Naqvi, S. N. Z., Yfantidou, S., and Zimányi, E. (2017). Time series databases and influxdb. *Studienarbeit, Université Libre de Bruxelles*, 12.
- [102] Nazir, N. and Shavarebi, K. (2019). A review of global automotive industry's competitive strategies. World Journal of Science, Technology and Sustainable Development, ahead-of-print.
- [103] NF EN 13306 (2001). Maintenance maintenance terminology. National standards and national normative documents.
- [104] Nguyen, K. T. and Medjaher, K. (2019). A new dynamic predictive maintenance framework using deep learning for failure prognostics. *Reliability En*gineering & System Safety, 188:251–262.
- [105] Oakland, J. S. (2007). *Statistical process control*. Routledge.
- [106] O'Leary, N. and Conway-Jones, D. (2013). Node-RED. Retrieved from https://nodered.org/.
- [107] Pearl, J. (1985). Bayesian networks: A model of self-activated memory for evidential reasoning. In Proceedings of the 7th conference of the Cognitive Science Society, University of California, Irvine, CA, USA, pages 15–17.
- [108] Qian, L., Luo, Z., Du, Y., and Guo, L. (2009). Cloud computing: An overview. In *IEEE international conference on cloud computing*, pages 626– 631. Springer.
- [109] Reinsel, D. (2021). 2025: The datasphere and data-readiness from edge to core.
- [110] Reinsel, D., Gantz, J., and Rydning, J. (2018). The digitization of the world from edge to core. *IDC white paper*.

- [111] Rødseth, H., Schjølberg, P., Wabner, M., and Frieß, U. (2017). Predictive Maintenance for Synchronizing Maintenance Planning with Production. In International Workshop of Advanced Manufacturing and Automation, pages 439–446. Springer.
- [112] Rosenblatt, F. (1958). The perceptron: a probabilistic model for information storage and organization in the brain. *Psychological review*, 65(6):386.
- [113] Ruiz-Sarmiento, J.-R., Monroy, J., Moreno, F.-A., Galindo, C., Bonelo, J.-M., and Gonzalez-Jimenez, J. (2020). A predictive model for the maintenance of industrial machinery in the context of industry 4.0. *Engineering Applications* of Artificial Intelligence, 87:103289.
- [114] Sahli, A., Evans, R., and Manohar, A. (2021). Predictive maintenance in industry 4.0: Current themes. *Proceedia CIRP*, 104:1948–1953.
- [115] Sambrekar, A., Vishnu, C., and Sridharan, R. (2018). Maintenance strategies for realizing industry 4.0: An overview. *Emerging Trends in Engineering*, *Science and Technology for Society, Energy and Environment*, pages 365–374.
- [116] Sankavaram, C., Kodali, A., Pattipati, K., Singh, S., Zhang, Y., and Salman, M. (2016). An inference-based prognostic framework for health management of automotive systems. *International Journal of Prognostics and Health Management*, 7:1–16.
- [117] Sanz, E., Blesa, J., and Puig, V. (2021). Bidrac industry 4.0 framework: application to an automotive paint shop process. *Control Engineering Practice*, 109:104757.
- [118] Schmidt, B., Wang, L., and Galar, D. (2017). Semantic framework for predictive maintenance in a cloud environment. In 10th CIRP Conference on Intelligent Computation in Manufacturing Engineering, CIRP ICME'16, Ischia, Italy, 20-22 July 2016, volume 62, pages 583–588. Elsevier.
- [119] Shafiee, M. and Sørensen, J. D. (2019). Maintenance optimization and inspection planning of wind energy assets: Models, methods and strategies. *Reliability Engineering & System Safety*, 192:105993.
- [120] Sheppard, J. W. and DeBruycker, J. D. (2018). An investigation of current and emerging standards to support a framework for prognostics and health management in automatic test systems. In 2018 IEEE AUTOTESTCON, pages 1–7. IEEE.

- [121] Shimokawa, K. (1994). From the ford system to the just-in-time production system a historical study of international shifts in automobile production systems, their connection, and their transformation. Japanese yearbook on business history, 10:83–105.
- [122] Shrivastava, A. (2018). 5 plastics processing. In Shrivastava, A., editor, Introduction to Plastics Engineering, Plastics Design Library, pages 143–177. William Andrew Publishing.
- [123] Si, X.-S., Wang, W., Hu, C.-H., and Zhou, D.-H. (2011). Remaining useful life estimation – A review on the statistical data driven approaches. *European journal of operational research*, 213(1):1–14.
- [124] Sniderman, B., Mahto, M., Cotteleer, M. J., et al. (2016). Industry 4.0 and manufacturing ecosystems: Exploring the world of connected enterprises. *Deloitte Consulting*, 1:3–14.
- [125] Srivastava, N. K. and Mondal, S. (2015). Predictive maintenance using modified FMECA method. *International journal of productivity and quality* management, 16:267–280.
- [126] Stanula, P., Ziegenbein, A., and Metternich, J. (2018). Machine learning algorithms in production: A guideline for efficient data source selection. *Procedia CIRP*, 78:261–266.
- [127] Swales, A. et al. (1999). Open modbus/tcp specification. Schneider Electric, 29:3–19.
- [128] Tiddens, W., Braaksma, J., and Tinga, T. (2020). Exploring predictive maintenance applications in industry. *Journal of quality in maintenance en*gineering.
- [129] Vaidya, S., Ambad, P., and Bhosle, S. (2018). Industry 4.0–a glimpse. Proceedia manufacturing, 20:233–238.
- [130] Varghese, B., Wang, N., Barbhuiya, S., Kilpatrick, P., and Nikolopoulos, D. S. (2016). Challenges and opportunities in edge computing. In 2016 IEEE International Conference on Smart Cloud (SmartCloud), pages 20–26. IEEE.
- [131] Vishnu, C. and Regikumar, V. (2016). Reliability based maintenance strategy selection in process plants: a case study. *Proceedia technology*, 25:1080– 1087.

- [132] Vogl, G. W., Weiss, B. A., and Donmez, M. A. (2014a). Standards for prognostics and health management (PHM) techniques within manufacturing operations. Technical report, National Institute of Standards and Technology Gaithersburg United States.
- [133] Vogl, G. W., Weiss, B. A., and Donmez, M. A. (2014b). Standards related to prognostics and health management (PHM) for manufacturing. US Department of Commerce, National Institute of Standards and Technology.
- [134] Voisin, A., Levrat, E., Cocheteux, P., and Iung, B. (2010). Generic prognosis model for proactive maintenance decision support: application to pre-industrial e-maintenance test bed. *Journal of Intelligent Manufacturing*, 21(2):177–193.
- [135] Vongsingthong, S. and Smanchat, S. (2015). A review of data management in internet of things. Asia-Pacific Journal of Science and Technology, 20(2):215–240.
- [136] Vošta, M. and Kocourek, A. (2017). Competitiveness of the european automobile industry in the global context. *Politics in Central Europe*, 13.
- [137] Wang, K. (2016). Intelligent predictive maintenance (ipdm) systemindustry 4.0 scenario. WIT Transactions on Engineering Sciences, 113:259– 268.
- [138] Wang, K.-S., Li, Z., Braaten, J., and Yu, Q. (2015). Interpretation and compensation of backlash error data in machine centers for intelligent predictive maintenance using anns. *Advances in Manufacturing*, 3.
- [139] Wang, L., Chu, J., and Wu, J. (2007). Selection of optimum maintenance strategies based on a fuzzy analytic hierarchy process. *International journal* of production economics, 107(1):151–163.
- [140] Wang, S., Wan, J., Li, D., and Zhang, C. (2016). Implementing smart factory of industrie 4.0: an outlook. *International journal of distributed sensor networks*, 12(1):3159805.
- [141] Yan, J., Meng, Y., Lu, L., and Li, L. (2017). Industrial big data in an industry 4.0 environment: Challenges, schemes, and applications for predictive maintenance. *IEEE Access*, 5:23484–23491.

- [142] Yang, C.-L., Chen, Z.-X., and Yang, C.-Y. (2019). Sensor classification using convolutional neural network by encoding multivariate time series as two-dimensional colored images. *Sensors*, 20(1):168.
- [143] Yule, G. U. (1927). Vii. on a method of investigating periodicities disturbed series, with special reference to wolfer's sunspot numbers. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series A, Containing Papers of a Mathematical or Physical Character*, 226(636-646):267–298.
- [144] Zhao, R., Yan, R., Chen, Z., Mao, K., Wang, P., and Gao, R. X. (2019). Deep learning and its applications to machine health monitoring. *Mechanical Systems and Signal Processing*, 115:213–237.
- [145] Zhao, Z., Wang, F.-l., Jia, M.-x., and Wang, S. (2010). Predictive maintenance policy based on process data. *Chemometrics and Intelligent Laboratory* Systems, 103(2):137–143.

Résumé en français

Ce document présente les résultats d'un projet collaboratif entre Plastic Omnium et le laboratoire LCFC d'Arts et Métiers. L'objectif du projet était de créer un cadre de maintenance prédictive à utiliser dans les milieux industriels. La maintenance prédictive (ou prévisionnelle), qui consiste à utiliser des données pour prévoir et prévenir les défaillances de l'équipement, a suscité de plus en plus d'attention ces dernières années dans le cadre des activités liées à l'Industrie 4.0. Le développement d'un système de maintenance intelligent capable de gérer une grande partie des travaux nécessaires à la mise en œuvre d'une approche de maintenance prédictive a été un résultat clé du projet. L'objectif du système est d'améliorer les performances des systèmes de production en ayant une meilleure compréhension leur comportement et en détectant les défaillances de manière précoce, afin de les prévenir.

Au Chapitre 1, nous avons présenté le sujet de cette thèse, qui porte sur la maintenance prédictive et son application grâce à des techniques de l'Industrie 4.0. Nous avons également décrit le contexte industriel dans lequel le travail a été mené, en particulier l'industrie automobile, qui a une longue tradition de conduite de l'innovation dans ce domaine. L'objectif du sujet était de développer une solution qui pourrait être appliquée à différents domaines, mais le contexte industriel a fourni un cadre pratique pour tester et affiner les méthodes proposées. L'objectif principal de la thèse a alors été résumé sous la forme d'une question de recherche, ainsi que de quatre verrous scientifiques et besoins industriels connexes qui devaient être traités.

Le Chapitre 2 présente une revue de la littérature sur l'état actuel de la maintenance dans le contexte de l'Industrie 4.0. Dans ce chapitre, nous avons constaté un changement dans la façon dont la maintenance est perçue par les entreprises de fabrication, passant d'une image de "mal nécessaire" à un élément clé pour l'industriel. Nous avons également discuté de la méthodologie util-

isée pour mettre en œuvre la maintenance prédictive, qui implique généralement l'utilisation du PHM (Prognostics & Health Management). Le processus de mise en œuvre de la maintenance prédictive comprend des étapes telles que la sélection et la collecte de données, et la conception de systèmes de prise de décision pour soutenir la communication des analyses réalisées. Nous avons examiné les défis associés à la mise en œuvre de cette méthodologie dans un contexte industriel, y compris les coûts et la difficulté de démontrer un retour sur investissement. Pour aider à surmonter ces défis, nous avons proposé un cadre de maintenance prédictive qui décrit les différentes activités impliquées et comment elles peuvent être mises en œuvre dans l'industrie.

Le Chapitre 3 décrit l'application du cadre de maintenance prédictive introduit au Chapitre 2. Nous avons décrit la méthodologie étendue derrière le cadre et présenté une étude de cas dans laquelle le cadre a été utilisé pour détecter des problèmes avec un composant critique dans les unités de soudure. L'étude de cas a montré des résultats satisfaisants concernant les différentes activités du cadre et des outils utilisés pour les mettre en œuvre. La solution a été en mesure de détecter de premiers problèmes avec le composant et a été déployée dans plusieurs usines. Cependant, l'étude a également identifié certaines limites et domaines d'amélioration, notamment la nécessité de développer un outil accessible à la fois aux experts et aux utilisateurs non-experts des systèmes de production. L'intégration des connaissances et de l'expérience de ces utilisateurs dans le processus de maintenance prédictive est un défi clé afin de détecter et de prédire efficacement les défaillances. En ce qui concerne les problèmes scientifiques et industriels décrits au Chapitre 1, l'étude de cas a fourni des réponses partielles en:

- Développant une méthode pour sélectionner des cas significatifs pour la maintenance prédictive, et en identifiant les principaux paramètres à collecter et à surveiller
- Décrivant le système de gestion de données utilisé et développé dans le projet, qui est basé sur des logiciels et des outils open source
- Effectuant des analyses de données pour détecter de premiers modèles d'un mode de défaillance imminent
- Concevant un système de prise de décision basé sur la visualisation des données et sur les résultats de leurs analyses, et qui alerte les utilisateurs finaux par e-mail

Par conséquent, au **Chapitre 4**, nous avons proposé une solution globale pour répondre à la question de recherche énoncée au **Chapitre 1**. La solution,

appelée "Machine Health Management" (MHM), a été conçue pour servir à la fois d'outil de développement pour les experts et les non-experts, et d'une plateforme pour déployer des solutions de maintenance prédictive à l'échelle mondiale. Nous avons souligné la flexibilité de la solution, qui est construite sur des normes open source, et qui peut être adaptée aux nouvelles découvertes de la littérature ou aux besoins spécifiques des acteurs industriels. Nous avons présenté deux études de cas dans lesquelles l'utilisation de l'application MHM a fourni de bons résultats et a identifié des opportunités d'amélioration. Les principales contributions de l'application MHM sont la normalisation de la collecte de données, l'utilisation de divers protocoles de communication industrielle pour transmettre les données, des visualisations standard pour les utilisateurs ainsi que la possibilité de créer des visualisations personnalisées, des techniques standard pour surveiller les données collectées et différents canaux pour alerter en fonction des analyses de données. Ces contributions répondent aux quatre problèmes scientifiques et industriels énoncés au Chapitre 1. Le cadre proposé et l'application MHM sont les principales contributions de cette thèse pour répondre à la question de recherche : "Comment les industries peuvent-elles mettre en œuvre la maintenance prédictive avec l'aide de l'Industrie 4.0?"

Ce projet de thèse a profité de trois aspects clés rendus possibles par le contexte scientifique et industriel double de la convention CIFRE :

- La possibilité de mener des recherches scientifiques et de développer des méthodologies sur la base du travail de chercheurs de différents domaines
- La possibilité de confronter les solutions proposées sur des cas réels, et aux exigences industrielles, et d'impliquer les utilisateurs finaux dans le processus
- Le développement d'une solution technique capable de gérer les données de divers systèmes de production, appareils et capteurs et de répondre aux exigences des études scientifiques et industrielles

Appendices

A Plastic Omnium Clean Energy Systems presentation

The Clean Energy Systems division of Plastic Omnium is specialized in plastic fuel tanks systems, and depolluting systems, mostly for private and commercial vehicles. Some numbers about the division can be found in Figure A.1. In 2018, more than 22M fuel systems have been delivered, representing 1 out of 4 commercialized vehicles equipped with a CES fuel system. Since 2021, the company is also evolving towards electrification of vehicles, by producing battery packs, and proposing high-pressure tanks for hydrogen-powered vehicles.



Figure A.1: CES division numbers

The material used for producing the fuel tanks is High-Density Polyethylene (HDPE). There are several reasons why they are made of plastic and not in metal as they used to be (for cars):

- Plastic is lighter than metal (about 30%); which allows a reduction of fuel consumption
- The raw material is less expensive
- A plastic tank cannot explode: it will melt, and the fuel will be spilled on the floor

However, one issue is the permeability: as plastic is a porous material, fuel will eventually end up going through it and that leads to two major issues: the



Figure A.2: Plastic fuel tank



Figure A.3: Filler pipe

consumer will lose some of his gas, and this one will go into the air and pollute the atmosphere. That is why a fuel tank is not a simple container of fuel: it is a real part composed of complex technologies, from the production processes to the material used, and also the parts attached to the fuel system; filling system, pump gauge module, ventilation. These are used to make the fuel system less permeable to cope with the different regulations. Figure A.2 shows an example on a plastic fuel tank, and the different parts welded on it.

A fuel system A.4 is composed of a fuel tank and a filler pipe A.3, the latter is the only part visible of the system by the end user, to refill the tank at the station.

The system called SCR (Selective Catalytic Reduction) stores a fluid named Adblue, which reduces the polluting emissions for diesel vehicles, as shown in Figure A.5.



Figure A.4: Fuel system



Figure A.5: SCR product

B Fuel tanks production: the different processes

Several processes exist to produce a fuel tank. Each of them are quite different, and the resulting tanks have their specific properties.

Mono-layer tank It is the basic process used to produce a plastic fuel tank. The material used is HDPE as mentioned in the previous appendix, it is melted and transported through and extruder until the "head" of the machine that will deliver the right quantity of material to produce the part. A "parison" is created by the head, such as in Figure B.1; it is then captured by the mold that is composed of two parts, and then the parison is blown so that the material will take the shapes of the mold. Then, the tank is going through a fluorination phase, so that its permeability is improved.



Figure B.1: Plastic parison



The different steps are depicted in Figure B.2:

Figure B.2: Blow molding process (training material Plastic Omnium)

For all the processes presented, the next step after the extrusion and the blowing of the tank are the same: it goes through a post-cooling phase where the temperature of the tank is reduced, then a finishing phase where the different components are welded on the tank, and finally, the filler pipe is assembled on the fuel tank.

Co-extrusion To get rid of the fluorination phase of the mono-layer tanks (because of its toxicity and dangers) and to solve the problem of permeability to respect the norms, a co-extrusion process has been designed by the division. The steps are like the mono-extrusion, though in that case, up to seven extruders can be used instead of one. The goal is to create a multi-layer tank with the use of different material, as shown in Figure B.3:



Figure B.3: Co-extrusion process (training material Plastic Omnium)

A new material appears, to replace the fluorination phase: the EVOH (Ethylene Vinyl alcohol). It allows a high degree of permeability, so that the fuel leaks can sustain the norms. Though, as it is a highly volatile substance, it requires layers of adhesives to stay in place.

TSBM: Twin Sheet Blow Molding This is the most recent process designed by the company. To reduce even more the gas leaks within the tank, the components that were previously welded on the tank are now trapped inside the tank. Two parallel sheets are extruded, and then individually blown on the two sides of the central core that contains the components. Finally, the two sides are welded together to form the tank. The process is shown in Figure B.4:



Figure B.4: TSBM process (training material Plastic Omnium)

C Full production process

Blow-molding is the first process to produce the fuel system (1). Once it has been blown, the flash around the tank is removed and regrinded (2), then it enters a phase of post-mold cooling, where its temperature is lowered with a water flow in a second mold (3/4). It is then stabilized in ambient air (5/6), before entering the finishing center, where parts of the tank will be cut, and extra components welded on it (7). Then some parts will be assembled on the tank, such as the filler pipe presented above (8/9/10). Finally, every tank is tested to detect possible leaks (11). WLT refers to Water Leak Test, which is a machine used to check the leaks of the produced tanks by immersing it into water. A trained quality operator then checks visually for bubbles, if the machine did not detect first major leakage. Other leak-testing technologies exist, such as HLT (Helium Leak Test), where helium gas is injected inside a sealed tank, then particles observed outside of the tank should not exceed a certain amount to validate the quality of the product. Finally, parts are shipped to customers (12).

In some cases, tanks are shipped in advanced locations for assembly, before steps 8/9/10.

The full process is detailed in Figure C.1:



Figure C.1: Full production process

D Modelling linked to predictive maintenance activities



Figure D.1: SADT



Figure D.2: BPMN

E Welding unit - thermocouples' issues detection



Figure E.1: Detection of failure on thermocouple (Grafana)

As observed on the two graphs of Figure E.1, the application is counting the peaks observed, and triggers an alert to the plant's maintenance team. From the event in the figure, maintenance team observed a cable wear issue, the wire being exposed and making contact with other parts of the machine during the movement of the unit. These contacts create the observed peaks, or micro-cuts. An example of cable issue can be seen in Figure E.2.



Figure E.2: Thermocouple cable issue

F Welding unit - band heaters experiments



Figure F.1: Fast cooling modification

Without blowing air: 15min to heat to $300^{\circ}C / 1h30$ to cool down to $50^{\circ}C$



With air blowing: 15min to heat to $300^{\circ}C / 30min$ to cool down to $50^{\circ}C$ /



Figure F.2: Repeated cycles (Grafana)



Figure F.3: Mechanical tests (Grafana)

G BMM - vibration and hydraulics



Figure G.1: Mechanical failure detection

The value displayed in Figure G.1 is the velocity of the vibration, also named Velocity Root Mean Square (V-RMS). It is linked with the energy of the vibration, and studying its trend gives a relevant indicator of the state of the rotating element.

In the case presented above, the slow increasing trend of the data until it reached the first warning level allowed the early replacement of the motor. After analysis of the non-drive end of the equipment, mechanical wear was observed on bearing flange. This damage was produced by an unbalance located on the rotating axis, which could have ultimately created an issue on the outer race of the bearing.

Despite the early stage of the deterioration, an efficient planning to verify the part allowed the plant to avoid a failure on this critical component. A low estimation of the non-production costs are around 500\$ per hour lost, in addition to the cost of the components to be replaced. Cases like this one show the relevance of the monitoring system, and also facilitates the adoption by users.

Figure G.2 shows two cases where the monitoring of the particles within the oil provided an indication on its contamination. This contamination can come from external systems, even though it is filtered, some particles can still transfer to the oil and create issues within the mechanical systems.



Figure G.2: Oil contamination detection

A contaminated oil is less effective in lubricating the systems, and can then generate wear on the mechanical contact points. The produced mechanical wear will in its turn contaminate the oil with metallic particles and generate further issues in the whole system. Consequently, monitoring the quality of the oil is a critical maintenance task.

To generate the alarm levels observed in the figure, the standard ISO 4406 was used. Its goal is to help determining the threshold above which the quality of the oil is deemed deteriorated. To do so, a maximum number of observed particles of different sizes (higher than $4\mu m$, $6\mu m$ and $14\mu m$) is taken into account, in 1mL of oil. Then, depending on the type of equipment used, thresholds can be implemented on these parameters, using the norm. In the case presented here, the particles larger than $21\mu m$ are also considered.



H HLT - data visualization

Figure H.1: Data visualization for HLT monitoring (Grafana)

I Energetic Technical Functions for systematic data selection



Figure I.1: Modelling of an Energetic Technical Function



Figure I.2: Data identification process



Figure I.3: Overview of the data selection process

SELECTION

I. ENERGETIC TECHNICAL FUNCTIONS FOR SYSTEMATIC DATA

Vincent CIANCIO



HESAM



Elaboration d'un système de maintenance prédictive basé sur l'analyse des données de production et l'expertise humaine : application à un procédé d'extrusion soufflage





Résumé

Au cours des dernières années, la façon dont la maintenance est effectuée a évolué grâce à l'incorporation d'outils numériques et de concepts de l'Industrie 4.0 au sein des entreprises. En se connectant aux systèmes de production et en communiquant avec eux, des informations peuvent être collectées sur l'état actuel et futur de l'équipement, permettant un contrôle plus efficace grâce à un processus appelé maintenance prédictive (PdM). L'objectif de la PdM est de réduire les temps d'arrêt imprévus et de répondre de manière proactive aux besoins de maintenance avant que des pannes ne se produisent. Cependant, nous avons constaté qu'il peut encore être difficile pour les praticiens industriels de mettre en place un tel système, qui gère efficacement les données pour détecter les défaillances précoces. Par conséquent, ce travail de recherche vise à proposer une méthodologie générale pour développer et déployer un système de maintenance intelligent. La méthodologie et le système développé (appelé MHM – Machine Health Management) ont été validés sur des cas industriels concrets, dans le contexte de l'industrie automobile. La principale contribution est liée à la flexibilité de l'outil, offerte par l'utilisation de normes open-source. Cela permet d'avoir un système standard utilisable dans différents contextes, et qui peut s'adapter aux spécificités lorsque cela est nécessaire.

Mots clés : Maintenance prédictive, Analyse de données, Modélisation de connaissances experts, PHM.

Abstract

In recent years, the way that maintenance is carried out has evolved due to the incorporation of digital tools and Industry 4.0 concepts within companies. By connecting to, and communicating with the production systems, information can be gathered about the current and future health of the equipment, enabling more efficient control through a process called Predictive Maintenance (PdM). The goal of PdM is to reduce unplanned downtimes and proactively address maintenance needs before failures occur. However, we have seen that it can still be challenging for industrial practitioners to implement such system, which effectively manages data to try and detect failures early. Consequently, this research work aims at proposing a general methodology to develop and deploy an Intelligent Maintenance System. The methodology and the developed system (called MHM – Machine Health Management) were validated on concrete industrial cases, in the context of automotive industry. The main contribution is related to the flexibility of the tool, offered using open-source standards. It allows to have a standard system useable in various contexts, and it can adapt to specificities when required.

Keywords: Predictive maintenance, Data analysis, Expert knowledge modelling, PHM.